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Chartered Accountants Malaysia and MIA
The Chartered Accountant Malaysia or “C.A.(M)” is a designation conferred by the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants (“MIA”) to a professional in accountancy, business and finance with a recognised accountancy 
qualification and relevant work experience. C.A.(M) are the industry captains, corporate leaders and decision 
makers that play a significant part in nation building.

MIA was established under the Accountants Act 1967 as the statutory accountancy body that regulates, 
develops, supports and enhances the integrity and status of the profession while upholding the public interest. 

Working closely alongside strategic business partners and stakeholders, MIA connects its members to a wide 
range of continuous professional development programme, updates and networking opportunities. Presently, 
there are over 29,000 members making their strides across all industries in Malaysia and around the world.

MIA’s Vision 
To be a globally recognised and renowned institute of accountants committed to nation building.

MIA’s Mission 
To develop, support and monitor quality and expertise consistent with global best practices of the accountancy 
profession in the interest of stakeholders.

MIA’s Strategic Objectives 
• Develop and enhance the competency of Accountancy Professionals to meet market demand.

• Advance and enhance the status of members and the accountancy profession in Malaysia.

• Regulate the practice of the accountancy profession in Malaysia consistent with global standards and best practices.

Our Management Core Values
Integrity | Mutual Trust and Respect | Professionalism | Accountability | Commitment | Teamwork

MIA’s Function
Section 6 of the Accountants Act 1967 (the Act) states that the functions of the Institute shall be:

• To determine the qualifications of persons for admission as members;

• To provide for the training and education; by the Institute or any other body, of persons practising or intending to 
practice the profession of accountancy;

• To approve the MIA Qualifying Examination(QE) and to regulate and supervise the conduct of that Examination;

• To regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy in Malaysia;

• To promote, in any manner it thinks fit, the interest of the profession of accountancy in Malaysia;

• To render pecuniary or other assistance to members or their dependents as it thinks fit with a view to protecting 
or promoting the welfare of members; and

• Generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the purpose of achieving any of the aforesaid objects.
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Notice of the 27th 
Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that in accordance with Rule 10 of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (Membership 
and Council) Rules 2001, the Twenty Seventh Annual General Meeting of the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants will be held on Saturday, 28 September 2013 at 12:00 noon at the Grand Ballroom, 
Level 9, Hotel Sunway Putra (formerly known as The Legend Hotel), 100 Jalan Putra, 50350 Kuala Lumpur.

 AGENDA
1. To elect three (3) members of the Council for the ensuing 

year pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (g) of 
subsection (1) of section 8 of the Accountants Act, 1967.

 The following members of Council have retired pursuant 
to sub-paragraph (1)(b) of paragraph 2B of the Second 
Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967 and are not offering 
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting:

 
• Dato’ Raymond Liew Lee Leong
• Subramaniam A V Sankar
• Sam Soh Siong Hoon 

 Nominations have been received for the following members 
for election to the Council:

 
• Folk Jee Yoong 
• Heng Ji Keng
• Jayapalasingam Kandiah
• Jeremy Ng Yee Hong
• Dr Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain 
• Peter Lim Thiam Kee 

2. President’s address.

3. To consider and accept the minutes of the Twenty Sixth 
Annual General Meeting held on 29 September 2012. 

4. To receive the annual report of the Council.

5. To receive the financial statements of the Institute for the 
year ended 30 June 2013 and the report of the auditors 
thereon.

6. To approve the following Resolutions proposed by the 
Council:

 Resolution 1:
 IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT the final examination of 

Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia for the Degree of Bachelor 
of Accounting (Honours) be recognised by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants (“Institute”) as equivalent to the 
final examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule 
to the Accountants Act 1967, and that the Minister of 
Finance be advised by the Institute to amend  Part I of the 
First Schedule to the Accountants Act 1967 accordingly.

 Resolution 2:
 IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT the final examination of 

Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman for the Degree of Bachelor 
of Accounting (Honours) be recognised by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants (“Institute”) as equivalent to the 
final examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule 
to the Accountants Act 1967, and that the Minister of 
Finance be advised by the Institute to amend  Part I of the 
First Schedule to the Accountants Act 1967 accordingly.

 Resolution 3:
 IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT pursuant to section 7 

of the Accountants Act 1967 and subject to the approval of 
the Minister of Finance, the amendment(s) to the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants (Membership and Council) Rules 
2001 as set out in the Appendix I  be adopted in toto and shall 
come into force upon the gazetting of the amendment(s).

7. Any other business.

 By Order of the Council

 

 SUDIRMAN MASDUKI 
 Registrar

 5 September 2013



Message from Immediate Past 
President, President and Chief 

Executive Officer
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Immediate Past President’s Message

In developing the strategies, CSAP has taken into consideration 
amongst others, the future demand for accountants in Malaysia, 
accountancy education and training as well as regulatory issues 
including the governance of the accountancy profession. It will 
consult relevant stakeholders on matters pertaining to the future 
direction of the Malaysian accountancy profession and how the 
profession could be more effective in supporting nation building.

The CSAP comprises the following agencies:

During the year under review, the Institute worked closely with 
the Accountant-General’s (AG) office to implement the motions 
passed at the 2012 AGM. In total there were ten motions; nine 
were passed and one withdrawn. The following are some of the 
highlights of the motions that the Institute has worked on.
 
In line with the motion proposed by members in regards to the 
audit approval process, MIA proposed to the AG’s office that 
the Institute be empowered to issue and renew approvals of 
company auditors. However, this motion will take some time to be  
implemented since the existing regulations governing the process 
of these approvals need to be amended.

MIA began to conduct preparatory courses to help members 
prepare for audit approval interviews. As a result, passing rates 
have risen from about 30-40% to 50%.
 
The Institute is striving to widen acceptance of MIA’s membership 
as proof of members’ competency to practice in related areas that 
already fall under the purview of accountants, such as taxation 
and the upcoming GST (Goods and Services Tax). This would 
eliminate the administrative hurdles and additional compliance 
costs of applying for separate licences for tax practitioners. 

In line with members’ wishes, the Institute has proposed to 
amend the rules on the conduct of general meetings and the 
voting process therein.

Also in accordance with the motion that the Institute establish 
a technical resource centre, manned by competent persons to 
assist members, I am pleased to inform that the Institute has 
always had a technical department which is not only filled with 
qualified staff but also answering to and supervised by several 
Council-appointed committees such as the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board, Ethics Standards Board and Capital 
Market Advisory Committee, whose members are themselves 
competent members of the profession. 

Dear Members, 

The financial year under review was a dynamic period of 
change and transformation for MIA, as the Institute persistently 
pursued continuous improvement to elevate the stature of 
members and the profession besides enhancing competency 
and capacity building. 

INITIATIVES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
The Institute is committed to improving the environment in 
which the profession operates, which includes reviewing and 
resolving challenges and process inefficiencies identified during 
engagement sessions with members and raised at the last 
Annual General Meeting (AGM). 

While the Institute paid serious consideration to all the motions 
which were tabled, it was subsequently learned that not all of 
the motions could be implemented by the Institute itself, since 
they were beyond the authority of the Institute and involved a 
bigger landscape of the profession particularly those impacting 
the governance of the profession. In view of this the Institute 
is currently preparing a proposal to address the governance 
and accountancy education aspects for the consideration 
of the high-level Committee to Strengthen the Accountancy 
Profession (CSAP).

CSAP is a committee established by the Ministry of Finance to 
among others, address the issues raised in the World Bank’s 
Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes (ROSC). 
CSAP was set up in March 2013 to formulate and recommend 
strategies and measures to strengthen the accountancy 
profession and to improve the contribution of the profession in 
enhancing the competitiveness of the country in line with the 
government’s transformation agenda. 

AGENCY

Securities Commission Malaysia (Chair of CSAP)

Ministry of Finance 

Bank Negara Malaysia

Companies Commission of Malaysia

Accountant General’s Department

Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
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My term as President ended mid-year following my retirement 
as a Council Member on 15 July 2013; and I am delighted to 
welcome my successor Johan Idris as MIA President effective 
22 July 2013. Johan is currently a Partner in KPMG and heads 
the Audit practice as well as the Energy and Natural Resources 
line of business. Johan is no newcomer to MIA, having been 
elected as the Vice President of MIA on 29 March 2013 before 
being elected as the President. He will not only infuse youthful and 
dynamic leadership into MIA as well as fresh perspectives, but 
his substantial experience in audit and accountancy will enable 
him to empathise with members’ concerns and facilitate practical 
solutions to existing challenges. 

Also my sincere thanks to Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid who 
has served the Institute for 12 years cumulatively, providing 
guidance and support towards the progress and development 
of the profession. 

I would like to end by wishing Johan, the Council and MIA the very 
best as they strive to advance the interests of the accountancy 
profession and members in Malaysia. I am confident that with 
their combined talents, they will be able to guide MIA and the 
profession to greater heights of excellence while promoting and 
safeguarding members’ wellbeing.

Thank you.

Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad 
Immediate Past President

A key measure that was initiated during my term was the increase 
in membership fees from RM250 to RM350 annually which has 
already taken effect from 1st July 2013. I am indeed extremely 
grateful to members for approving the fee increase, which the 
Institute will reinvest to augment our programmes and services to 
members in order to advance quality and competency and drive 
members’ satisfaction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
It has been an eventful two years at the helm of the profession, 
and I am very honoured and grateful to have been given the 
opportunity to serve as the President of MIA from 2011 to 2013.

I certainly could not have discharged my role without the support 
and encouragement from many quarters. I would like to thank 
the MIA Council for their contributions and insights and the MIA 
management team for working diligently to execute and improve 
on the measures initiated during my term in office.

Stakeholder engagements with members as well as the relevant 
government agencies, regulators, firms, universities and 
professional bodies were integral to advancing the proposed 
recommendations and reforms and in building quality and 
capacity. I am indeed indebted to our members for being 
receptive to our efforts to communicate and engage with them 
in order to build rapport and gather invaluable feedback to help 
improve the profession. 

I wish to also record my gratitude to our key stakeholders – 
namely the Government, the Ministry of Finance, the office 
of the Accountant-General, Regulatory Bodies, Standard 
Setters, Universities, Firms and professional accountancy 
bodies– for collaborating closely with MIA and supporting our 
reforms and initiatives as we strove to elevate the profession 
and raise its profile.
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to encourage practitioners and professional accountants to 
share their experiences and expose students to the realities 
of the workplace. The Institute also hopes to encourage the 
consolidation, centralisation and professional accreditation of 
accountancy education programmes at universities to control 
and enhance the quality of teaching and graduates to bridge 
the industry-academia mismatch. It will also be necessary to 
devise programmes addressing inadequate English proficiency 
and soft skills among aspiring accountants as employers are 
generally dissatisfied with new graduates’ English skills and EQ. 

To capture young hearts and minds, it is vital to approach 
secondary school students and educate them on the bright 
prospects available in a professional accountancy career. 
Rural students in particular may be lacking in awareness and 
MIA intends to campaign more actively about accountancy 
education and careers in non-urban areas in order to address 
this void.

PROMOTING DIVERSITY
Diversity is fast becoming a central tenet of talent recruitment and 
capacity building. MIA intends to tap unconventional sources of 
talent in order to create a sustainable talent pool to fill industry 
demands. Key to this is the Aspiring Accountants Programme for 
Non-Accounting Graduates (AAP), which targets non-accounting 
graduates to pursue professional qualifications.

We also intend to enrich opportunities for women accountants 
who make up a significant segment of our members through 
organising initiatives related to promoting inclusiveness, gender 
diversity, women-oriented networking and talent-scouting. By 
profiling MIA’s many impressive female role models – who include 
our new Vice-President Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan,  Accountant 
General Datuk Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman who sits on the IFAC 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) Board;  
and former MIA Vice President , Christina Foo on IFAC Small and 
Medium Practices (SMP) Committee, to name a few – it is hoped 
that many more women will be able to optimise their work-life 
balance and actualise their true potential to benefit the profession.

BRAND-BUILDING
MIA will persevere to enhance the Institute’s visibility among 
members and in the public sphere. Key to this is communicating 
our issues and concerns transparently via the media and public 
channels in order to improve public and members’ recognition of 
the challenges facing MIA and the accountancy profession. This 
is essential if we want to entrench the reputation of the profession 
as being synonymous with quality, trust and integrity, all of which 
are critical elements in the financial reporting and assurance 
processes fundamental to accounting.

Meanwhile, MIA will continue to innovate strategic initiatives and 
improvements in line with the recommendations of the Report on 
Observance of Standards and Codes - Accounting and Auditing 
(ROSC), which was issued by the World Bank in 2012. While 
many of the low-hanging fruits relating to accountancy reform and 
process improvements have already been plucked during Datuk 
Nasir’s tenure, many challenges still remain and it will take much 
time and effort before MIA’s vision of a mature, developed and 
high-quality accountancy profession finally comes to fruition.

Dear Members,
 
It is a tremendous honour to be elected to serve the accountancy 
profession through the role of President of the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants (MIA). 

My appreciation goes out to the members of MIA for entrusting 
me with this responsibility. I hope to be able to build rapport 
and collaborate closely with members and stakeholders to 
innovate and implement sustainable solutions to the challenges 
facing the profession. 

I would like to thank my predecessor, Datuk Mohd Nasir 
Ahmad for his advice and guidance during the handover of 
the presidency. He has produced exemplary results during his 
two-year term as President and I hope to continue and build 
constructively on his initiative.

Moving forward, MIA will continue to focus on the main thrusts 
of the accountancy profession, which is to enhance competency 
and capacity, thus fulfilling the needs of members and business, 
and ultimately contributing to Malaysia’s evolution into a highly-
developed and high income nation by 2020. Below I have 
earmarked some opportunities for improvement through which 
MIA can help to enrich the well-being of our members and the 
profession in Malaysia. 

BUILDING COMPETENCY AND CAPACITY THROUGH 
EDUCATION 
To build quality and create a renewable talent pool, we need 
to sustain our efforts to improve accountancy education, 
encourage more graduates and students to pursue professional 
accountancy qualifications, and attract students to the 
profession beginning at the secondary school level.

Currently, MIA is conducting reviews of the accountancy 
programmes at the local institutes of higher education in order 
to improve the quality and relevancy of content and ensure 
graduates’ readiness to enter the job market. Other areas worth 
exploring in the future are increasing university-industry linkages 

President’s Message
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FOCUS ON SMES AND SMPS
SMEs (small and medium enterprises) are a vital economic engine 
and ongoing liberalisation and regulation through legislation 
such as the new Companies Bill and new accounting standards 
spell ample opportunities for the SMPs (small and medium 
practitioners) serving this market.

Moving forward, MIA will concentrate on ensuring that SMPs 
- which comprise a significant portion of the public practice 
segment - and their SME clients are prepared to cope with 
evolving compliance requirements and the challenging market 
environment. Part of the increased revenues from the fee  will 
be allocated to deliver increased training and professional 
development programmes and content to ensure our SMPs 
are prepared to comply with new legislation and the proposed 
shift to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 
SMEs by 2016 from the outdated PERS (Private Entity Reporting 
Standards). At the same time, we will continue to encourage SMPs 
to achieve economies of scale and upsize through consolidation 
and/or mergers and acquisitions.

ENHANCING AUDIT QUALITY
In its bid to improve the profession’s reputation and sustain global 
and investor confidence in Malaysia’s companies and markets, 
the Institute will continue to address the many diverse issues that 
affect audit quality.

Central to audit quality is the need to improve the standards 
of auditing and assurance among public practitioners, and 
the Institute has crafted intensive engagement and training 
programmes to raise quality, anchored by the annual practice 
review programme. Firms are advised to stop undercutting one 
another and to adhere to recommended minimum audit fees in 
order to ensure acceptable audit quality. MIA is also looking into 
the issue of talent attraction and retention; this is a leading risk for 
audit firms, but could be circumvented if firms charge adequate 
fees which translate into better remuneration and staff benefits.   

At the same time, MIA is engaging preparers and boards of 
directors to encourage them to improve their quality of financial 
reporting in order to facilitate assurance. We will continue to create 
awareness of the issues and deliver tailored content to boards 
and professional accountants in business on financial reporting 
standards, good governance and the duties of audit committees 
to urge them to improve their accountability and discharge 
their duties in line with global best practices. Looking ahead, 
MIA hopes to encourage Malaysian corporations to embrace 
integrated reporting in line with global trends for enhanced 
disclosure of risks and controls, which in turn will enable investors 
to make more informed decisions.

PROMOTING STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
To achieve all that we have set out to do, it is imperative that we 
have the full support and backing of our relevant stakeholders, 
which comprise a wide spectrum including members, government 
agencies, regulators and professional bodies. 

I am hopeful that MIA will be able to intensify the excellent efforts 
put in by Datuk Nasir’s team and his predecessors to strengthen 
stakeholder relationships and advance our collective interests. 
Going forward, I hope that our members will continue to be 
forthcoming and generous in sharing constructive criticism so 
that we can improve our efforts to serve them. With the deadline 
for ASEAN economic integration looming in 2015, MIA will also 
endeavour to improve our bilateral and multilateral linkages to 

achieve improved mutual recognition of Malaysian qualifications 
and expand commercial markets for our members. Furthermore, 
we will continue to benchmark ourselves according to the 
standards set by international bodies such as the International 
Federation of Accountants (IFAC), the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) in order to heighten our 
quality and professionalism, improve our global competitiveness 
and comparability, and inspire confidence in our capital and 
investment markets.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Leadership is a collective effort, and a leader is only as able as 
his team. I am keenly looking forward to collaborating with the 
talented individuals and teams who make up MIA’s Council and 
management.
 
Moving forward, MIA is fortunate to be empowered by the 
strengths of our new Vice-President, Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan, 
who is the President of the ACCA Malaysia Advisory Committee 
(MAC) and the Managing Director of Capital Intelligence Advisors 
Sdn Bhd. Datuk Zaiton also serves on the boards of leading listed 
companies including Sime Darby and Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad 
and formerly headed a local rating agency, the Malaysian Ratings 
Corporation Berhad (MARC). Her vast experience and excellent 
reputation in banking and finance, strategic management and 
corporate governance will be of immense value to MIA as it 
seeks to build influence and enhance stakeholder relationships to 
achieve its strategic goals.

The Institute will also be enriched by a trio of high achievers who 
are new to the MIA council, namely Dato’ Abdul Rauf Rashid,  
Country Managing Partner, Ernst & Young; Prof Dr Rozainun Ab. 
Aziz, Dean, Faculty of  Accountancy, UiTM; and Yeo Tek Ling, 
Chairman, Country Branch Committee, CIMA Malaysia. Their 
addition will inject fresh diversity and talents into the composition 
of MIA’s Council, which already includes distinguished scholars, 
eminent representatives of regulatory and professional bodies 
as well as senior executives from leading firms. I am confident 
that the combined talents of our diversified MIA Council will be 
able to help guide the Institute and the profession to achieve their 
aspirations of excellence.

Furthermore, I look forward to engaging with our valued members 
and all our esteemed stakeholders to bridge expectation gaps 
and to innovate and implement robust initiatives which will ensure 
our members’ well-being and enhance the profession. This in 
turn will enable the profession to contribute and add sustainable 
value to the Malaysian economy, business and society en route to 
achieving the coveted status of high-income and high-developed 
nation by 2020. This is our holistic goal.

Thank you.

Johan Idris 
President



8     I     Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013

Dear Members,

The financial year ended 30 June 2013 was an exceptionally 
busy period for the Institute as it continued to strive to achieve 
its strategic objectives of building competency and capacity to 
meet market demands; advancing the status of members and 
the profession; and regulating the profession consistent with 
global standards and best practices. The following are some 
key highlights of the Institute’s operations for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2013.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Institute practises prudent financial management to 
optimise its financial resources for the benefit of members 
and the profession, and recorded an improved financial 
performance for the year under review.

The Institute reported a surplus before tax of RM1,307,285. The 
surplus was attributed to a significant increase in income from 
events and conferences for the year under review as well as 
payroll cost savings as the Institute is still seeking to fill some 
key vacancies. The upcoming fee increase from RM250 to 
RM350 which was gazetted in mid-June 2013 does not have 
any impact on membership income for the year under review.

The Institute also recorded healthy reserves with accumulated 
funds totaling about RM22 million as at 30 June 2013. 

STREAMLINING ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE, 
OPTIMISING TALENT 
In view of the challenge to recruit, attract and retain the right 
human capital,  MIA appointed  a HR consultancy firm to review 
MIA’s existing remuneration scheme as well as assess the 
existing organisational structure and design a model which is 
congruent with the Institute’s  vision, mission and objectives.
 
The organisational review identified the urgency of implementing 
the right talent mix to make the Institute more competitive and 
attractive. The right talent mix is also imperative to effectively 
implement the three objectives of the MIA Strategic Master Plan, 

namely building competency and capacity to meet market 
demands; advancing the status of members and the profession; 
and regulating the profession consistent with global standards 
and best practices.
 
Based on the findings and recommendations of the consultants, 
effective from 1 March 2013 the Institute implemented a new 
organisation structure and a new staff salary structure and 
benefits scheme. This restructuring exercise will enable MIA to 
become a more competitive and attractive employer which is 
able to attract and retain high-quality talent more effectively.  

In addition to the above, the Institute reviewed the staff 
handbook to inculcate the right culture and best practices. 
The Institute continually seeks to enhance staff competencies 
to improve member satisfaction through learning programmes 
and courses. We also provide our people with leadership 
and coaching development programmes along with positive 
feedback and reinforcement.

While effort was undertaken to enhance the talent mix, the 
Institute managed to fill some key positions in our technical 
support team. This has enabled us to better serve our members 
in standard setting, quality assurance and compliance activities.

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT
The Institute invests significant resources to advance the 
development of members in line with its objectives of ensuring 
quality and building a sustainable talent pipeline to support 
industry demand.

Much of these resources are ploughed into professional 
development and continuing professional education 
programmes to upgrade member competencies and ensure 
that they are relevant and fit-for-purpose in the market. MIA 
carefully designs programmes which are tailored for the 
major membership categories: Professional Accountants 
in Business (PAIBs) who form the largest group at 67% of 
membership, members in Public Practice who make up the 
second largest segment at 24% and members in the Public 
Sector as well as Academia at 9%.

During the year under review, the Institute held regular 
engagement sessions to keep members in public practice 
informed of the latest developments. These included the 
complimentary Merger and Affiliation Seminar to encourage 
service diversification and consolidation among smaller firms 
and a Practice Review Dialogue with Practitioners to promote 
audit quality.

Audit quality issues continue to attract significant attention, 
not only within Malaysia but globally. To enforce audit quality, 
the Institute continues to prioritise the ongoing campaign to 
promote the value of audit and thus improve the perception 
of audit quality.

While consolidation among smaller firms will take on new 
urgency in the future, it is equally important to diversify 
services and markets to ensure the earnings sustainability of 
Small Medium Practitioners (SMPs). To develop and expand 
the market for accounting services, the Institute produced 

Chief Executive Officer’s Message
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and distributed a booklet ‘Choosing an Accountant for your 
Business’ to educate the general public, especially the SMEs, 
on the criteria for employing an accountant either internally 
or externally for professional services. The booklets were 
distributed on a complimentary basis to SMEs during the 
SMIDEX and SME Week in June 2013.

Members who are PAIBs also benefited from targeted content 
relating to developments in diverse areas, such as optimising 
the finance function, board governance and Islamic finance 
reporting. During the reporting period, these included joint 
forums with MASB on the Roadmap for Private Entities 
Reporting Framework, Forum on Reporting of Islamic Finance 
Transactions under IFRS and Islamic Finance Road Show: 
Understanding Islamic Finance and Application of MFRS. 
Other key learning events for PAIBs included the CFOs and 
Finance Leaders Conference 2013 and the Audit Committee 
Conference 2013.

The National Accounting Educators Symposium (NAES) is 
the annual signature forum aimed at members in academia. 
The NAES encourages accounting  academics in Malaysia’s 
higher learning institutions to produce best-in-class certified 
accountants who are relevant to business.

The Institute co-organised the National Public Sector 
Accountants Conference 2013, which aimed to keep finance/
accounting leaders and professionals in the public sector 
abreast of the latest developments, such as the migration 
from cash-based accounting to accrual accounting. 

Members were also kept up-to-date with recent developments 
through our dedicated e-news, circulars and Accountants 
Today magazine.

ENHANCING INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL 
RECOGNITION 
The Institute continued to focus on international engagement so 
as to influence and heighten global recognition of the Malaysian 
accountancy profession.

At the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) level, the 
Institute is represented by the Accountant General, Datuk Wan 
Selamah Wan Sulaiman who sits on the IFAC International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) Board and former MIA 
Vice-President Christina Foo on the IFAC Small and Medium 
Practitioners (SMP) Committee.

As an IFAC member, MIA has consistently been complying with 
IFAC standards and recommended best practices. This includes 
complying with the Statements of Membership Obligation (SMO) 
issued by IFAC, which among others, includes obligations to 
adopt and implement the IFAC Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants and other standards and pronouncements issued 
by IFAC. Due to its compliance with the SMO and consistent 
high-quality reporting, IFAC has granted MIA the privilege of 
reporting to IFAC on a bi-annual basis instead of annually as 
was done previously. This privilege is extended to only a small 
number of IFAC member countries and MIA is proud to be part 
of this elite circle.

At the regional ASEAN level, MIA is honoured to have been 
appointed by the Government to represent the country at the 
ASEAN MRA (Mutual Recognition Agreement) Meeting on 
Accountancy Services. We will continue to do our best to promote 

mutual recognition agreements at the bilateral and regional level 
in order to advance the state of the accountancy profession within 
ASEAN and to prepare the Malaysian accountancy profession 
for the upcoming regional integration into the ASEAN Economic 
Community by 2015.

For the year under review, MIA signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nepal 
(ICAN) in May 2013, paving the way for greater cooperation in 
areas such as continuing professional development, research 
and education as well as exchange of information for the benefit 
of the accountancy profession in both countries. MIA believes that 
this initiative will not only put the Malaysian accounting fraternity 
in the forefront but will also open up various opportunities for 
MIA to introduce a wide range of programmes for the benefit 
of the financial and business leaders in both countries.  With its 
capabilities, the Institute will be able to provide assistance to its 
counterparts to help elevate Nepalese professional standards 
and knowledge in tandem with today’s global trends.

CAPACITY BUILDING
Transforming talent to meet industry demands is an important 
plan of the ongoing Economic Transformation Programme 
(ETP). In support of the ETP, the Institute has implemented 
key capacity-building programmes designed to create a 
sustainable talent pipeline and meet industry needs for 
professional accountancy services. It has also taken steps 
to improve the quality of accountancy education at local 
institutions of higher education to meet industry expectations 
and ensure business relevance.

During the year under review, in April 2013, the Institute launched 
the Aspiring Accountant Programme for Non-Accounting 
Graduates (AAP) which aims to tap non-traditional sources 
of talent to fulfil industry demand for qualified accountants. 
Led by MIA and supported by five accounting firms, namely 
BDO, Deloitte, Ernst and Young, KPMG and PwC and three 
learning partners namely Sunway TES, ACCA and ICAEW, the 
programme was introduced as part of the ETP.

The on-going Chartered Accountants’ Relevant Experience 
(CARE) Programme is going strong and has successfully 
produced new professional accountants. The MIA CARE is 
a structured assessment programme based on the mentor 
– mentee approach that monitors the practical experience of 
the mentees. The CARE programme complies with the IFAC 
International Education Standard 5, Practical Experience 
Requirements. As at 30 June 2013, there are 2,991 registered 
CARE mentees for the programme, out of which 1,293 of them 
have become MIA members.

Student outreach is an important aspect of MIA’s strategy to 
attract more students to join the accounting profession. To 
expose Generation Y students to accountancy careers, MIA 
organised career and awareness talks as well as organised 
the first MIA – Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2013. The 
competition which began 22 June 2013 has been concluded 
on 7 September 2013. Besides this, the Institute continues 
to support the Accounting Students Conference which was 
held successfully by University Sultan Zainal Abidin  and 
University Malaysia Terengganu  in November 2012. MIA also 
remains committed in providing support and guidance in the 
organising of the Annual Inter-Varsity Accounting Quiz (IVAQ) 
which was hosted and organised by Multimedia University, 
Malacca Campus in March 2013. 



CEO’s Message

10     I     Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013

To improve the quality and relevance of accountancy higher 
education, the Malaysian Qualifications Agency (MQA) and 
MIA established a Joint Technical Committee in April 2013, 
under Section 51 of the MQA Act 2007 (Act 679). The 
objective is to ensure that higher education providers (HEP) 
seeking accreditation demonstrate that their accounting 
degree programmes meet and comply with the required 
quality standards set by both  MIA and MQA.

MONITORING LEGISLATIVE IMPACT 
Extensive developments in legislation, regulations and 
compliance matters required close scrutiny and monitoring 
by the Institute to ascertain the impact on members. During 
the year under review, the Institute identified and reviewed 
significant pieces of legislation which subsequent application 
and enforcement are anticipated to have a direct impact on 
members and the profession. 

The Limited Liability Partnerships (LLP) Act 2012 introduces 
a new business vehicle that may be used by professionals 
including accountants to carry out their business. The Institute 
has been engaging with the Companies Commission of 
Malaysia on a regular basis to discuss the practical issues 
arising from the implementation of the LLP Act 2012.

The Personal Data Protection Act 2010 which sets out the 
principles regarding the processing of personal data is 
also anticipated to have a direct impact on the Institute in 
relation to the membership data collated by MIA. Though the 
said legislation has yet to come into force, the Institute has 
been in communication with the Personal Data Protection 
Department to ascertain the applicability and implication of 
the said legislation with regard to the Institute. 

The profession and its members may also be affected by 
the Competition Act 2010, which prohibits anti-competitive 
conduct and practices. The Institute has been engaging the 
Malaysian Competition Commission (MyCC) to determine the 
application and implications of the Competition Act 2010, 
which came into force on 1 January 2012.

The Institute has also been involved in furthering the proposed 
amendments to the Accountants Act 1967, for the purpose of 
implementing some of the approved resolutions and motions 
during the previous Annual General Meeting. It should be 
noted that any proposed amendments to the Accountants 
Act 1967 itself are being put on hold, pending the findings 
and recommendations of the Committee to  Strengthen the 
Accountancy Profession (CSAP) which would have an impact 
on the Accountants Act 1967.

FEE INCREASE 
On behalf of the Institute, I wish to extend our deepest 
gratitude to the members for approving the fee increase from 
RM250 to RM350 yearly which was effective from 1 July 2013. 
The increase in funds will be ploughed back into strengthening 
technical support and professional development programmes, 
to improve our services to members and better enhance the 
competencies and knowledge base of members respectively. 
With the increase, the Institute is also optimistic that we will be 
able to offer more programmes on a complimentary basis to 
a wider member base.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
On a personal level, I wish to express my appreciation to 
the Council for their guidance and support in discharging 
my duties, which include executing strategy and overseeing 
all aspects of the Institute’s management, governance and 
development of the Institute in a manner congruent with the 
Institute ‘s vision, mission and values. I would also like to thank 
MIA’s management team and staff for their support. I truly 
appreciate your diligence and efforts in helping to implement 
the strategic objectives of the Institute as well as to ensure the 
smooth operations of the Institute on a day-to-day basis.

On behalf of the management, I would also like to extend our 
gratitude to all our stakeholders for working together with MIA 
to further develop the accountancy profession in Malaysia. 
Thank you to all our members for your support while we work 
to influence reform of the regulations and structures governing 
the profession and to deliver improved services. The Institute 
also wishes to thank the regulators, government agencies, 
universities and professional accounting bodies for their 
ongoing efforts to collaborate with MIA to build competencies 
and capacity within the accountancy profession in Malaysia. 

MIA’s vision is to become a more robust and influential body 
which is able to deliver best-in-class and fit-for-purpose 
services to meet members’ needs and project the profession’s 
advancement and evolution in the most positive light, and at 
the same time, to always safeguard public interest. 

Thank you.

Ho Foong Moi
Chief Executive Officer
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Statement on Governance 

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

MIA’s FUNCTION:

Section 6 of the Accountants Act 1967 (the Act) states that the 
functions of the Institute shall be:
• To determine the qualifications of persons for admission 

as members;
• To provide for the training and education,  by the Institute 

or any other body, of persons practising or intending to 
practise the profession of accountancy;

• To approve the MIA Qualifying Examination (QE) and to 
regulate and supervise the conduct of that Examination;

• To regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy 
in Malaysia;

• To promote, in a manner it thinks fit, the interests of the 
profession of accountancy in Malaysia;

• To render pecuniary or other assistance to members or 
their dependents as it thinks fit with a view to protecting or 
promoting the welfare of members; and

• Generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the purpose of 
achieving any of the aforesaid objects.

MIA GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL STATEMENT  

The following report outlines how the Institute has applied the 
main principles and best practices as set out in the relevant 
codes of corporate governance in order to discharge its duties 
and optimise assurance, independence and oversight. This 
statement also explains how management, controls and risk 
management practices are structured in order to minimise risks 
and optimise performance.

COUNCIL

Pursuant to Section 9 of the Act, the general power of the 
Council is to manage the Institute and its fund. Specifically, 
as per Section 10 of the Act, the Council shall have power to 
make by-laws, to appoint staff, to take cognisance of anything 
affecting the Institute or professional conduct of its members, 
to communicate with other similar bodies and with members 
of the profession in other places, to establish branches and 
delegate in its absolute discretion any of its power, privileges 
and discretions, to appoint Committees of the Institute, to 
exercise all such powers, privileges and discretions which 

AUDIT & RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE
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MANAGEMENT
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are not required to be exercised by members in the general 
meeting and to use the official seal of the Institute.

The President of the Institute shall be the Chairman of the 
Council. The appointment and composition of the Council 
members are in accordance to Section 8(1) of the Act.
  
During the financial year under review, the Council conducted 
eight (8) meetings and the agenda of its meetings included:
1. Issuance of Audit & Assurance Standards and revised  

By-Laws;
2. Review of Statutory Committees and Other Committees’  

Progress and Activities;
3. Appointment of Boards/Committees/Working Group/Task 

Force members as recommended by Nominating Committee;
4. Approval of the Institute’s Year End Financial Statement and 

Review of Monthly Financial Statements;
5. Review of MIA’s involvement in International Bodies / 

Committees;
6. Approval of the Institute’s membership application;
7. Approval of MIA’s Strategic Objectives;
8. Approval of the Institute’s yearly budget and any expenses 

based on the Institute’s Limit of Authority (LOA);
9. Approval of MIA’s reporting to IFAC on Statements of 

Membership Obligations.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)

The EXCO was established by the Council as an operating 
Committee which functions as a medium between Council 
and management to ensure that business strategies, daily 
operations and any operational issues are carried out effectively 
and efficiently and that good corporate governance practices 
are observed. 

The Terms of Reference (TOR) of the EXCO were approved 
by the Council. The Chairman of the EXCO is the President 
of MIA and it comprises six (6) Council members. During the 
financial year under review, the EXCO conducted fourteen (14) 
meetings and the agenda of its meetings included:
1. Review of the Institute’s Monthly / Year End Financial 

Statements;
2. Approval of the Institute’s revised organisation structure 

and operation manuals;
3. Review of Regional Offices’ Activities; and
4. Approval of any expenses based on the Institute’s Limit of 

Authority (LOA).

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
(ARMC)

The ARMC was established by the Council and the primary 
objective of ARMC is to assist the Council in fulfilling its 
oversight responsibilities for the system of internal control, 
financial reporting, risk management process and governance 
of the Institute.

The Terms of Reference of the ARMC were approved by the 
Council on 26 July 2007 which were subsequently revised on 23 
January 2009.  The ARMC comprises five (5) Council members 
who are not members of the EXCO.  Amongst its activities were 
reviews of the Institute’s Year-Ended Financial Statements/
Monthly Management Accounts, Internal Audit Reports, MIA 

Key Risks Profile and the Interim & Final Audit process (by an 
external auditor appointed by the Auditor General) for MIA’s 
Financial Statement.

During the financial year under review, the Committee conducted 
three (3) meetings and a special meeting was held on 24 July 
2013 to review and endorse the Financial Statement for the year 
ended 30 June 2013. The external auditor appointed by the 
Auditor General was invited to the ARMC meeting to highlight 
any issues to the Committee.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE (NC)

The NC was established by the Council and its primary objective 
is to establish a mechanism for the formal assessment of each 
candidate before he/she is recommended to the Council for 
appointment to the Committees of the Institute.  The Committee 
ensures that appointed members bring characteristics which 
satisfy the required mix of responsibilities, skills and experience.

The NC consists of the President, Vice President, two (2) 
Council members and a representative of the Accountant 
General’s Department, and the Committee shall meet as and 
when the Committee deems necessary.

During the financial year, the Committee conducted seven (7) 
meetings to nominate various committee members to the 
Council for approval. 

INSTITUTE’S CONTROL ENVIRONMENT AND 
STRUCTURE

A. MIA COMMITTEES
The Council is supported by a number of established 
Committees in the execution of its responsibilities. Each 
Committee has clearly defined terms of reference and is divided 
into certain types of Committees as follow: 
1. Governance Committees
2. Statutory Committees
3. Surveillance Committees
4. Technical Committees
5. Operational/ Administrative Committee/Task Force

For type 1, the details are stated in the table below and for 
other types of committees, the details are stated in the section 
entitled Committees.

B. INSTITUTE’S MANAGEMENT 
Responsibility for implementing the Institute’s strategies and 
daily operations are delegated to the Institute’s management. 
Clear lines of authority, responsibility and accountability have 
been established to enable the Institute’s objectives to be 
achieved. The divisional structure enhances the ability of each 
division to focus on their assigned core of support functions 
within the Institute. The Institute is headed by the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO). 

C. INTERNAL AUDIT (IA) FUNCTION
The internal audit function of the Institute is carried out by the 
Internal Audit Department (IAD) that reports directly to the 
ARMC and administratively to the CEO. The Internal Audit 
Charter was approved by the Council on 26 July 2007 to 
govern the authority of the IA in performing its responsibility. 
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IA supports the oversight role of the ARMC by undertaking 
independent, regular and systematic review of the systems 
of internal control so as to provide reasonable assurance on 
the adequacy and integrity and those systems continue to 
operate satisfactorily and effectively.  The IAD also provides 
objective assurance and consulting activity by evaluating and 
improving the effectiveness of the risk management, control 
and governance process of the Institute.

It is the responsibility of the IAD to provide the ARMC with 
independent and objective reports on the state of internal 
control of the various units within the Institute and the extent of 
compliance of these units to the Institute’s established policies 
and procedures as well as relevant statutory requirements.

The internal audit function adopts a risk-based audit approach 
and performs its review based on a two-year internal audit 
plan approved by ARMC. The enterprise risk management 
framework is one of the elements considered by the IA to form 
the basis of this plan. IA also practices an adaptive audit planning 
approach which provides the flexibility needed to respond to 
the emerging risks as well as potential future risks in carrying 
out its activities.  The flexibility to align its resources and skills 
with the Institute’s strategic plan and goals further enhances 
its role to maintain relevance and continuous improvements 
within the Institute.  The IA continuously evaluates and develops 
quality improvement programmes in conformance with the 
International Internal Audit’s (IIA) International Professional 
Practice Framework. 

The following is a summary of the IAD activities for the financial 
year under review:
i. Regular review on business processes - risk-based auditing 

was performed on the key risk areas/Institute activities 
approved by ARMC. Ten (10) internal audit reports which 
contain the principal risks of audited areas and significant 
issues noted as well as the responses from the audited 
units were issued and deliberated in ARMC meetings. The 
areas for improvement were recommended and agreed 
upon by management. Where necessary, ARMC also made 
recommendations to further improve the internal control, 
risk management and financial reporting process.

ii. Institute’s Key Risks Profile –The IAD facilitated and advised 
the Institute in its Enterprise Risk Management activities. 
Five Key risks were identified and necessary controls were 
put in place or are in the process of implementation to 
ensure the objectives of the Institute are achieved.

iii. Reviewed revised operation manuals issued by units 
within the Institute for continuous improvement to the 
Institute’s Governance Framework and recommended 
the process of interim audit and the final audit of MIA’s 
financial statements. IA has also conducted the Institute’s 
Governance review and occupational, safety and health 
audit in the financial year.

The internal audit reports arising from these assignments were 
issued to the Management for their response and corrective 
actions. The Management is responsible for ensuring that 
corrective actions on reported weaknesses are taken within the 
required timeframe.  The audit reports which provide the results 
of the audit conducted are submitted to the ARMC for review.  
Key control issues and recommendations are highlighted to 
enable the Committee to execute its oversight function.

D. RISK MANAGEMENT (RM)
The Institute regards risk management as an integral part of the 
Institute’s control environment. The Institute’s risk management 
policy and process was established under the Enterprise Risk 
Management manual which was approved by the Council.  The 
Chief Operating Officer (COO) is the Risk Officer of the Institute 
and IA facilitates risk management activities and processes.

E. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 
Pursuant to the Act, the MIA is established as a statutory 
body under the Ministry of Finance and is audited by the 
Auditor General in accordance with the Audit Act 1957 via 
its appointed external auditor. The external auditor performed 
an interim and final audit of the Institute’s financial statements 
and was invited to highlight any issues in the ARMC meeting. 
The Certificate of the Financial Statements of MIA was issued 
by the Auditor General.

F. THE INSTITUTE’S  KEY PROCESSES, POLICIES 
AND PROCEDURES
In the financial year under review, the following key processes, 
policies and practices were in place as part of our system of 
internal control:
• MIA has a Limit of Authority (LOA) set out defining 

authorisation limits for various levels ranging from staff 
to Council levels. The revised LOA was approved by the 
Council on 9 February 2012.

• The Institute has established an organisational structure 
with clearly defined lines of responsibilities, authority limits 
and accountability aligned to business and operations 
requirements.

• The Institute has established the Council Committees 
with a clearly defined delegation of responsibilities within 
the definition of terms of reference and organisation 
structures.  These Committees include the Governance 
Committees, Statutory Committees, Surveillance 
Committees and Technical Committees.  The Committees 
have the authority to examine all matters within their scope 
and report to the Council with their recommendations.

• Operational and administrative committees have also been 
established with appropriate empowerment to ensure 
effective management and supervision of the Institute’s 
business operations.

• Policies and procedures of operating and business 
processes are documented in a series of Operation 
Manuals and implemented throughout the Institute.  These 
Manuals are subject to regular reviews, updates and 
continuous improvements to reflect the changing risks 
and operational needs. 

• A detailed budgeting and reporting process has been 
established. Comprehensive budgets are prepared by 
the operating units and presented to the EXCO and 
Council for review and approval respectively. These 
budgets are cascaded throughout the organisation 
to ensure effective execution and follow through. The 
financial results are monitored and reported to the EXCO 
and Council in every meeting.

• A formal performance appraisal system for all levels of 
employees has been implemented, which allows for the 
assessment of individual employees’ actual performance 
against his/her Key Performance Index (KPIs). 

• The Code for Business Ethics and Conflict of Interest was 
established and published in the Employee Handbook. 

• As an IFAC member body, MIA reported its compliance 
with the Statements of Membership Obligations as required 
under the IFAC Member Body Compliance Programme.
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COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEES

The composition of the Council and Governance Committees and the attendance of its members at meetings are listed as follow:

No. of Meetings: 8COUNCIL:

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman/ 
President

- 8/8

2 Johan Idris Vice President - 6/8

3 Dato’ Rosini Abd Samad - - 1/8

4 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid - - 6/8

5 Abraham Verghese Member Retired 29 September 2012 2/2

6 Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Member - 6/8

7 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kalsom Salleh Member - 4/8

8 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member - 5/8

9 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nor Aziah Abu Kasim Member Appointed 1 March 2013 0/1

10 Baharuddin Ahmad Member - 0/8

11 Chan Feoi Chun, Francis Member Retired 28 December 2012 2/4

12 Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member - 7/8

13 Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member - 7/8

14 Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member - 6/8

15 Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member Elected 29 September 2012 6/6

16 Devanesan Evanson Member Retired 28 February 2013 5/6

17 Donald Joshua Jaganathan Member - 6/8

18 Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan Member Appointed 1 August 2012 6/7

19 Heng Ji Keng Member Retired 29 September 2012 2/2

20 Ken Pushpanathan Member - 6/7

21 Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member - 7/8

22 Leong Kah Mun Member Elected 29 September 2012 6/6

23 Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Retired 29 September 2012 2/2

24 Mohamed Raslan Abdul Rahman Member Appointed 1 December 2012 4/5

25 Mohd Noh Jidin Member - 7/8

26 Mustapa Kamal Mohd Razali Member Appointed 1 August 2012 2/7

27 Ng Kim Tuck Member Retired 30 November 2012 2/3

28 Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Appointed 1 March 2013 1/1

29 Phan Su Han, Josephine Member Retired 31 December 2012 3/4

30 Prof. Datin Dr. Hasnah Haron Member Retired 30 November 2012 0/3

31 Prof. Dr. Ku Nor Izah Ku Ismail Member - 6/8

32 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member - 8/8

33 Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Member Elected 29 September 2012 5/6

34 Subramaniam AV Sankar Member - 8/8

35 Wong Weng Soon, Eugene Member - 2/8

36 Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member - 1/8

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE          No. of Meetings: 3 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Donald Joshua Jaganathan Chairman Appointed 29 October 2012 3/3

2 Baharuddin Ahmad Member Appointed 11 January 2013 
Retired 28 March 2013

-
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE          No. of Meetings: 14 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman - 13/14

2 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Member - 12/14

3 Abraham Verghese Member Retired 29 September 2012 4/4

4 Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member Appointed 29 October 2012 5/8

5 Dato’ Rosini Abd Samad Member - 2/14

6 Johan Idris Member Appointed 1 August 2012 8/12

7 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member - 14/14

NOMINATION COMMITTEE            No. of Meetings: 7 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman - 7/7

2 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Member Retired 28 March 2013 4/6

3 Dato’ Rosini Abd Samad Member - 2/7

4 Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member Appointed 1 August 2012 5/7

5 Johan Idris Member Appointed 28 March 2013 0/1

6 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member - 7/7

Audit & Risk Management Committee (continued)

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

3 Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member Retired 29 October 2012 2/2

4 Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member Appointed 28 March 2013 0/1

5 Devanesan Evanson Member Retired 1 March 2013 2/2

6 Heng Ji Keng Member Retired  29 September 2012 2/2

7 Mohd Noh Jidin Member Appointed 28 March 2013 1/1

8 Mustapa Kamal Mohd Razali Member Appointed 29 October 2012 
Retired 28 March 2013

-

9 Ng Kim Tuck Member Retired 30 November 2012 2/2

10 Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Appointed 29 May 2013 1/1

11 Zahrah Abdul Wahab Fenner Member Appointed 29 October 2012 0/1

Note : Special ARMC was held on 24 July 2013 for the tabling and endorsement of the Financial Statement for the year ended 30 June 2013
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BUILDING CAPACITY THROUGH MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

Membership development is a central strategic initiative for the Institute as it seeks to build robust capacity and enrich the quality 
of accountants in alignment with the nation’s talent agenda. 

As at 30 June 2013, the Institute had a total of 29,624 members, comprising 29,392 Chartered Accountants, seven (7) Licensed 
Accountants and 225 Associate Members. 

In the financial year 2012/2013 (FY 12/13), 1,516 qualified individuals were admitted as MIA members, comprising 1,476 Chartered 
Accountants and 40 Associate Members. 

Out of the 1,476 Chartered Accountants, 1,444 members qualified under Part I and Part II of the First Schedule of the Accountants 
Act, 1967 and 32 were MIA Qualifying Examination graduates. Overall, 39% of the members were admitted via the professional 
membership route, 59% are local graduates and 2% possess other qualifications.  An increasing number of local graduates 
are now applying to be members of the Institute. Currently, they form 37% of the membership. Over the past 12 months, 93 
applicants were reinstated as members.

On 17 April 2013, the Bachelor of Accounting (Honours) degree offered by Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin (UniSZA) was gazetted 
as a qualification recognised for application for admission as a Chartered Accountant. Effective on this date, UniSZA will be 
included in Part 1 of the First Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967.

PROFESSIONAL BODY ADMITTED

Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 12

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland 2

Institute of Chartered Accountants In England & Wales 10

Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland 1

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom) 354

Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia 5

CPA Australia 153

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants 5

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 0

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 1

Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (United Kingdom) 30

UNIVERSITY ADMITTED

Bachelor of Accounting, University of Malaya 82

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia 71

Bachelor of Accounting, Universiti Teknologi MARA 260

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Utara Malaysia 177

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Putra Malaysia 78

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Islam Antarabangsa Malaysia 35

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Sains Malaysia 28

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), (Information System), Universiti Utara Malaysia 28

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Tenaga Nasional 
(the academic programme for which first commenced from the academic year 2002/2003 onwards)

17

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Multimedia 
(the academic programme for which first commenced from the academic year 2002/2003 onwards)

55

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Malaysia Terengganu 14

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Malaysia Sabah 21

Bachelor of Accounting (Honours), Universiti Industri Selangor 5

ADMISSION OF MEMBERS VIA PART I OF THE FIRST SCHEDULE OF THE ACCOUNTANTS ACT, 1967

ADMISSION OF MEMBERS VIA PART II OF THE FIRST SCHEDULE OF THE ACCOUNTANTS ACT, 1967
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MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS

GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION 
TABLE 1: MEMBERSHIP BY GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION (AS OF 30 JUNE 2013) *Including F.T. Labuan

STATE AM CA LA TOTAL

Johor 8  1,761 1 1,770

Kedah 16 522 538

Kelantan 14 195 209

Melaka 13 578 591

Negeri Sembilan 8 552 560

Pahang 19 356 375

Perak 29 922 3 954

Perlis 19 55 74

Pulau Pinang 4 1,903 1 1,908

Sabah 5  947 952

Sarawak 10 1,622 1,632

Selangor 43 11,944 1 11,988

Terengganu 14 246 260

Federal Territory* 19 6,838 1 6,858

Overseas 4 951 955

GRAND TOTAL 225 29,392 7 29,624

Pursuant to Rule 7(1) of MIA’s (Membership and Council) Rules 2001, a total of 292 members were removed from the Register 
of Members for failing to settle their annual subscription dues within the stipulated time frame. One member was removed due 
to disciplinary action. 149 members resigned while 34 members passed away during the financial year under review. Overall, 
membership growth for the financial year under review was 4%.

Building Capacity
MIA continues with a number of recruitment strategies to ensure numbers continue to grow in order to build capacity and fulfil 
the growing demand for qualified accountants. We have successfully engaged members by organising corporate visits/awareness 
programmes at firms, organisations and institutions of higher learning (32 events), holding pre-admission talks and registration days 
(16 events) and participating in seminars/exhibitions/career fairs (12 events).

Stakeholder Engagement
These initiatives are also central to MIA’s vision to educate the public and our stakeholders on the requirement for Institute 
membership in upholding the Accountants Act, 1967 and the accountancy profession in Malaysia.  The Institute continually promotes 
its membership and encourage eligible finance and accounts personnel to register as members of the Institute. 

A meeting was also initiated with the Public Services Commission attended by representatives from the Accountant-General’s 
Department and Public Services Department to provide a better understanding of the Institute and its functions as the country’s 
national accountancy body.  It is hoped that the meeting will enable MIA to facilitate further engagement with these key government 
departments and contribute to national policies. 

Ensuring Data Security
The Institute takes stringent measures to safeguard its databases against technological and data security risks. With the impending 
implementation of the Data Protection Act 2010, the Institute has taken pro-active action to protect members’ personal data.  
Since 2009, the Institute has enforced a Data Information Privacy Policy which may be accessed via this link:  
http://www.mia.org.my/new/about_database.asp.
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MEMBERSHIP GROWTH
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MEMBERSHIP BY EMPLOYMENT

Professional Accountants 
in Business

Public Practice

Public Sector

Academia

2%8%

23%

67%

MEMBERSHIP BY AGE GROUP

31-40 = 12,371 members

41-50 = 9,302 members

51-60 = 3,936 members

Above 61 = 1,262 members

Below 30 = 2,753 members
9%

42%

32%

4%

13%
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During the financial year under review, 2,104 firms were registered with the Institute consisting of 1,368 audit and 736 non-audit 
firms. MIA deregistered 21 audit and 30 non-audit firms which had ceased operations. 7 audit firms were suspended due to 
inactive firm status and pending documentation from the Suruhanjaya Syarikat Malaysia (SSM) for deregistration. 6 non-audit firms 
converted their firms to audit firms.

The following table shows the distribution of member firms (audit and non-audit) registered within the Institute.

In the financial year under review, a total of 183 practising certificates were issued. There were also a total of 31 reapplications for 
practising certificates. A total of 60 practising certificates were cancelled, due to non-payment of practising certificate fees (2), 
non-commencement of public practice within six months from the date of issuance of the certificate (18), cessation of practice (30), 
resignation from MIA membership (1) and the demise of certificate holders (9).

STATUS OF PRACTISING CERTIFICATES ISSUED

Members Category
Total as of 

30/06/2012
New Applications Re-applications Cancellation

Total as of 
30/06/2013

Chartered Accountants 2,576 152 31 -60 2,699

Licensed Accountants 4 - - - 4

TOTAL 2,580 152 31 -60 2,703

MEMBER FIRMS BY STATE (AS OF 30 JUNE 2012 AND 30 JUNE 2013) *Including F.T. Labuan

STATES
AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 AS AT 30 JUNE 2013

Audit Firms Non-Audit Firms Total Audit Firms Non-Audit Firms Total

Johor 126 78 204 128 79 207

Kedah 28 15 43 26 13 39

Kelantan 11 7 18 11 7 18

Melaka 31 15 46 34 15 49

Negeri Sembilan 20 14 34 20 14 34

Pahang 24 9 33 23 10 33

Perak 52 54 106 52 55 107

Perlis 1 1 2 1 2 3

Pulau Pinang 107 44 151 110 49 159

Sabah 83 33 116 83 40 123

Sarawak 79 35 114 77 37 114

Selangor 302 178 480 303 192 495

Terengganu 9 4 13 9 3 12

Federal Territory* 485 220 705 491 220 711

GRAND TOTAL 1,358 707 2,065 1,368 736 2,104

Section 510 of the Institute’s By-Laws (On Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) stipulates that every member in public 
practice is required to ensure that his or her firm carries and maintains a professional indemnity insurance (PII). PII is mandatory for 
all members in public practice where the minimum mandatory limit of indemnity is set at RM250,000 per partner per firm. Proof of 
purchase of PII shall be enclosed for the purpose of the annual renewal of the practising certificate as provided under By-Law B-10.3 
of the Institute’s By-Laws (On Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice).

Effective from the financial year 13/14, members who fail to provide proof of valid PII coverage for their firm/s for the entire duration 
of the Institute’s financial year upon paying their practising certificate will not be able to renew their practising certificate.  In other 
words, when members renew their practising certificates, their PII must be valid until 30 June of each year.

The Membership Services Department continues to inform audit licence holders of their licence expiry date and reminds them of 
their obligations, in particular their compliance with specific rules and by-laws of the Institute. This compliance is important as the 
Institute will only support the renewal of audit licences of members who have met their obligations. During the previous financial 
year, a total of 472 out of 804 (59%) complied with all their obligations when the Institute’s support was requested. For the financial 
year under review, there was a significant improvement whereby a total of 428 out of 640 (67%) complied with all their obligations at 
the first instance. In most instances, it was failure to comply with the CPE requirements which resulted in the Institute not supporting 
their applications at first instance. The Institute eventually supports all audit licence renewals when all obligations have been met.
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RESOURCE CENTRE
The Resource Centre aims to be a primary source of reference 
and further professional learning for MIA members. Attesting to 
the quality and relevance of its materials, the Resource Centre 
(RC) recorded a higher number of users, both members and non-
members, during the FY including members who are preparing 
for the audit approval licence interviews. The Resource Centre 
carries book titles and other reading material which will assist 
the interviewee to prepare for the interviews.

The Resource Centre continues to source relevant publications 
for sale which are sold to members at preferential rates.

HELPDESK
MIA’s Helpdesk continues to provide assistance to members 
and the public who seek information from the Institute. Queries 
received through the MIA e-feedback form in the Institute’s 
website are closely monitored to ensure timeliness in response.

As part of the Institute’s effort to enhance services to members, 
the MIA Service Survey 2013 was launched in April 2013 at 
the Institute’s website.  With the feedback from members, it 
is hoped that the Institute could understand members’ needs 
better and determine which areas require improvement.   

REGIONAL OFFICES
Regional engagement is essential to the Institute as it strives to 
develop the accountancy profession across the board. The four 
regional offices (Johor, Northern, Sabah and Sarawak) of the 
Institute continue to serve members in their respective regions 
with the support of the Regional Committees. The main regional 
activities are conducting CPE events, providing clarification to 
members on their obligations and other assistance, building 
and maintaining rapport with local stakeholders, and organising 
activities for members in the regions such as annual dinners and 
social events.

1ST MIA BOWLING TOURNAMENT
MIA constantly seeks different platforms for member 
engagement, and therefore organised the Institute’s 1st Bowling 
Tournament on March 9, 2013, which also enabled members 
to network in an informal environment. The tournament was 
held at the Cosmic Bowl, Mid Valley Megamall, Kuala Lumpur. 
38 three-member teams competed in the tournament, bringing 
the total number to 114 participants.

PROMOTING QUALITY AND COMPETENCY 
THROUGH EDUCATION

The quality of education is a key concern for the MIA, since 
it is entrusted with enhancing the profession’s competence 
through education and on-going training and development. 
MIA’s role in supporting and promoting the development of 
accounting education in the country has escalated as it is 
tasked with ensuring both existing and future professional 
accountants are able to face global challenges while remaining 
relevant to the needs of society and business. 

In order to achieve this, MIA acts as the catalyst in bridging 
stakeholders’ expectations and providing a convenient 
conduit for them to stay updated on developments in 
accounting education.

MIA also assists and participates in activities carried out by the 
International Accounting Education Standards Board (IAESB) 
Committees of the International Federation of Accountants 
(IFAC) to ensure that its accounting education standards 
comply with global standards.

During the year under review, MIA implemented the following 
initiatives to ensure the competency of its members:

MIA QUALIFYING EXAMINATION (QE) 
The 19th and 20th sittings of the MIA QE were successfully 
conducted on 19-20 September 2012 and 20-21 March 2013 
respectively at five examination centres, namely Universiti 
Teknologi MARA in Shah Alam and the MIA Regional Offices 
in Johor Bahru, Penang, Kota Kinabalu and Kuching. A total 
of 274 and 181 candidates registered to sit for the respective 
examinations.

The results of the September 2012 and March 2013 
examinations were announced on 19 November 2012 and  
16 May 2013 respectively. The results for the September 2012 
sitting were satisfactory, particularly for the Taxation paper 
which recorded a vast improvement in its pass rate at 50% 
compared to 31% in the March 2012 sitting. The Advanced 
Financial Accounting & Reporting paper also recorded an 
improvement in the passing rate from 16% in the March 2012 
sitting to 26% in the September 2012 sitting. The passing 
rate for Business & Company Law was at 45% compared 
to 43% in the March 2012 sitting and the Audit & Assurance 
Services paper recorded 35% passes compared to 30% in 
the March 2012 sitting. Ten (10) candidates scored passes 
with distinction in various papers.

The examination results for the March 2013 sitting were the 
first outcome from the implementation of the new MIA QE 
Assessment which allocated 60% marks for examination and 
40% for workshop evaluations.  The result for the Auditing 
and Assurance Services paper recorded the highest passing 
rate at 60% compared to 50% in the September 2012 sitting.  
As for Business & Company Law, the passing rate decreased 
to 23% from 45% in the September 2012 sitting.  However, 
the performance for the other two papers, Advanced Financial 
Accounting & Reporting and Taxation improved to 26% and 
52% respectively.  31 candidates scored distinction in the 
March 2013 examination sitting which was the highest number 
recorded in examination sittings during the past ten (10) 
years. Based on these results, it appears that the allocation 
of 40% of total marks for the workshop evaluations could 
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MIA QE ASSESSMENT  
MIA introduced a revised assessment methodology to the MIA 
QE with effect in March 2013 examination sitting. The MIA QE 
Assessment is the new assessment methodology for the MIA 
Qualifying Examination (QE) system which comprises workshop 
evaluations (40%) and final examination (60%).  Candidates are 
required to attend and participate in the workshop evaluations 
before they can sit for the final examination.

181 candidates registered for the March 2013 examination 
sitting workshops.  Altogether, four (4) series of workshops 
for each paper were successfully conducted at the Kuala 
Lumpur, Johor Bahru, Penang and Kuching centres from 
December 2012 until February 2013. The workshops were 
facilitated by experienced academicians and practitioners 
from various Institutes of Higher Learning, practising firms and 
other organisations.  

Each candidate received academic support, namely Study Texts 
and Workshop Manuals for each paper. The topics covered in 
the Study Text and Workshop Manual were discussed during 
the workshop and candidates were evaluated through quizzes, 
tests, and individual and group assignments. The candidates’ 
soft skills were also assessed during the individual presentation 
segment of the group assignment.

MIA QE OUTREACH PROGRAMME 
To build capacity and quality, MIA conducted the MIA QE 
Outreach programme at 13 private and public universities from 
September 2012 until April 2013. Most of the students engaged 
by MIA through QE Outreach were enrolled in the Bachelor 
in Accounting & Finance 3 + 0 programmes or homegrown 
Bachelor of Accountancy programmes which lack MIA 
recognition. The outreach programme aims to remedy this by 
providing accounting students with detailed information about 
MIA QE to encourage them to choose this alternative route of 
becoming a Chartered Accountant. This outreach programme 
will be continuously conducted to promote the MIA QE and 
increase the number of candidates taking the QE. 

MIA QE GRADUATION CEREMONY
MIA hosted a graduation ceremony in honour of 36 candidates 
who successfully passed the MIA Qualifying Examination (MIA 
QE) in the March and September 2012 sittings respectively. 
14 candidates were awarded Certificates of Achievement for 
passing the various papers of the QE with distinction. Held 
on 19 December 2012 at the Istana Hotel, the QE graduation 
ceremony was the fourth organised by MIA. 

KEY STAKEHOLDERS’ LINKAGES
MIA connects with our relevant stakeholders through various 
channels and initiatives to advocate the profession’s interests 
while simultaneously generating more interest in the profession. 
Furthermore, MIA acts as a platform that enables the profession 
to communicate with its key stakeholders and articulate issues 
that can be crucial to the development of the profession.

During the year under review, MIA undertook several key 
strategic events to build up stakeholder linkages:

1. Accounting Students Conference (ASC) 
 The fifth ASC was successfully organised from 10 to 11 

November 2012 at Bukit Keluang Beach Resort, Besut, 
Terengganu.  ASC 2012 was jointly hosted by the Universiti 
Malaysia Terengganu (UMT) and Universiti Sultan Zainal 
Abidin (UniSZA).

SEPTEMBER 2012 QE RESULTS
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facilitate a greater number of passes with distinction providing 
candidates perform successfully in the final examination.  

A total of 39 candidates successfully completed the 
examination, increasing the number of graduates to 222 
overall. Details of the September 2012 and March 2013 
examination results are as follow:
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 Among the ASC’s objectives were to expose students 
to the accountancy profession and educate them on the 
criteria for excelling in a professional accountancy career. 
The ASC also aimed to inculcate a lifelong learning culture 
in students and to nurture their self-confidence through 
participation in a major professional conference prior to 
embarking on their careers.  

 In conjunction with ASC 2012, MIA honoured 13 accounting 
students from universities under Part I of the First Schedule 
of the Accountants Act 1967 for outstanding achievements 
in accounting studies.  The awards were presented by 
MIA Vice President Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid, who also 
officiated at ASC 2012.

2. MIA – Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2013  
 The inaugural MIA - Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2013 

(AQ2013) was jointly organised with Sunway TES, a 
leading provider of professional accounting and financial 
programmes. The Quiz was held from 22 June 2013 until the 
Grand Finals which ended on 7 September 2013 at Sunway 
College, Petaling Jaya, Selangor.  This online competition is 
open to all Form 4 and Form 5 students in Selangor, Federal 
Territory of Kuala Lumpur and Putrajaya and involves 
national secondary schools (regular), secondary schools 
(fully residential), technical secondary schools, national 
religious secondary schools, national religious assisted 
secondary schools, private schools, Chinese independent 
high schools and MARA Junior Science Colleges.

 The competition was divided into five (5) stages, 
comprising four (4) online quizzes and one (1) live 
competition. The AQ2013 comprised of questions 
that tested the understanding and general knowledge 
of students regarding the accounting field and it also 
covered topics related to Prinsip Perakaunan (Principles 
of Accounting), Perdagangan (Commerce) and Kemahiran 
Hidup (Perdagangan){Life Skills (Commerce)}  subjects 
for Form 4 and Form 5.

 This competition was supported by the Ministry of 
Education (MOE), professional accountancy bodies and 
accountancy firms.

3. Career and Awareness Talks 
 To develop young talent and promote the profession 

to all levels, MIA conducted career and awareness 
talks at the Institutions of Higher Learning (IHLs) and 
schools, highlighting the potential of the profession and 
encouraging students to consider accountancy as a 
future career option. Sessions also focused on the route 
to becoming qualified accountants and the importance of 
registering as a member of MIA. To maximise the impact 
of these sessions, MIA members were invited to deliver 
talks to students in order to provide inspirational role 
models and to share their knowledge and experience in 
the accountancy profession.

ACCREDITATION  
MIA is empowered under the Accountants Act, 1967 to 
determine the qualifications of persons for admission as 
members of MIA. This function is necessary to ensure that 
qualifications recognised under the Act meet the requisite 
standards and quality desired by MIA. It is via this function that 
MIA admits qualified, competent and professional accountants 
as members who are then able to effectively meet the needs 
of the public. 

During the year under review, some of the major activities 
undertaken include:
1. After careful consideration and deliberation, the Council 

in its meeting held on 6 December 2012 decided to grant 
recognition of the Bachelor of Accounting (Honours) degree 
programme conferred by Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman 
(UTAR) subject to rectification of the recommended areas 
to the satisfaction of the Taskforce. The MIA Council in 
its meeting held on 29 May 2013 acknowledged that 
the Taskforce was satisfied with the rectifications of the 
amendments.  

2. After careful consideration and deliberation, the Council 
in its meeting held on 6 December 2012 decided to 
adjourn the accreditation exercise for the Bachelor of 
Accounting (Honours) degree programme conferred by 
Open University Malaysia (OUM) and the accreditation 
exercise will only resume once OUM has rectified the 
recommended areas. To date, OUM has yet to rectify the 
recommended areas.

3. After careful consideration and deliberation, the Council 
in its meeting held on 29 May 2013 decided to grant 
recognition of the Bachelor of Accounting (Honours) 
degree programme conferred by Universiti Sains Islam 
Malaysia (USIM). 

4. MIA is in the process of accrediting the application for 
recognition of the Bachelor of Accounting (Honours) 
degree programme conferred by INTI International 
University (INTI). A Taskforce has been formed to 
undertake the accreditation exercise in order to ensure the 
programme offered meets and complies with the required 
quality standards set by MIA.

5. MIA is in the process of reviewing the Accounting Degree 
Programmes conferred by eleven universities listed under 
Part I, First Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967 as follows:
i. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons) and Bachelor of 

Accounting (Hons) (Information System), Universiti 
Utara Malaysia 

ii. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Sains 
Malaysia

iii. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Teknologi 
MARA

iv. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Putra 
Malaysia 

v. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Islam 
Antarabangsa

vi. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Malaya
vii. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Kebangsaan 

Malaysia 
viii. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Malaysia 

Terengganu
ix. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Malaysia 

Sabah
x. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Tenaga 

Nasional
xi. Bachelor of Accounting (Hons), Universiti Multimedia 

Malaysia

Career and Awareness Talks (JULY 2012 – JUNE 2013)

CATEGORY SESSION

Secondary schools 2

Institutions of Higher Learning (Public) 16

Institutions of Higher Learning (Private) 3

TOTAL 21
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CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT’S RELEVANT EXPERIENCE (CARE) PROGRAMME
The MIA CARE is a structured assessment programme which is based on the mentor – mentee approach that monitors the 
practical experience of the mentees. The CARE programme supports the IFAC International Education Standard (IES) 5, Practical 
Experience Requirements. 

With the implementation of CARE, the practical experience gained by the mentees should allow them to demonstrate that 
they have the professional knowledge, skills, values, ethics and attitudes required for performing their work with professional 
competence and to support continued growth throughout their careers. As at 30 June 2013, there are 2,991 registered CARE 
mentees for the programme, out of which 1,293 of them have become MIA members.

During the year under review, enhancements were made to the CARE online monitoring system. The new CARE website was 
launched on 20 November 2012. MIA continues to hold the CARE Learning Programme (CLP) for MIA members and CARE 
mentees as well as the CARE Awareness Programme (CAP) for accounting students in Part I universities. The objectives are 
to encourage MIA members to register as CARE volunteer mentors and to increase understanding of the CARE programme.  
To date, MIA has conducted 54 CLP sessions and 24 CAP sessions. Details of the CLP and CAP sessions from July 2012 until 
June 2013 are as follow:

 Eleven Taskforces have been set up to review the respective 
university. The Taskforces undertake the following activities 
in carrying out the review process:

 5.1 Taskforce Meetings 
 The purpose of the meeting is to review the documents 

submitted by the university before the site visit is 
conducted. After the site visit, the Taskforce will obtain 
feedback from the industry. The Taskforce will meet 
again to assess and rate the university before preparing 
the final report.  

 5.2 Site visit of the universities 
 The purpose of the site visit is to rectify and verify 

information furnished by the universities in their initial 
submission. The Taskforce will review the examination 
questions and answer scripts, observe selected 
classes and interview selected lecturers and students 
during the site visit. 

 5.3 Meeting with selected graduates and employers  
 from various areas namely Public Practice,  
 Commerce/Industry and Government/Academia 

 The objectives of the assessment are to get feedback 
on the performance of the graduates from the 
respective employers. In addition, the employers may 
also provide recommendations to improve the degree 
programmes, if any.

6. The Malaysian Qualifications Agency (MQA) and MIA have 
established a Joint Technical Committee (JTC) in April 2013, 
under Section 51 of the MQA Act 2007 (Act 679). The 
objective is to ensure higher education providers (HEP) 
seeking accreditation demonstrate that their accounting 
degree programmes meet and comply with the required 
quality standards set by both MQA and MIA.

 
 The Committee consists of the following members:
 i. Three (3) members of MIA Education Committee: 
 a. Prof. Dr Ku Nor Izah Ku Ismail (Chairperson)
 b. Assoc. Prof Dr Mohamat Sabri Hassan 
 c. Simon Kua Choo Kai

 ii. A representative from the Malaysian Qualifications  
 Agency (MQA) :

  a. Zakiah Abdul Wahab
 iii. A representative from the Ministry of Higher Education  

 (MOHE):
  b. Dr. Aishah Abu Bakar
 iv. A representative from the Public Service Department  

 (JPA).
  c. Syahrul Idzuan Mohamad

 The Committee is responsible to process applications 
submitted by HEP for provisional and full accreditations. 
The Committee will report to the MQA and the MIA 
Education Committee and the final approval will be 
endorsed by the MIA Council. The terms of reference of 
the Committee are as follow:
a. Consider applications for accreditation of accounting 

degree programme from HEP;
b. Identify, train and set up the Assessment Taskforce 

to review new applications for provisional and full 
accreditations received for a 4-year accounting 
degree programme; 

c. Advise on the development, implementation and other 
issues related to the accounting programme to the 
relevant stakeholders (any clarification/information for 
Diploma, Masters etc.);

d. Review and propose changes to standards and 
procedures as and when necessary and/or required;

e. Review the assessment report prepared by 
Assessment Taskforce for provisional and full 
accreditations;

f. Review of accounting degree programmes recognised 
by MIA;

g. Recommend either the granting or refusal of 
accreditation of an accounting degree programme for 
provisional and full accreditations; and

h. Recommend revocation of accreditation if the HEP 
fails to comply and/or breaches any condition set by 
the Committee.

CARE LEARNING PROGRAMME

Location No. of Session Members  Attended Total Volunteer Mentors After Session 

Kuala Lumpur 18 132 78

Johor Bahru 7 46 15

Penang 7 30 10

Kuching 4 24 4

Kota Kinabalu 4 26 2
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CARE AWARENESS PROGRAMME

No. Date University Total  Attended Total Registered for PreCARE 

1 26/09/2012 Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang (UPM) 84 84

2 27/09/2012 UiTM Machang, Kelantan 99 64

3 27/09/2012 Universiti Malaysia Sabah (UMS) 138 138

4 02/10/2012 Universiti Selangor (UNISEL) 187 50

5 12/10/2012 Universiti Teknologi Mara, Shah Alam 193 114

6 19/10/2012 Universiti Malaya (UM) 135 112

7 06/11/2012 Universiti Islam Antarabangsa (UIA) 81 52

8 12/11/2012 UiTM Dungun, Terengganu 75 74

9 26/11/2012 Multimedia University, Melaka (MMU) 103 103

10 19/03/2013 Universiti Utara Malaysia (UUM) 178 113

11 20/03/2013 Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) 66 51

12 21/03/2013 Universiti Teknologi Mara, Shah Alam 255 250

13 27/03/2013 Multimedia University, Melaka (MMU) 113 102

14 27/03/2013 Universiti Selangor (UNISEL) 195 94

15 11/04/2013 UiTM, Bandaraya Melaka 218 195

16 17/04/2013 UiTM Segamat, Johor 26 26

17 19/04/2013 Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM) 91 91

18 12/05/2013 UiTM Dungun, Terengganu 24 21

19 18/05/2013 Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin (UniSZA) 96 64

20 19/05/2013 Universiti Malaysia Terengganu (UMT) 107 100

21 20/05/2013 UiTM, Seri Iskandar, Perak 132 132

22 27/05/2013 Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang (UPM) 18 18

23 12/06/2013 Universiti Tenaga Nasional (UNITEN) 259 250

24 24/06/2013 Universiti Malaysia Sabah (UMS) 28 28

GRAND TOTAL 2,901 2,326

Kota Bharu 2 9 3

Kuala Terengganu 2 9 3

Melaka 2 18 6

Seremban 1 7 -

Kuantan 1 12 3

Alor Setar 2 6 2

Ipoh 3 11 9

Miri 1 4 2

GRAND TOTAL 54 334 137

CARE Learning Programme (continued)
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WORLD BANK ROSC RECOMMENDATIONS
During the year under review, MIA continued to collaborate closely 
with key regulatory stakeholders - including the Accountant 
General’s Department and the Companies Commission of 
Malaysia - to address the weaknesses in the accounting 
profession as highlighted in the Report on Observance of 
Codes and Standards on Accounting and Auditing (ROSC AA) 
published by the World Bank in the previous year. 

CSAP APPOINTMENT
Furthermore, the Institute was greatly honoured by the MIA 
President’s appointment as a member of the Committee to 
Strengthen the Accountancy Profession (CSAP). The CSAP 
was formed to formulate and recommend strategies and 
measures to strengthen the accountancy profession and to 
heighten the profession’s input in enhancing the country’s 
competitiveness in line with the government’s transformation 
agenda. MIA is pleased to be able to contribute our resources 
to developing the profession’s international competency.

PEMANDU
During the year in review, MIA collaborated closely with the 
Performance and Delivery Unit (PEMANDU) of the Prime 
Minister’s Department to build capacity and strengthen the 
quality of the profession. Among the initiatives conducted with 
PEMANDU were:
• Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS) training 

to enhance technical competency and promote MFRS 
compliance, 

• Roadshows to encourage small and medium size firms to 
expand through consolidation and mergers and affiliation 
(M&As) to attain size and sustainability; and,

• Education-related initiatives. Among the initiatives is the 
Aspiring Accountants Programme which will allow non-
accounting graduates to pursue a career in accounting. 
This comprehensive programme offers on-the-job 
training programmes through full-time employment with 
established accounting firms, enabling candidates to 
acquire hands-on accounting expertise.

REGIONALISATION OPPORTUNITIES
Globalisation and liberalisation trends should open up a wealth 
of potential for cross-border trade in accountancy services, 
especially for Malaysian accountants who are mobile and 
technically competent.
 
MIA closely monitors the global trends and developments 
affecting the local accountancy profession as well as the 
process of globalisation and liberalisation of trade in services 
at the multilateral, regional and bilateral levels in order to 
assess their impact on the profession.  MIA, the Ministry of 
International Trade and Industry (MITI) and the Ministry of 
Finance (MOF) continue to cooperate closely on matters 
related to multilateral trade negotiations on trade in services 
for the Accounting, Auditing and Bookkeeping Services (CPC 
862) sector.

Under the ASEAN Mutual Recognition Arrangement (MRA) 
Framework for Accountancy Services that was signed in 
the year 2009, MIA as the representative of the government 
is currently reviewing the draft Implementation Arrangement 
on the ASEAN MRA Framework on Accountancy Services for 
further negotiation with other ASEAN member states.

MIA will continue to monitor the developments of all these 
negotiations to ensure that the position and interests of 
the profession are not compromised in the face of external 
pressures arising from the liberalisation of trade in services. 

Meanwhile, MIA continues to play an active role in both the 
ASEAN Federation of Accountants (AFA) and the International 
Federation of Accountants (IFAC). 

MIA’s representative attended all four AFA Council meetings 
conducted in the financial year under review. The World Bank 
has also shown interest in assisting AFA members in the areas 
of capacity building.
 
AFA’s meeting in Bangkok on 6 – 7 March 2013 included a 
workshop on MRA with the purpose of facilitating discussion 
among the members on how member countries could 
resolve the MRA to advance the profession in the region. The 
consensus was that disparities in preparedness exist among 
the member countries; optimally, members may proceed 
with bilateral or trilateral MRAs first instead of aiming for an 
inclusive MRA with all 10 countries. 

Meanwhile, IFAC conducted a workshop on IFAC’s Statement 
of Membership Obligations (SMO) for AFA members. The aim 
of the workshop was to alert AFA members to the recently 
updated SMO requirements. The workshop also introduced 
a new method of reporting called the ‘SMO Action Plan 
Progress File Noted’ which would allow the IFAC Compliance 
staff and other users of the SMO Action Plans to gain basic 
background knowledge on their country of interest.

The Institute is also proud to announce that due to its excellent 
compliance with IFAC’s SMO as well as consistent reporting, 
MIA received the privilege of reporting to IFAC on a bi-annual 
basis instead of annually as was done previously.
 
To further bilateral cooperation and explore new opportunities, 
MIA signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants  of Nepal on 10 May 
2013. The MoU will allow both institutes to work towards 
strengthening, promoting and developing the accountancy 
profession on a fair basis and for mutual benefit. Both parties 
especially foresee that joint seminars, CPD courses and 
common forums could be held for the benefit of accountancy 
professionals in both jurisdictions.

GLOBAL RELEVANCE THROUGH STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

Stakeholder engagement is a strategic means for the Institute to position the Malaysian accountancy profession as a competent 
and unmatched source of quality, talent and expertise in a borderless business environment. 

Key to this is enhancing linkages and communications with diverse stakeholders at the national, regional and international levels 
to promote the interests of the Malaysian accountancy profession and ensure its development and maturity. 

Specifically, MIA’s corporate and international affairs function is instrumental in managing diverse stakeholder relationships, 
including those with government agencies and foreign professional bodies, to ensure a positive and facilitative environment 
for our members and the profession. Via close collaboration, MIA can safeguard the profession’s interests while ensuring that 
members remain relevant despite a volatile business landscape, increasing stakeholder expectations and complex challenges 
such as liberalisation of trade in services, and changes in standards and regulations, among others.
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ACCELERATING KNOWLEDGE AND 
COMPETENCY DEVELOPMENT

The Professional Development Department (PDD) complements 
MIA’s aim of maintaining the credibility of the accountancy 
profession in upholding public interest by providing a platform 
for Continuing Professional Education (CPE) for stakeholders of 
the accounting profession.

The ultimate goal is to ensure that a sufficient pool of competent 
and skilled accounting and finance professionals are created to 
maintain the integrity of the financial reporting chain, which will 
in turn deliver high-quality financial information to stakeholders 
and build market confidence. CPE programmes are offered 
to both MIA members and non-members who support the 
accounting profession.

As a strategic business arm of MIA, the specific function of PDD 
is to offer CPE programmes - namely workshops, seminars, 
short courses, forums and conferences - to MIA members and 
non-members and at the same time through these activities to 
generate income for MIA in order to provide funding for its other 
core support functions, namely professional standards and 
practices and surveillance and enforcement which are carried 
out to protect public interest.
 
MIA, via PDD and its Regional Offices, is able to serve its 
members and its stakeholders throughout the country. PDD’s 
customer base consists of approximately 65% MIA members 
and 35% non-members, who are serviced by three strategic 
business units within PDD:

PDD PERFORMANCE
PDD’s core operation is to carry out research work on CPE 
training needs and topics for the accounting profession, 
formulate appropriate CPE programmes, source facilitators/
speakers or subject matter experts or secure partners, 
handle marketing and promotions, and finally present the CPE 
programmes. 

PDD’s CPE Programmes Unit focuses on producing and 
delivering regular workshops on core topics such as MFRS, 
Audit, Tax, Management Accounting and so forth. It also 
manages the Members Induction Course via an e-learning 
portal for newly-admitted members. Through this unit, MIA has 
also expanded its CPE role by offering customised in-house 
training programmes to corporate organisations, with emphasis 
on Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS) topics and 
other technical topics relevant to the accounting fraternity.

PDD’s Special Projects Unit focuses on value-added CPE 
activities such as industry-focused and market intelligence 
seminars, forums and mini conferences targeting specific 
segments of the accounting profession, delivering international 
speakers’ series through partnerships with specialist 
organisations as well as organising sponsored CPE events and 
talks where MIA members participate at no cost.

PDD’s Conference Unit handles MIA’s flagship event, the MIA 
International Accountants Conference (MIA Conference), 
formerly known as the National Accountants Conference (NAC). 
MIA Conference 2012 received more than 2,300 participants 
inclusive of participants from more than 25 countries, thus 
validating it as a leading accountancy event and international 
platform that positions MIA on the global map of the accounting 
profession.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2013, MIA successfully 
produced and delivered 745 CPE programmes, including 138 
new titles. During the year under review, 239 industry specialists 
and subject matter experts served as facilitators and speakers 
for the CPE programmes, including 161 new speakers, attesting 
to MIA’s growing reputation as a leading provider of continuing 
professional education for the accounting profession. During 
the financial year under review, MIA delivered CPE programmes 
in these categories:

Categories No. of Events %

FRS & Financial Accounting 181 24%

Audit & Assurance 44 6%

Taxation 120 17%

Management Accounting 85 11%

Legal & Corporate Governance 43 6%

Banking & Finance 13 2%

Financial Management 33 4%

Public Practice & Consultancy 15 2%

IT Application 165 22%

Soft Skills 30 4%

Others 16 2%

TOTAL 745 100%

For the year under review, MIA recorded a total of 20,947 
participants of which 13,712 were MIA members, representing 
47% of the MIA’s total membership. The remaining 7,235 
participants were non-members from the accounting fraternity. 

PDD

MIA Conference Unit

• MIA International Accountants 
Conference (MIA Conference) 

 (Formerly known as National 
Accountants Conference –NAC)

• Sponsorships and Exhibition

Special Projects Unit

• Industry focused/Market 
intelligence seminars

• Forums/Mini Conferences/
Annual events

• International speakers series
• Partnership events with 

specialist organisations
• Sponsored events/talks  

(free for members)

CPE Programmes Unit

• Regular training workshops
• Core topics such as 

Accounting, MFRSs, 
Audit, Tax, Management 
Accounting, Strategic/Financial 
Management, Banking & 
Finance, Legal, Corporate 
Governance, IT,  and Soft Skills  

• Members Induction Course
• Customised in-house corporate 

training
• E-Learning modules
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CPE activities housed under PDD generated revenue and net 
contribution of RM15,429,432 and RM7,256,252 respectively 
for the financial year.

To meet the CPE needs of MIA members based in various 
parts of the country, CPE programmes were organised both 
in the Klang Valley and other regions during the financial year 
as follows:

Regions No. of Programmes %

Klang Valley 572 76%

Penang 39 5%

Johor 58 8%

Sarawak 36 5%

Sabah 28 4%

Others 12 2%

TOTAL 745 100%

MIA has recorded a continuous growth in terms of the number 
of CPE programmes delivered and income generated.  
The growth statistics for the last seven (7) years are as follow:

No. of programmes delivered from 2007 to 2013
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Collaborations with external organisations are a key factor in the 
growing success of MIA’s CPE services. MIA has established 
excellent working relationships with leading accounting firms, 
professional bodies, regulatory bodies and other specialist 
organisations. During the year under review, MIA jointly worked 
on CPE programmes and activities with the following partners: 

PARTNERS AND SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS

Abdullah Chan Advocates & Solicitors

ACCA

Adam Tax Advisory Sdn Bhd

AffinBank

Agensi Inovasi Malaysia (AIM)

Akademi NLP, Malaysia

AmBank Group

Applied Tech People Development

Audit Negara Malaysia

Audit Oversight Board

Bank Islam

BERNAS 

Billy Kueek International

Biztrak Business Solutions Sdn Bhd

Black Swan Technology

Boardroom Smart Business Solutions

Bursa Malaysia

Censof Group of Companies 

CIMA

CIMB Islamic Bank Bhd

Click Academy Asia

Columbus Advisory Group

COMTRACT

CPA Australia

Deloitte KassimChan Tax Services Sdn Bhd

Dragon-IBP Asia

Ernst & Young Malaysia

Eurasian Consulting for Strategic Innovation (ECSI Consulting)

Federation of Public Listed Companies Bhd (FPLC)

Felda Global Ventures

Finance Accreditation Agency (FAA)

Finding Teamo

Fujitsu Malaysia

Global Event Asia

Global Shared Services Centre (GSSC)

HBO

High Performance Individuals Sdn Bhd

IBM Software Group

ICAEW
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FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE SECURED FOR MIA MEMBERS OF SMPS/SMES
MIA further strengthened its working relationship with SMECorp and secured a training grant allocation of RM703,240 for the year. 
The grant enabled MIA to provide financial assistance for SME members, particularly the Small Medium Practitioners (SMPs) and 
their staff members attending MIA training programmes. With the support of the training grant, MIA provided a 70% subsidy on 
training fees payable by SMEs and SMPs and successfully trained more than 1,100 participants for the financial year. 

Apart from SMECorp, as at to-date MIA also secured an additional training grant amounting RM691,000 from the Government under 
the Economic Transformation Plan (ETP) initiative providing financial assistance for members of SMEs and SMPs who participate 
in the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs) training programmes. This facility was put in place to further enhance the 
competencies of accountants on MFRSs in order to support the adoption of IFRS in Malaysia.

For the financial year under review, more than 2,400 participants benefited from the training grants secured by MIA.

FREE CPE COURSES FOR MIA MEMBERS
As part of MIA’s corporate social responsibility initiatives, apart 
from the subsidised CPE programmes, it has also offered 
numerous free CPE courses to its members to support their 
professional development. More than 550 MIA members 
benefited from these free courses and seminars during the 
year, and the titles were as follow:
1. Master the Speed of Change 
2. Ethics Shift for Accountants

Infor Global

Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia

Insolvency Practitioners Association of Malaysia (iPAM)

Institut Penyelidikan Perhutanan Malaysia

Institute of Bankers Malaysia

Institute of Business Analytics Pte Ltd

Institute of Islamic Banking and Finance (IBFIM)

IRIS Business Services (Asia) Pte Ltd

ISACA Malaysia

Jabatan Akauntan Negara Malaysia (JANM)

Kementerian Pengajian Tinggi (KPT)

Khazanah Nasional Berhad

KL Management & Secretarial Services

KPMG

Leadership Resources Sdn Bhd

Lee Hishammuddin Allen & Gledhill

Malayan Flour Mills Berhad Group

Malaysia Convention & Exhibition Bureau

Malaysia SME Paper

Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB)

Malaysian Administrative Modernisation and Management 
Planning Unit (MAMPU)

Malaysian Alliance of Corporate Directors (MACD)

Malaysian National Computer Confederation

Malaysian Technology Development Corporation (MTDC)

Ministry of Finance

MNZWAJ Associates

Motorola Solutions (M) Sdn Bhd

MSME News Network

My BrainPower Sdn Bhd

NTT DATA SAP

Persatuan Akauntan Percukaian Malaysia (MATA)

Persatuan Akauntan Sektor Awam Malaysia (PERASAMA)

Personal Development Leadership

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC)

Prokhas Sdn Bhd

Public Interest Oversight Board (PIOB)

Royal Malaysian Customs

Securities Commission Malaysia

Service Winners International Sdn Bhd

Shearn Delamore & Co

SMECorp Malaysia

Suruhanjaya Syarikat Malaysia (SSM)

Taylor’s University

Telekom Malaysia Berhad

Terus Mesra Sdn Bhd

The Iclif Leadership & Governance Centre

The Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia (IIAM)

The International Governance & Risk Institute (GovRisk)

The London Speaker Bureau

The Malaysian Reserve

Training Edge International (Singapore)

Tricor Roots GRC

Universiti Tunku Abdul Razak

University Malaya

WILEY

3. Change the Way Work Is Done - How Finance Leaders can 
Leverage on Technology?

4. Become the Valued Finance Professional in your 
Organisation

5. Power Breakfast - How CFOs Can Value Add To The 
Organisation?

6. Seminar on XBRL
7. Applied NLP in Leadership & Coaching - Let’s Take Action 

& Achieve!
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8. New Boundaries in Tax Law: Capital Allowance for Car 
Park, RPGT v Income Tax, Compulsory Land Acquisition

9. Natural Capital Accounting - Recognising, Demonstrating 
and Capturing Nature’s Value

10. Excellent Communication via NLP - Difficult people will 
listen and do what I say

11. How to Get Creative and Stay That Way

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS AND 
PRACTICES (PSP) 

The PSP Department of MIA promotes adherence to 
professional standards and practices to ensure the conduct of 
its members maintain and strengthen public confidence and 
trust. It has five (5) technical functions as follows:
• Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards 

Implementation Committee (FRSIC)
• Public Sector Financial Reporting
• Auditing and Assurance
• Ethics, Regulatory and Governance
• Taxation

In support of its technical functions, the PSP Department has 
carried out the following activities in the financial year under review:

ACCOUNTING AND FRSIC
1. Issued FRSIC Consensus 18 “Monies Held in Trust by 

Participating Organisations of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad” in response to FRSIC Issue No. 19 which entailed 
clarification on accounting of monies held in trust account 
by a participating organisation of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad pursuant to provisions of Capital Markets and 
Services Act, 2007 and the Rules of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad. The Consensus has been issued as a 
best practice implementation guide on 18 September 2012. 

2. Embarked upon technical research initiatives for 
presentation of financial statements and accounting 
treatment for certain transactions and events of takaful 
companies. Guidance on Special Matter No. 2 “Presentation 
of Financial Statements for Takaful Companies; and 
Classification and Measurement of Qard” has been issued 
as a best practice guide on 29 May 2013.  

3. Jointly organised a half-day forum on Financial Reporting 
Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities (FRS for 
SMEs) with the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
(MASB) on 12 June 2013 and 21 June 2013 in Johor 
Bahru and Kuala Lumpur, respectively. The forum is 
held across Malaysia in 4 regional locations. The forum 
provides stakeholders, especially preparers and auditors, 
the opportunity to understand the new financial reporting 
framework for private entities.

4. Provided input to Malaysian Accounting Standards 
Board (MASB) by reviewing and providing comments on 
the following International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) technical pronouncements:
• Exposure Draft on Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

2011-2013 Cycle
• Exposure Draft on Recoverable Amount Disclosures 

for Non-Financial Assets (Proposed amendments to 
IAS 36)

• Exposure Draft on Equity Method: Share of Other Net 
Asset Changes (Proposed amendments to IAS 28)

• Exposure Draft on Acquisition of an Interest in a Joint 
Operation (Proposed amendments to IFRS 11)

• Exposure Draft on Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(Proposed amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

• Exposure Draft on Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Proposed 
amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9)

• Exposure Draft on Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Proposed 
amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)

• IASB Request for Information: Post-implementation 
Review: IFRS 8 Operating Segments

5. Presentation on “Financial Reporting Framework” in a 
technical update session during the Merger and Affiliation 
Seminar 2012 in 7 locations throughout Malaysia between 
May and July 2012

PUBLIC SECTOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
1. Technical advisor to the International Public Sector 

Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) Member, Datuk 
Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman, Accountant General of 
Malaysia.

2. Member of the Government Accounting Standards 
Advisory Committee (GASAC). The Committee adopts 
and approves the Malaysian Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (MPSASs) to facilitate the migration to accrual 
accounting by the Government of Malaysia.

3. Provided input by reviewing and providing comments on 
the following IPSASB technical pronouncements:
• Exposure Draft on Conceptual Framework for General 

Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities: 
Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements

• Exposure Draft on Conceptual Framework for General 
Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities: 
Measurement of Assets and Liabilities in Financial 
Statements

4. Provided input to GASAC by reviewing and providing 
comments on exposure drafts issued by GASAC  
as follows:
• MPSAS 4 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 

Rates
• MPSAS 12 Inventories
• MPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions 

(Taxes and Transfers)
• MPSAS 24 Presentation of Budget Information in 

Financial Statements

AUDITING AND ASSURANCE
1. Contributed directly to the international development 

of quality control, auditing, review, other assurance and 
related services pronouncements with the aim of providing 
constructive feedback to the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (IAASB). During the financial 
year, comments have been submitted in response to the 
following IAASB technical pronouncements: 
• Invitation to Comment on Improving the Auditor’s Report. 
• Exposure Draft on International Standard on Auditing 

(ISA) 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities 
Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing 
or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and 
the Auditor’s Report Thereon. 

• Consultation Paper on A Framework for Audit Quality. 



Enriching Knowledge and Ensuring Accountability

Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     33

2. Adoption of the following IAASB pronouncements: 
• Adoption of ISA 315 (Revised), Identifying and 

Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement through 
Understanding the Entity and Its Environment.

• Adoption of ISA 610 (Revised), Using the Work of 
Internal Auditors.

• Adoption of International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements (ISAE) 3410, Assurance Engagements 
on Greenhouse Gas Statements.

• Adoption of International Standard on Review 
Engagements (ISRE) 2400 (Revised), Engagements to 
Review Historical Financial Statements.

3. Issued two Recommended Practice Guides (RPGs) for 
members’ guidance and compliance:
• RPG 11, Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements 

Prepared in Accordance with the Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (MFRS) Framework.

• RPG 4 (Revised), Examples of Independence Auditors’ 
Reports. 

4. Participated as speaker and participant in the IAASB 
roundtable forum on “Improving the Auditor’s Report” held 
in Kuala Lumpur on 8 October 2012.

5. Submitted proposal on amendments to the provisions 
under the Companies Act 1965 to Suruhanjaya Syarikat 
Malaysia (SSM).

6. Provided input to local regulatory body and other 
authorities on proposed laws and regulations which have 
implications on auditing practices in Malaysia. During the 
financial year, comments have been submitted to the public 
inquiry paper on Implementation of Accounting Separation 
in Malaysia issued by the Malaysian Communications and 
Multimedia Commission (MCMC). Comments submitted 
on 31 October 2012.

7. Presentation on “Implementation Issues on Quality Control 
and Auditing Standards” in a technical update session 
during the Merger and Affiliation Seminar 2012 in 7 locations 
throughout Malaysia between May and July 2012.

8. Presentation on “The Audit Committee: Effectiveness in 
an Ever Changing Corporate Landscape” at the National 
Accounting Educators Symposium in July 2012. The 
session covers corporate governance, role of audit 
committee, audit committee relationship with external 
auditors, value of audit, audit quality and auditor reporting.

9. Presentation on “Overview of Professional Standards and 
Practices of MIA” in a technical update session during the 
Members Engagement Session with MIA President in 4 
regional locations in Malaysia.

10. Presentation on the roles and responsibilities of auditors 
appointed by licensed intermediaries and money services 
business licensees in engagement session organised by 
Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) in April 2013.

11. Participated in XBRL Malaysia Roundtable: Discussion on 
Issues of Concern for Auditors on 20 May 2013 organised 
by SSM.

12. Produced publication on “Understanding Engagements 
Undertaken by Practitioners”. 

13. Ongoing discussion with BNM, MCMC and Securities 
Commission Malaysia relating to legislations and 
regulations affecting auditor reporting.

ETHICS, REGULATORY AND GOVERNANCE
1. Reviewed and commented on the following Exposure 

Drafts issued by the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants (IESBA): 
• Exposure Draft entitled “Proposed Change to the 

Definition of Those Charged with Governance”.  
Comments were submitted to IESBA on 29 October 
2012; and

• Exposure Draft entitled “Responding to a Suspected 
Illegal Act”. Comments were submitted to IESBA on 13 
December 2012.

2. Provided feedback on the following consultative 
documents issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(the Exchange):
• The Proposals Aimed at Enhancing Corporate 

Governance Standards Pursuant to the Corporate 
Governance Blueprint and Malaysian Governance 
Code on Corporate Governance 2012. Comments 
were submitted to the Exchange on 15 August 2012; 

• The Proposed Amendments in relation to Business 
Trust. Comments were submitted on 5 December 2012; 

• The Proposed Best Practice Guide in relation to 
Independent Advice Letters.  Comments were 
submitted to the Exchange on 5 February 2013; and

• The Proposals relating to the Review of Timeframe for 
Issuance of Financial Statements and Annual Reports. 
Comments were submitted to the Exchange on  
5 July 2013.

3. Reviewed and provided comments on the following standards 
and policy issued by Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM):
• Standard Guidelines on Anti-Money Laundering 

and Counter Financing of Terrorism and Sectorial 
Guidelines 6 for Designated Non-Financial Business 
and Professions. Comments were submitted to BNM 
on 2 August 2012; and

• Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of 
Terrorism Policy. Comments were submitted to BNM 
on 20 February 2013. 

 To aid the understanding of requirements expected of 
reporting institutions. 

4. Provided input to Suruhanjaya Syarikat Malaysia (SSM) in 
relation to the following consultative document and matters:
• Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL) 

Taxonomy Elements for Financial Reporting.  Comments 
were submitted to SSM on 19 March 2013;

• Proposed amendment to the requirement on disclosure 
of Limited Liabilities Partnership’s Financial Information 
in support of the Annual Declaration.  The letter was 
submitted to SSM on 5 June 2013;

• Proposed amendment to Section 174 of the Companies 
Act 1965, in relation to Powers and Duties of Auditors.  
Letters were submitted to SSM on 27 August 2012,  
12 December 2012 and 5 April 2013.

• Ongoing discussion with SSM at the Corporate Practice 
Consultative Forum (CPCF) including the Companies 
Act 1965, the Companies Bill 2013, Limited Liabilities 
Partnership Act 2012 and other related matters.
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TAXATION
1. Completion of four (4) Discussion Papers (DP) on tax 

implications related to the implementation of MFRS / FRS 
through Joint Tax Working Group on FRS. The Discussion 
Papers are MFRS 117 / FRS 117, MFRS 119 / FRS119, 
MFRS 136 / FRS 136 and IC Interpretation 12. The 
Discussion Papers are pending Council approval and will 
be forwarded to the Ministry of Finance (MOF) and Inland 
Revenue Board (IRB) upon approval. During the financial 
year, few dialogue sessions were held with MOF, IRB and 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board. 

2. Submitted a joint memorandum between MIA and MICPA 
to IRB on the review of the Income Tax (Transfer Pricing) 
Rules 2012 and Transfer Pricing Guidelines 2012 on  
11 September 2012.

3. Submitted a joint memorandum on issues relating to the 
2013 Budget Proposal and Finance (No. 2) Bill 2012 to 
the IRB on 16 November 2012. The joint parties are MIA, 
MICPA and Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia (CTIM). 

4. Submitted a memorandum to SME Corporation Malaysia 
on the review of the Incentives to Encourage Small 
Malaysian Service Providers to Merge into Larger Entities 
on 27 November 2012.

5. Submitted a memorandum on the proposed amendments 
to guidelines on the application and renewal of tax agent 
license to MOF on 15 February 2013.

6. Submitted a joint feedback among MIA, MICPA and CTIM 
on the draft tax investigation framework 2013 to IRB on  
12 April 2013.

7. Submitted 52 budget proposals for 2014 to MOF jointly 
with MICPA on 3 June 2013. Amongst the budget 
proposals submitted, inter-alia, are:
• Convergence between Accounting and Taxable Profits
• Effective Date for Application of Legal Provisions / 

Public Rulings / Guidelines
• New Penalty Rate on Late Filing of Tax Return
• Appeals Procedures
• Option for Utilisation of Employee Provident Fund 

(EPF) Account 2 for Insurance Scheme Contribution

DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVES FOR 
PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS IN PUBLIC 
PRACTICE

Consistent with the previous strategic initiatives for the 
members in public practice, the activities for this reporting 
period were focused in the following three areas:

(A) ENHANCING COMPETENCY AND QUALITY
Our small and medium practices (SMPs) have requested 
more training support and the Institute has responded by 
increasing its technical trainings around auditing, accounting 
and ISQC via the courses conducted by MIA Professional 
Development Department.

As a proactive step towards assisting mid-tier auditors of PIEs 
in addressing common audit deficiencies identified during 
the Audit Oversight Board’s (AOB) inspection activities, the 
Institute on the advice of its Public Practice Committee (PPC) 

has formulated a series of training programmes specifically for 
mid-tier auditors of PIEs and its key employees. The training 
programmes developed have included the elements of MIA 
by-laws, Clarified ISAs and ISQC 1. The training programmes 
also provide insights into the AOB’s inspection process, for 
better understanding of the requirements. Three out of the 
four customised training programmes are available for SMPs 
at a subsidised rate. SMPs which opt for these programmes 
can enjoy a 70% subsidy from SME Corp Malaysia. 

During the reporting period, MIA has also organised several 
complimentary events to help address the challenges faced 
by members in public practice, including Merger & Affiliation 
Seminar 2012, Practice Review Dialogue With Practitioners 
2013 and Public Forums on Roadmap for Private Entities 
Reporting Framework 2013 (in collaboration with MASB).

MERGER AND AFFILIATION (M&A) SEMINAR 2012
20 September 2012

The one-day complimentary seminar provides members in 
public practice with critical understanding of the changing 
regulatory landscape and emerging trends across the 
accountancy profession. This is to assist members to 
capitalise on the opportunity for using merger and affiliation 
to help chart member firms’ direction in the globalised and 
progressively liberalised world. 

The topics covered during the seminar included:
• Merger & Affiliation as a tool for growth
• Sharing sessions by members who have embarked on the 

M&A journey
• Government assistance for SMPs / SMEs
• IFAC Initiatives on SMPs and SMEs
• Updates on Limited Liability Partnership Act
• MASB Briefing on various financial reporting options for 

private entities
• Panel discussion: Regulatory changes – the key driver  

for M&A

The seminar attracted 150 participants in Kuala Lumpur.

PRACTICE REVIEW DIALOGUE FOR PRACTITIONERS
14 May 2013

The Institute has recently revisited the practice review 
framework, after 10 years of its implementation, to keep in 
tandem with the recent developments and best practices in 
advanced economies. This dialogue is timely to clear doubts 
and concerns related to the new practice review programme, 
which will be adopting the risk-based approach for its firm 
selection basis, in addressing one of the concerns highlighted 
in the World Bank ROSC.

This dialogue was attended by 160 practitioners in Kuala Lumpur.

(B) PROMOTING GROWTH AND MEETING NEW 
CHALLENGES
On the international front, we have maintained our seat on 
IFAC’s SMP Committee and regularly attended their meetings 
to stay abreast of international developments.
 
The Institute sees a fundamental need to facilitate greater 
consolidation within SMPs, besides encouraging service 
diversification and branding / marketing efforts among 
member firms. In this respect, after a series of Merger & 
Affiliation Seminars have been successfully organised from 



Enriching Knowledge and Ensuring Accountability

Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     35

May to September 2012 in eight locations, the Institute 
will continue its initiatives in this area as one of its thought 
leadership projects.
 
Other thought leadership project that we will continue to 
embark on is the project on value of quality audit. During the 
reporting period, the Institute introduced a booklet ‘Choosing 
an Accountant for your Business’ to educate the general 
public, especially the SMEs, on elements to look for when 
choosing an accountant to be employed internally or externally 
for professional services. The booklets were distributed on 
complimentary basis to SMEs during the SMIDEX and SME 
Week June 2013.

(C) SHIFTING THE THOUGHT PARADIGM OF 
MEMBERS AND OTHER REGULATORS
MIA has also devoted significant time in year 2012 and 2013 
to professional reform. In year 2013, we have also made 
some quick wins on the audit practice side, whereby we have 
eased regulations to facilitate audit practices in Malaysia. For 
example, MIA recommended reducing the years required for 
returning and experienced audit professionals to gain their 
audit licenses from three years to one year post membership 
of MIA. The Ministry of Finance (MOF) Malaysia endorsed this 
with effect from 1 January 2013. Moves like these will help to 
assuage the current talent crunch in audit and hopefully have 
a positive impact on perceptions of audit quality.

The Institute has also voiced out members’ concerns on 
Borang C for the renewal of audit licences which took effect on 
1 April 2012. With the advocacy of the Institute, the Borang C 
has been replaced by the new Borang B.

MIA continues to strengthen ties with authorities such as 
the Audit Oversight Board (AOB), the Malaysia Department 
of Insolvency (MDI) and the Association of Banks in  
Malaysia (ABM). 

MIA engaged with the AOB on 22 January 2013 on their overall 
inspection findings for the past few years and AOB has also 
shared with the Institute on their strategic plans in the near 
future.  In this respect, the Institute will engage with AOB on a 
continuous basis to work towards enhancing the audit quality 
of members in public practice. 

The Institute paid a courtesy visit to the MDI on 26 March 2013 
to discuss practice issues faced by insolvency practitioners.  
With the advocacy of the Institute, MDI agreed that the 
reporting frequency for Court winding-up cases to MDI will 
be six-monthly. It was also agreed that MDI and MIA would 
engage with each other at the early stage of investigations and 
disciplinary proceedings. Similar engagement sessions with 
MDI will be organised quarterly.

MIA and ABM have reached the final stage of finalisation of a 
template for bank confirmation (which includes terms for both 
conventional and Islamic banking) and a circular will be sent 
out to all member firms in August 2013.

DEVELOPMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL 
ACCOUNTANTS IN BUSINESS

MIA continues to carry out projects to develop and support 
members who are professional accountants in business in 
the country. Through this function, MIA strives to provide a 

platform to facilitate the exchange of information regarding 
current developments and emerging issues that shape the 
profession and to promote global best practices for the 
enhancement of the profession.
 
Ultimately through this platform, MIA hopes to provide thought 
leadership to stakeholders and excellent services to members 
by maintaining and enhancing the reputation and status of the 
Institute and its members in technical areas. To support these 
objectives, MIA carried out the following activities:
1. The organising of MIA Articles of Merit Award on PAIB 

2012. Member development is one of MIA’s main agendas 
and as such, contributions from members who are 
professional accountants in business (PAIB) have to be 
acknowledged. MIA in turn consistently interacts with 
members and encourages them towards developing their 
professional knowledge and skills with the objective of 
enhancing the members’ status.  This award intends to 
provide a platform for engagement on issues and topics 
relevant to the profession and hope that it would spur the 
adoption and development of best practices in order to 
promote the value of professional accountants in business. 

2. The Institute submitted its views on the International 
Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) Exposure Draft 
‘Comprehensive Review of the IFRS for SMEs.’ 

3. In 2012 MIA embarked on a series of strategic engagement 
sessions with members and stakeholders. The objectives 
of these sessions are to strengthen ties to place MIA 
as strategic partner to other stakeholders and provide 
opportunities for members to raise issues and feedback 
to MIA. One of the sessions organised was a dinner held 
in September 2012 with members from the professional 
accountants in business sector. CEOs, CFOs and senior 
members of the finance team from public listed companies 
attended the dinner. It was aimed at sharing with the 
PAIBs some of the strategic initiatives that MIA has 
undertaken, and to discuss the way forward in efforts that 
can strengthen capacity building and promote excellence 
in the profession.  

4. The Institute commented on exposure drafts issued by IFAC 
PAIB on its work plan for the period from 2012 to 2016 and 
the draft paper titled ‘Project and Investment Appraisal for 
Sustainable Value Creation’. This is a proposed addition 
to the International Good Practice Guidance series as 
principles-based guidance to help the accountancy 
profession facilitate sustainable organisations, financial 
markets, and economies by taking into account economic, 
environmental, and social considerations for project 
appraisal and investment decisions. All the comments 
from member bodies were uploaded on the IFAC website.

5. The Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Malaysia issued The 
Statement on Risk Management & Internal Control: Guideline 
for Directors of Listed Issues. The Institute was a member 
of the industry-led Working Group which was supported 
by Bursa Malaysia and the Securities Commission that 
developed the guidelines. Following this MIA supported 
the IIA Malaysia’s seminar on the Statement on Risk 
Management & Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors 
of Listed Issuers held in several locations throughout 
Malaysia. The aim of the seminar was to brief the directors 
among others on the obligations of management and the 
board of directors with respect to risk management and 
internal control, the key elements needed in maintaining 
a sound system of risk management and internal control, 
and the process that should be considered in reviewing its 
effectiveness as set out in the Guidelines.
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ISLAMIC FINANCE
In the areas of Islamic Finance (IF), MIA through various 
initiatives and collaborations aims to showcase Malaysia’s 
expertise in IF and promote its accountants’ marketability 
locally and internationally. It plans to develop the knowledge 
base on application of IFRS on Islamic Finance as well as 
to encourage research on this area through collaborations 
and share the findings with stakeholders. To support these 
objectives, MIA carried out the following activities:
1. In conjunction with the Global Islamic Finance Forum 

(GIFF) 2012 organised by Bank Negara Malaysia, MIA 
in collaboration with MASB hosted a half-day forum on 
“Islamic Finance Transactions: Reporting under IFRS” 
on 18 September 2012 at Sasana Kijang, Bank Negara. 
BNM sponsored the venue for the forum which was one 
of the side events during GIFF and was open to the GIFF 
participants on a complimentary basis. The forum was 
organised to promote international convergence as well 
as develop participants’ knowledge and understanding 
on the application of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) towards transactions related to Islamic 
Finance. The focus was on local accountants as there is a 

need to enhance the understanding in the industry on the 
application of IFRS for Islamic Finance transactions. The 
forum was well received with participants from various 
backgrounds, mainly, accounting professionals working 
in the finance, insurance and Takaful industry, including 
auditors, regulators and academicians.

2. MIA organised its first Road Show on Islamic Finance. 
The event was held in four (4) locations namely Kuala 
Lumpur, Johor, Sabah and Sarawak. The main content 
of the programme was on the application of IFRS on IF 
transactions with the aim of educating members and 
relevant stakeholders on the subject and providing better 
access for this knowledge. This was the first road show 
on IF organised by MIA and is a timely event to create 
awareness of the services accountants can provide in the 
IF sector. 

3. The Institute commented on the Concept Paper on 
Investment Account issued by Bank Negara Malaysia. 
The Concept Paper outlines proposals to facilitate the 
operationalisation of investment account as defined under 
section 2 of the Islamic Financial Services Act.

Special Publication - Choosing an 
Accountant for Your Business

Forum on Reporting of Islamic 
Finance Transactions under IFRS

PAIB Articles of Merit Awards 2012

Practice Review Dialogue with 
Practitioners

Public Forums on Roadmap 
for Private Entities Reporting 
Framework

Islamic Finance Road Show 2013

Merger & Affiliation Seminar 2012
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ENSURING COMPETENCE THROUGH 
CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION 
(CPE) COMPLIANCE

All professional accountants have an ethical obligation to 
maintain professional competence and to ensure the exercise 
of due care at all times. The function of CPE compliance is 
to ensure that members adhere to basic tenets of ethical 
and professional conduct. In this regard, members have a 
responsibility to themselves, their employers, their clients 
and other stakeholders to ensure that they keep abreast with 
the current developments that affect their current and future 
professional work.

To maintain professional competence and to ensure the exercise 
of due care at all times, a professional accountant is required 
to participate in CPE learning activities that  are relevant to his 
current and future work and professional responsibilities. 

To ensure that standards of professional competence are 
rigorously upheld, MIA continues to conduct the annual CPE audit. 
The Management proposed that the CPE Audit to be conducted 
on all active members (approximately 29,600 members). 

A batch of 9258 members comprising Practising Certificate 
Holders and Non Practising Certificate Holders were audited 
in October 2012. 

All Practicing Certificate Holders will be audited on an annual basis.

Members will revert to the Institute by way of ‘CPE Compliance 
Online Declaration’. The deadline for CPE credit hours’ 
submission was extended from 31 December 2012 to  
30 March 2013 to accord additional time for members to update 
their CPE records.

As at 30 June 2013, a total of 677 non-practitioners and 550 
practitioners had submitted the CPE Online Declaration.  A total 
of 1181 non-practitioners complied with the CPE requirements 
for Audit Period 1 January 2010 – 31 December 2012, with 5431 
members having a shortfall in CPE credit hours and 18 members 
being exempted. Practitioners had a 62.5% compliance rate 
for the CPE Audit Period 1 January – 31 December 2012,  
with 37.4% having a shortfall.

PRACTICE REVIEW

Practice review is a core component of the Surveillance 
and Enforcement division of the Institute. Established in 
January 2003 by the Institute to improve audit quality in the 
profession, practice review has been given a clear mandate by 
members at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) to take steps 
to ensure that public accounting firms in the country are in 
compliance with professional standards, legal and regulatory 
requirements whenever audits of financial statements are 
carried out by the firms.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
Practice review teams visit the office premises of audit firms 
to review engagement files that were selected from a listing of 
the firms’ clients which had been statutorily declared before a 
Commissioner for Oaths. To achieve the objective of practice 
review as stated above, the reviewer will ascertain the level of 
competences and skill that is available in the firm to conduct its 
audit in accordance to the provisions of International Standard 
of Quality Control (ISQC 1) and International Standards of 
Auditing (ISAs).

To this end, documentation of audit evidence gathered 
by the practitioners will be ascertained for sufficiency and 
appropriateness in order to serve as a proper basis for the 
auditor to form his opinion on the true and fair view of the 
audited financial statements. Without such documentation of 
audit evidence, there would be no reasonable basis for the 
auditor to form his audit opinion.

ACTIVITIES
During the financial year under review, apart from carrying 
out its principal activity as stated above, the department was 
involved in the following:
a) Formalising the revised framework of practice review;
b) Carrying out a survey on practice review in August 2012 of 

approximately 150 practitioners who were reviewed in the 
recent past; 

c) Spearheading the practice review dialogue with about 180 
practitioners on 14 May, 2013;

d) Delivering training courses in ISQC 1 and auditing standards 
to practitioners; and

e) Delivering seminars for corporate directors on fundamentals 
and governance issues.

STATISTICS
As at 30 June 2013, a total of 731 firms were notified of review 
for the first time while 84 firms were notified of follow-up reviews. 
The cumulative number of firms reviewed as at 30 June 2013 
was 639.

As at 30 June 2013, a total of 639 firms were reviewed for the first 
time. This represented 47% of the 1,363 audit firms registered 
with MIA. The number of completed reviews performed, which 
represented final reports signed by MIA, was 539.

On an overall basis, based on the 539 completed reviews 
performed, approximately 8% are rated as Type 1 (satisfactory) 
while 48% are rated as Type 2 (assurance of compliance to be 
provided) and 44% are rated as Type 3 (follow-up review).
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GOING FORWARD
Subsequent to the legal review of the revised practice 
review framework by external lawyers, the effective date of 
implementation of the revised framework will be decided in 
due course.
 
The main features of the revised framework for practice review 
are as follows:
a) The method of selection of firms for review will be based on 

a ‘risk’ approach instead of the ‘random’ approach.
b) An action plan will be required to be drawn up by practitioners 

of Type 3 firms to address all areas of weakness identified in 
the first-time review of the firm. This action plan is subject to 
approval by the practice review committee.

c) Remedial measures are introduced to require practitioners 
of Type 3 firms to attend training courses conducted by 
MIA. This is to prepare them for the follow-up review.

The revised practice review framework is included in the  
By-Laws of the Institute.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REVIEW
The Malaysian Institute of Accountants’ Financial Statements 
Review (FSR) function serves to monitor the quality of financial 
information and reports that are prepared by or are the 
responsibility of members of the Institute.

Under this function, MIA monitors compliance with statutory 
and other requirements, approved accounting standards and 
approved auditing standards in Malaysia in relation to financial 
reporting. MIA also shares with its members about financial 
reporting best practices based on common findings identified 
during the review process.

The review of financial statements is carried out by MIA’s 
Financial Statements Review Committee (FSRC) which 
monitors the quality of financial statements through the review 
process, including cases referred by other regulators.

MIA also monitors the media as part of a proactive surveillance 
approach on potential accounting irregularities and reporting 
deficiencies in public-listed companies and public-interest 
entities and will take action, where necessary, should a member 
be found to have breached any by-laws and/or other statutory 
requirements in the preparation of their financial statements.

In supporting MIA to regulate the practices and strengthen 
the credibility of the accountancy profession in Malaysia, the 
Financial Statements Review Department (FSRD) carried out 
the following activities during the year:
1. To monitor compliance with statutory and other 

requirements, approved accounting standards and 
approved auditing standards in Malaysia in relation to 
financial reporting, the FSRC reviewed financial statements 
of listed companies selected on a random basis and cases 
of public interest (inclusive of those referred by other 
regulators).  During the financial year ended 30 June 2013, 
FSRC reviewed eleven (11) new financial statements of 
listed companies. In total, 33 replies to queries raised by 
FSRC were deliberated during the financial year.

      In summary, the reviews conducted were as follows:
      

Random 
selection

Cases b/f from the previous financial year 6

Cases initiated/referred to FSRC 11

Cases closed during the financial year (11)

Cases c/f to the next financial year 6

 During the year of review, the FSRC has categorised five (5) 
cases as Category 2 of the penalty tariff, whereby warning 
letters were issued to the preparer for a substantial number 
of non-compliances with the requirements of Financial 
Reporting Standards.

2. MIA actively keeps track of cases of public interest reported 
in the media on financial reporting and ensures prompt 
action is taken to address the issue. During the financial 
year, media reports or referrals that prompted further 
analysis by MIA were as follows:

      Total

Cases b/f from previous financial years 3

Cases initiated 6

Cases closed during the financial year 
under review

(8)

Cases in progress as at the end of the 
financial year under review

1

3. To promote higher standards of financial reporting in 
Malaysia, MIA jointly organised the National Annual 
Corporate Reporting Awards (NACRA) with Bursa Malaysia 
and the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(MICPA). NACRA is aimed at promoting greater and 
more effective communication of financial and business 
information through the publication of timely, informative, 
factual and reader-friendly annual reports.

ENSURING CHECKS AND BALANCES IN 
THE PROFESSION

As the national regulatory body for the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia, MIA has a pivotal responsibility to 
ensure that credibility of the profession is maintained and 
public interest continues to be upheld.  The MIA, through 
its enforcement mechanism, has used the statutory powers 
given to it to impose effective sanctions in an effort to further 
raise the standards of professional conduct of members.
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Statistics of Investigation from 1 July 2012 to  30 June 2013

The cases above are in respect of various types of alleged misconducts as narrated below.

New cases received 
during the period

Cases Dismissed by 
Committee during the period

Cases Decided to be Referred 
(pending submission of Report to 
Disciplinary Committee)

Cases Referred (Report Submitted 
to Disciplinary Committee)

49 22 14 12

DISCIPLINARY ACTION

In order to maintain the reputation and integrity of the profession, MIA is committed to ensuring that its members demonstrate 
excellent standards of professionalism and comply with the standards implemented and enforced by the Institute. Via the 
Disciplinary Committee which is a statutory committee, MIA will take punitive action in disciplinary cases as necessary in order 
to punish infractions and deter future misconduct. The table below shows the number of cases which have been resolved by 
the Disciplinary Committee and those that are still pending for the year under review.

*Pending cases: 17 - pending mention/hearing of the case
 3 - pending further action by the Investigation Committee
 3 - pending outcome of court proceedings

Types of misconduct New cases 
received during 
the period

Cases Dismissed 
by Committee 
during the period

Cases Decided to be Referred 
(pending submission of Report 
to Disciplinary Committee)

Cases Referred 
(Report Submitted to 
Disciplinary Committee)

Accounting & auditing failures 22 17 6 1

Liquidators’ failures 7 1 - -

Company secretary’s failures 12 3 2 -

Breach of other provisions of 
Companies Act

- - - -

Discourteous acts - - - -

Other misconducts 8 1 6 11

Total 49 22 14 12

Pending 
Cases 
from 
previous 
year 
under 
review

No. of 
Cases 
referred 
to the DC 
during 
year under 
review 

Cases Heard No. of 
Cases 
Withdrawn 
by 
Investigation 
Committee 

Pending  
Cases

Complainant Cases involving :

No. of 
Cases 
Resulting in 
Punishment

No. of Cases 
Dismissed 
by the 
Disciplinary 
Committee

Individual /
Others

Regulators Auditors • Directors
• Liquidators
• Others

11 32 18 2 Nil 23* 40 3 6 37

DISCIPLINARY APPEALS

Any member aggrieved by the decision of the Disciplinary Committee may, within a specified period, appeal to the Disciplinary 
Appeal Board of the Institute (DAB). The DAB is empowered under the Act to consider appeals by members, and may confirm, 
reverse or vary the decisions of the Disciplinary Committee. During the year under review, the DAB has disposed five (5) appeals 
out of eight (8) appeals lodged before the DAB. 

INVESTIGATION

The Investigation Committee (IC) is a statutory committee established under Section 19(a) of the Accountants Act 1967 
to consider and investigate complaints against members of MIA and to refer them to the Disciplinary Committee (DC),  
where appropriate.

CREATING AN EFFICIENT INVESTIGATION FRAMEWORK
During the financial year under review, 49 new cases were lodged with the Registrar on various forms of alleged misconduct. A total 
of 7 investigative meetings of the IC had been held throughout the period, resulting from which 22 cases were dismissed and 26 
complaints were decided to be referred to the DC. Of the number of complaints decided to be referred, 14 complaints is pending 
submission of IC report to DC.
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Statutory
Membership & Attendance from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013

INVESTIGATION COMMITTEE (IC) **   No. of Meetings: 7 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Ng Kim Tuck Chairman Retired 30 November 2012 3/3

2 Devaneson Evanson Chairman Retired 28 February 2013 1/2

3 Mohamed Raslan Abdul Rahman Chairman Appointed 28 March 2013 1/3

4 Abraham Verghese Member Retired 29 September 2012 2/2

5 Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Appointed 29 May 2013 1/1

6 Leong Kah Mun Member Appointed 29 September 2012 5/5

7 Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Retired 29 September 2012 1/2

8 Prof. Dr. Ku Nor Izah Ku Ismail Member Retired 16 July 2013 5/7

9 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member Retired 21 November 2012 1/2

10 Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Member Appointed 29 September 2012 5/5

DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE (DC) **           No. of Meetings: 14 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Chairman Retired 29 October 2012 2/4

2 Ken Pushpanathan Chairman Appointed 29 October 2012 9/10

3 Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 11/14

4 Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member Retired 29 October 2012 4/4

5 Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan Member Appointed 29 October 2012 9/10

6 Dr. Hajah Kalsom Salleh Member Retired 29 October 2012 4/4

7 Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 9/14

8 Mustapa Kamal Mohd Razali Member Appointed 29 October 2012
Retired 22 July 2013

0/0

EXAMINATION COMMITTEE (EC)          No. of Meetings: 6 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Prof. Datin Dr. Hasnah Haji Haron Chairman Retired 30 November 2012 2/2

2 Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman Appointed 11 January 2013 4/4

3 Prof. Dr. Ku Nor Izah Ku Ismail Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

4 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nor Aziah Abu Kasim Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 4/6

5 Assoc. Prof. Noorbijan Abu Bakar Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

6 Dato’ Rosini Abdul Samad 
(Rep: Rosenida Abdul Rahman)

Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 5/6

7 Foo Yoke Pin Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/6

DISCIPLINARY APPEAL BOARD (DAB) **            No. of Meetings: 3

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Chan Feoi Chun, Francis Chairman Retired 28 December 2012 1/1

2 Mohd Noh Jidin Chairman Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/3

3 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sabri Mohamat Hassan Member Appointed 29 October 2012 1/1

4 Baharuddin Ahmad Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/3

5 Heng Ji Keng Member Retired 29 September 2012 1/1

6 Phan Su Han, Josephine Member Retired 31 December 2012 1/1

Note **: any member of these committees shall recuse or abstain from deliberation of a matter in which they are or may be in conflict of interest
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Technical
Membership & Attendance from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

8 Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj Abdul Aziz Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

9 Syahrul Idzuan Mohamad Member Appointed 14 January 2013 3/4

10 Zuraini Abidin Member Retired 31 December 2012 1/2

Examination Committee (EC) (continued)

AUDITING AND ASSURANCE STANDARDS BOARD (AASB) No. of Meetings: 5 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Tan Bun Poo, Robert Chairman - 5/5

2 Ahmad Shahrul Mohamed Member - 3/5

3 Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member Appointed 28 March 2013 1/1

4 Cheong Thoong Farn Member - 4/5

5 Hooi Kok Mun Member Re-appointed 1 August 2012 5/5

6 Lee Tuck Heng Member - 4/5

7 Lock Peng Kuan Member - 4/5

8 Mohamed Raslan Abdul Rahman Member - 4/5

9 Norazman Hashim Member Resigned 3 October 2012 0/1

10 Phan Su Han, Josephine Member - 3/5

11 Prof. Takiah Mohd Iskandar Member Re-appointed 1 August 2012 3/5

12 Quay Chew Soon Member Re-appointed 1 August 2012 2/5

13 Sukanta Kumar Dutt Member - 4/5

14 Tang Seng Choon Member - 4/5

15 Thong Foo Vung Member Re-appointed 1 August 2012 5/5

16 Walter Sandosam Member Re-appointed 1 August 2012 1/5

ETHICS STANDARDS BOARD (ESB)                No. of Meetings: 2 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Chairperson - 2/2

2 Dr. A. Bakar Sarpon Member - 0/2

3 Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/2

4 Loh Kam Hian Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/2

5 Ravindran Navaratnam Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/2

6 Stefanie Ng Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/2

7 Tan Soo Yan Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 1/2

8 Wong Weng Soon, Eugene Member - 2/2

CAPITAL MARKET ADVISORY COMMITTEE (CMAC)     No. of Meetings: 2

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Mohammad Faiz Mohd Azmi Chairman - 2/2

2 Carol Eng Member - 1/2

3 Ch’ng Boon Huat Member - 2/2

4 Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member - 2/2

5 Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member - 1/2
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AMLATFA  COMMITTEE                    No. of Meetings: 1

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Mustapa Kamal Mohd Razali Chairman Retired 29 May 2013 0/1

2 Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Chairman Appointed 29 May 2013 0/1

3 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kalsom Salleh Member - 1/1

4 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nor Aziah Abu Kassim Member Appointed 29 May 2013 1/1

5 Ken Pushpanathan Member - 0/1

6 Ng Kim Tuck Member - 1/1

TAXATION PRACTICE COMMITTEE              No. of Meetings: 6

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Beh Tok Koay Chairman Re-appointed 29 October 2012 6/6

2 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Choong Kwai Fatt Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 1/6

3 Chan Kee Hoong Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/6

4 Datin Tam Poh Lin, Pauline Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

5 Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/6

6 Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member Appointed 29 October 2012 1/3

7 Eng Hooi Ling, Carol Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/4

8 Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 5/6

9 Mohd Noor Abu Bakar Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 4/6

10 Ng Kim Lian Member Retired 29 September 2012 1/2

11 Po Yih Ming, Frances Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 1/6

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE (FRSIC)     No. of Meetings: 3

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Chairman Resigned 29 March 2013 1/1

2 Johan Idris Chairman Appointed 29 March 2013 2/2

3 Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Member - 2/3

4 Cheah Pooi Lin, Esther Member - 3/3

5 Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member - 1/3

6 Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan Member Appointed 19 October 2012 0/2

7 Mohamed Raslan Abdul Rahman Member - 2/3

8 Ng Kean Kok Member - 3/3

9 Ng Kim Tuck Member - 3/3

10 Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member - 3/3

11 Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member - 3/3

12 Regina Fikkers Member Appointed 20 June 2013 1/1

13 Siew Kar Wai Member Resigned 13 May 2013 2/2

14 Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Member Appointed 19 October 2012 1/2

15 Thong Foo Vung Member - 3/3

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

6 Foong Mun Kong Member - 2/2

7 Leong Shook Kheng, Kelly Member - 1/2

8 Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member - 2/2

9 Sukanta Kumar Dutt Member - 1/2

10 Wong Wing Seong Member - 1/2

Capital Market Advisory Committee (CMAC) (continued)
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Taxation Practice Committee (continued)

EDUCATION COMMITTEE (EC)                     No. of Meetings: 5 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Prof. Datin Dr. Hasnah Haji Haron Chairperson Retired 30 November 2012 3/3

2 Prof. Dr. Ku Nor Izah Ku Ismail Chairperson Re-appointed as member  
29 October 2012
Appointed as Chairperson  
11 January 2013

4/5

3 Abraham Verghese Member Retired 19 September 2012 1/2

4 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kalsom Salleh Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/5

5 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 4/5

6 Baharuddin Ahmad Member Retired 16 July 2013 0/2

7 Dato’ Rosini Abdul Samad  
(Rep: Pn Rosenida Abd Rahman

Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/5

8 Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/3

9 Ken Pushpanathan Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/3

10 Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/5

11 Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member Appointed 29 October 2012 1/5

12 Phan Su Han, Josephine Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/5

PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS IN BUSINESS COMMITTEE (PAIBC)         No. of Meetings: 3

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman - 2/2

2 Assoc. Prof. Dr. A. Thillaisundaram Member - 1/2

3 Assoc. Prof.  Dr. Kalsom Salleh Member - 1/2

4 Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member Resigned 1 November 2012 1/3

5 Chan Feoi Chun, Francis Member - 1/2

6 Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member Resigned 1 November 2012 1/3

7 Dato’ Mohd Nizam Zainordin Member Resigned 1 November 2012 0/3

8 Dr. Muslim Har Sani Mohamad Member - 0/2

9 Dr. Ng Boon Beng Member - 1/2

10 Lee Hin Kan Member - 1/2

11 Leong Kah Mun Member - 2/2

12 Mazhairul Jamaludin Member - 1/2

13 Mustapa Kamal Mohd Razali Member - 1/2

14 N. Chanthiran Nagappan Member - 1/2

15 Nur Hayati Baharuddin Member - 1/2

16 Prof. Dr. Ibrahim Kamal Abd Rahman Member - 0/2

17 Saat Esa Member - 0/2

18 Wong Weng Soon, Eugene Member - 1/2

19 Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member - 2/2

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

12 Salihin Abang Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/3

13 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 2/4

14 Subramaniam A V  Sankar Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

15 Wong Yok Chin Member Appointed 29 October 2012 3/3

16 Woon Yoke Lee Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

17 Yeo Eng Ping Member Re-appointed 29 October 2012 3/6
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REVIEW COMMITTEE (FSRC)              No. of Meetings: 7 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Chairman Appointed 29 October 2012 7/7

2 Lam Kee Soon Deputy Chairman - 3/7

3 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Member Appointed 29 October 2012 1/6

4 Asna Atqa Abdullah Member - 2/7

5 Assoc Prof Dr Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member Retired 29 October 2012 1/1

6 Chen Voon Hann Member - 4/7

7 Cheong Chye Hin, Raymond Member - 4/7

8 Cheong Thoong Farn Member - 4/7

9 Chan Kuan Chee, James Member - 5/7

10 Khairudin Ibrahim Member - 4/7

11 Khoo Siong Kee, Stephen Member - 2/7

12 Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member Retired as Chairman
Appointed as member   
29 October 2012

6/7

13 Ow Peng Li Member - 6/7

14 Siew Kar Wai Member Resigned 25 April 2013 3/4

15 Soon Teck Thong Member - 4/7

16 Subramaniam A V Sankar Member Appointed 29 October 2012 3/6

17 Sung Foong Fui, Sharon Member - 3/7

18 Tang Seng Choon Member - 3/7

19 Wong Kay Yong Member - 3/7

20 Chew Lam Koon Member Appointed 29 May 2013 0/2

21 Tan Lay Khoon  
(alternate member to Wong Kay Yong)

Alternate 
Member

Appointed 28 March 2013 3/4

Surveillance
Membership & Attendance from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013

SURUHANJAYA SYARIKAT MALAYSIA COMMITTEE (SSMC)       No. of Meetings: 3

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman - 2/3

2 Abraham Verghese Member Appointed 6 December 2012 0/1

3 Chanthiran Nagappan Member - 2/3

4 Ken Pushpanathan Member Appointed 6 December 2012 1/1

5 Lee Hin Kan Member - 3/3

6 Ng Kean Kok Member - 3/3

7 Ong Ching Chuan Member - 2/3

8 Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member Retired 6 December 2012 1/2

9 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member - 3/3

10 Subramaniam A V Sankar Member - 2/3

11 Thong Foo Vung Member - 2/3

12 Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member Appointed 6 December 2012 1/1
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PRACTICE REVIEW COMMITTEE (PRC)                    No. of Meetings: 4 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Johan Idris Chairman Appointed 17 October 2012 4/4

2 Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Member Appointed 17 October 2012 4/4

3 Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/3

4 Devanesan Evanson Member Retired 4 December 2012 0/1

5 Mohd Afrizan Husain Member Appointed 29 October 2012 2/3

6 Ooi Chee Kun Member - 4/4

7 Ooi Lip Aun, Eric Member Resigned 17 May 2013 2/3

8 Pauline Ho Member Appointed 29 May 2013 1/1

9 Siew Kah Toong, David Member - 3/4

10 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member Appointed 29 October 2012 3/3

11 Subramaniam A V Sankar Member Retired 4 December 2012 1/1

Representative of Membership
Membership & Attendance from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013

PUBLIC PRACTICE COMMITTEE (PPC)                    No. of Meetings: 6 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Chairman - 6/6

2 Chan Kuan Chee, James Member Appointed 6 December 2012 4/4

3 Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member - 4/6

4 Heng Ji Keng Member - 5/6

5 Huang Shze Jiun Member Appointed 6 December 2012 4/4

6 Kang Wei Geih, Billy Member Appointed 6 December 2012 4/4

7 Khaw Hock Hoe, Alex Member Appointed 6 December 2012 3/4

8 Leong Kah Mun Member Appointed 6 December 2012 4/4

9 Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 5/6

10 Ooi Chee Kun Member Appointed 6 December 2012 4/4

11 Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member Appointed 6 December 2012 2/4

12 Phan Su Han, Josephine Member - 5/6

13 Rejeesh Balasubramaniam Member Appointed 6 December 2012 3/4

14 Salihin Abang Member Appointed 6 December 2012 3/4 

15 Subramaniam A V Sankar Member - 5/6

16 Tan Cheng Hooi, Michael Member Appointed 6 December 2012 3/4

17 Tan Chee Beng, Desmond Member Appointed 6 December 2012 1/4

18 Tan Poh Ling Member Appointed 6 December 2012 2/4

19 Yap Weng Seong Member Appointed 11 January 2013 2/2

20 Beh Tok Koay Member Retired 20 December 2012 2/2

21 Johan Idris Member Retired 20 December 2012 1/2 

22 Lim Tian Huat Member Retired 20 December 2012 1/2 

23 Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member Retired 20 December 2012 2/2

24 Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member Retired 20 December 2012 2/2

25 Mohammad Faiz Mohd Azmi Member Retired 31 July 2012 0/1
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INSOLVENCY PRACTICE COMMITTEE (IPC)   No. of Meetings: 2 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1 Subramaniam A V Sankar Chairman - 2/2

2 Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member - 1/2

3 Datuk Ng Seing Liong Member - 2/2

4 Duar Tuan Kiat, Stephen Member - 2/2

5 Foo Lai-Don, Geoffrey Member - 1/2

6 Andrew Heng Member - 0/2

7 Kumar Kanagasingam Member - 2/2

8 Lim San Peen Member - 2/2

9 Lim Swee Geok, Amy Member - 1/2

10 Lim Tian Huat Member - 0/2

11 Mak Kum Choon Member - 1/2

12 Mea Fatt Leong Member - 2/2

13 Mohd Noh Jidin Member - 2/2

14 Mok Chew Yin Member - 2/2

15 Ong Hock An Member - 2/2

16 Wong Chee Lin Member - 2/2

ISLAMIC FINANCE COMMITTEE (IFC)

No. Name Designation Status

1 Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Chairman -

2 Badlisyah Abdul Ghani Member -

3 Daud Vicary Abdullah Member -

4 Eugene Wong Weng Soon Member Retired 10 December 2012

5 Mohamed Raslan Abdul Rahman Member Retired 17 January 2013

6 Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member -

7 Mohd Noh Jidin Member -

8 Nik Mohd Hasyudeen Yusoff Member -

9 Norfadelizan Abdul Rahman Member -

10 YM Raja Teh Maimunah Raja Abdul Aziz Member -

11 Rafe Haneef Member -

12 Zainal Izlan Zainal Abidin Member -
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Certificate of the Auditor General
on the Financial Statements
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2013

The notes on pages 56 to 76 form part of these financial statements

 30.6.2013 30.6.2012 1.7.2011

Note RM            RM             RM

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 12,380,559     3,347,866   3,282,666 

Intangible asset 4 78,860        113,737        39,670 

Investment 5 7,458            7,458          7,458 

12,466,877     3,469,061   3,329,794 

Current assets

Inventories 6 35,495 31,740        69,688

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 7 1,732,419 1,766,767   2,024,593

Subscriptions in arrears 8 - - -

Institutional trust account 9 3,396,342 6,243,792   6,022,671

Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions 10 14,223,923 14,170,753 12,548,123 

Cash and bank balances                             3,622,703 4,216,230   6,675,411 

23,010,882 26,429,282  27,340,486 

Total assets                                                                     35,477,759 29,898,343 30,670,280

Non-current liabilities

Islamic financing 11 5,561,200 - -

Deferred tax liabilities        12 129,207 130,085 49,468

5,690,407 130,085 49,468

Current liabilities

Subscription in advance 1,637,000 2,599,300   2,422,200 

Sundry payables and accruals 13 4,341,559 4,046,670   6,100,967 

Deferred income 14 1,113,439 762,062      600,213 

Deferred income - Government grants 15 611,624 1,584,659      944,618 

Tax payable 71,968 11,968      174,561 

7,775,590 9,004,659 10,242,559 

Total liabilities                                                                 13,465,997 9,134,744 10,292,027

Total net assets                                                           22,011,762 20,763,599 20,378,253

Accumulated fund                                                        22,011,762 20,763,599 20,378,253
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Statements of Profit or Loss  
and Other Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

The notes on pages 56 to 76 form part of these financial statements

2013 2012

Note RM RM

Membership income                  16 9,053,400 8,980,000

Income from events and conferences 17  15,429,432 11,547,636

Total revenue 24,482,832 20,527,636

Other income 18  2,395,644 2,315,443

Total income                                                                                                    26,878,476 22,843,079

Operating expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                                       3 512,025 414,756

Amortisation of intangible assets                                                                      4 44,977 58,090

Expenses for events and conferences                                                                  17 8,173,180 6,804,416

Employees’ benefits                                                                                19 11,826,556 10,619,500

Membership services                                                                     1,254,018 1,405,736

Other expenses  3,760,435 3,074,618

Total expenses                                                                                                    25,571,191 22,377,116

Surplus before tax 20 1,307,285 465,963

Income tax expenses 21 (59,122) (80,617)

Surplus for the financial year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the financial year

 1,248,163 385,346
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Statement of Changes in Accumulated Fund
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

The notes on pages 56 to 76 form part of these financial statements

RM

At  1 July 2011             20,378,253

Surplus and comprehensive income for the financial year 385,346

At 30 June 2012 20,763,599

Surplus and comprehensive income for the financial year 1,248,163

At 30 June 2013 22,011,762
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The notes on pages 56 to 76 form part of these financial statements

Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012

RM RM

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from members and non-members 26,377,498 29,348,777

Payments for expenditures (28,003,003) (31,043,422)

Cash used in operations (1,625,505) (1,694,645)

Government grants received 1,090,440 1,830,950

Rental income 37,800 31,200

Management fees 5,000 5,500

Tax paid - (162,593)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (492,265) 10,412

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
(Note A)

(9,109,914) (722,346)

Earnest money for purchase of new office suite (Note A) - (480,000)

Dividend received from institutional trust account  205,032 256,760

Interest received 448,140 319,744

Net cash used in investing activities (8,456,742) (625,842)

Cash flow from financing activities

Islamic financing from bank 5,561,200 -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,387,807) (615,430)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 24,630,775 25,246,205

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 21,242,968 24,630,775

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash in hand 6,033 4,314

Bank balances 3,616,670 4,211,916

Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions 14,223,923 14,170,753

Institutional trust account 3,396,342 6,243,792

21,242,968 24,630,775

Note A: Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment during the financial year 3 9,600,664 584,757

Earnest money paid in previous financial year (480,000) -

9,120,664 584,757

Purchase of intangible assets during the financial year 4 10,100 132,157

Add: Unpaid purchases as at previous financial year - 5,432

9,130,764 722,346

Less: Unpaid purchases as at financial year end (20,850) -

As per statement of cash flows 9,109,914 722,346
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
 
 The Institute is established under the Accountants Act, 

1967 and domiciled in Malaysia. The principal objectives/
activities of the Institute under the Act are:

a) to determine the qualifications of persons for admission as 
members;

b) to provide for the training and education by the Institute 
or any other body, of persons practising or intending to 
practice the profession of accountancy;

c) to approve the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
Qualifying Examination and to regulate and supervise the 
conduct of that Examination;

d) to regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy in 
Malaysia;

e) to promote, in any manner it thinks fit, the interests of the 
profession of accountancy in Malaysia;

f) to render pecuniary or other assistance to members or 
their dependents as it thinks fit with a view to protecting or 
promoting the welfare of members; and

g) generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the purpose of 
achieving any of the aforesaid objectives.

 There have been no significant changes in the nature of 
the principal objectives/activities of the Institute during the 
financial year.

 The principal place of business and registered address of 
the Institute is at Dewan Akauntan, 2 Jalan Tun Sambanthan 
3, Brickfields, 50470 Kuala Lumpur.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Council in accordance with a resolution of the Council on 
29 July 2013.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

 The financial statements of the Institute have been 
prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) and International Financial 
Reporting Standards. These are the Institute’s first 
financial statements prepared in accordance with MFRSs 
and MFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial 
Standards has been applied.

 In the previous years, the financial statements of the 
Institute were prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) in Malaysia. There are no 
financial impacts arising from the transition to MFRSs.

 The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared 
under the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated in 
the individual policy statements set out below. 

 These financial statements are presented in Ringgit 
Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Institute’s functional currency. 
All financial information is presented in RM.

2.2 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 The relevant accounting standards, amendments and 

interpretations of the MFRS framework that have been 
issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
(“MASB”) which have not been adopted by the Institute are 
as follows:

 
Effective for financial period beginning on or after  
1 January 2013

MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

MFRS 119 Employee Benefits (revised)

Amendments 
to MFRS 1

First-time Adoption of MFRS-
Government Loans

Amendments 
to MFRS 1

First-time Adoption of MFRS (Annual 
Improvement 2009-2011 Cycle)

Amendments 
to MFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and  
Financial Liabilities

Amendments 
to MFRS 101

Presentation of Financial Statements 
(Annual Improvement 2009-2011 Cycle)

Amendments 
to MFRS 116

Property, Plant and Equipment (Annual 
Improvement 2009-2011 Cycle)

Amendments 
to MFRS 132

Financial Instruments: Presentation 
(Annual Improvement 2009-2011 Cycle)

Annual Improvements to IC  Interpretations and MFRSs 
2009-2011 Cycle

 

     

 Effective for financial period beginning on or after  
1 January 2014

Amendments 
to MFRS 132

Financial Instruments Presentation 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

 
Effective for financial period beginning on or after  
1 January 2015

Amendments 
to MFRS 132

Financial Instruments Presentation 
– Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009)

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010)

Amendments 
to MFRS 9

Mandatory Effective Date of MFRS 9 
and Transition Disclosures

 

 The Institute will adopt the above MFRSs and amendments 
to MFRSs, when they become effective, and they are 
expected not to have any significant impact on the financial 
statements of the Institute upon their initial application 
except the following:

 MFRS 9, Financial Instruments
 MFRS 9 replaces the guidance in MFRS 139, Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. MFRS 
9 replaces the parts of MFRS 139 that relate to the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. 
MFRS 9 divides all financial assets into 2 categories – 
those measured at amortised cost and those measured 

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2013
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at fair value, based on the entity’s business model for 
managing its financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the instruments. For financial liabilities, 
the standard retains most of the MFRS 139 requirement.

 An entity choosing to measure a financial liability at fair 
value will present the portion of the change in its fair value 
due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other 
comprehensive income rather than within profit or loss. 
There will be no financial impact on the financial statements 
of the Institute upon its initial application. 

 MFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement
 MFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement defines fair value, 

provides guidance on how to determine fair value and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurements. 
The scope of MFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both 
financial instrument items and non-financial instrument 
items for which other MFRSs require or permit fair 
value measurements and disclosures about fair value 
measurements, except in specified circumstances. In 
general, the disclosure requirements in MFRS 13 are more 
extensive than those required in the current standards and 
therefore there will be no financial impact on the financial 
statements of the Institute upon its initial application but 
may impact its future disclosures.

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES 

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to the periods presented in these financial 
statements and in preparing the opening MFRS statements 
of financial position of the Institute at 1 July 2011 (the 
transition date to MFRS framework).

a)  Property, Plant and Equipment
 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially 

recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is 
probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Institute and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.

 Cost includes expenditure that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition 
for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are 
capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on 
borrowing costs. 

 Subsequent to recognition, costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Institute and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred. 

 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment 
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

 Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an infinite life. 
Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is 
computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
life of the assets as follows:

 
 Buildings 50 years

Office equipment 10 years

Furniture and fittings 10 years

Computer equipment   3 years

Renovation 10 years

 

 
 Office suite under construction included in the property, 

plant and equipment is not depreciated as this asset is not 
available for use. 

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss on 
derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in 
the year the asset is derecognised.

b)  Intangible Asset - Computer Software
 Computer software is measured initially at cost. Following 

initial acquisition, computer software is measured at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

 The useful lives of computer software are assessed to be 
finite. Computer software is amortised over their estimated 
useful lives of 3 years and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The 
amortisation expenses on computer software with finite 
lives are recognised in profit or loss.

 Gains or loss arising from derecognition of computer 
software is measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised.

c)  Impairment of non-financial assets
 The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether 

there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If 
any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment 
assessment for an asset is required, the Institute makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

  
 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 

fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)).
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 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.  Where the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
written down to its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit 
or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except 
for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation 
was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, 
the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

 
 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to 

whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the 
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
its recoverable amount. The increase cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss 
unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

d) Inventories
 Inventory such as publications are stated at the lower of 

cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on first-in, 
first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

e) Subscriptions in Arrears
 Subscriptions in arrears for 6 months and above due 

from members who were removed from the Register 
of Members and where, in the opinion of the Council, 
these debts are no longer recoverable are written off to 
the profit or loss.  An impairment of receivables is carried 
out based on a review of all subscription in arrears at 
the reporting date. Subsequent recovery is taken up on 
a cash basis. Members who have ongoing investigation 
and disciplinary proceedings instituted against them and 
whose subscriptions are in arrears for more than 6 months 
will not be removed from the Register of Members.

f) Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank 

balances, deposits and placement with licensed financial 
institutions and highly liquid investments which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The statement of 
cash flows is prepared using the direct method.

g) Impairment of financial assets
 The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether there 

is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

(i) Receivables and other financial assets carried at 
amortised cost 

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the 
Institute considers factors such as the significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in 
payments. Certain categories of financial assets that are 
assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently 
assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on 
similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment 
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Institute’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period and observable changes in national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 
the impairment loss directly for all financial  assets with  
the exception of  trade receivables and other receivables, 
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account.  When trade receivables and other 
receivables become uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account.

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to 
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount 
of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Unquoted equity securities carried at cost 
 If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse 

changes in the business environment where the issuer 
operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on their 
assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of 
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return 
for a similar financial asset. The difference is recognised in 
profit or loss. Such impairment losses are not reversed in 
subsequent periods.

h) Financial Assets
 The Institute recognises all financial assets in its statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Institute becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

(i) Classification and measurement 
 Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the 

case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

 Financial assets are classified into financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets, 
depending on the nature and purpose of the financial 
assets and are determined at the time of initial recognition.  
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 The Institute categorised its financial assets as follows:

 Loans and receivables
 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans 
and receivables.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 
impaired, and through the amortisation process.

 Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, 
except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months 
after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.

 Available-for-sale financial assets
 Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investment 

in equity and debt securities instruments that are not 
held for trading and also do not fall in other categories of 
financial assets.

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are 
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes 
in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, 
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments 
and interest calculated using the effective interest method 
are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.  Interest 
income calculated using the effective interest method is 
recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-
sale equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when 
the Institute’s right to receive payment is established.

 Investment in equity instruments whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss.

(ii) Derecognition of financial assets 
 A financial asset is derecognised when, and only when, the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expired or it transfers the financial asset without retaining 
control or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset to another party.

 On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets 
 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 

of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
period generally established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases and 
sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised 
on the trade date i.e., the date that the Institute commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.

(i) Financial Liabilities
 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance 

of the contractual agreements entered into and the 
definitions of a financial liability. 

 The Institute recognises all financial liabilities in its 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instruments.

(i) Classification and measurement 
 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) 
or other financial liabilities. The Institute categorised 
its financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. Other 
financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus 
directly attributable transaction  cost   and  subsequently 
measured  at  amortised  cost  using the  effective interest 
method. Other financial liabilities of the Institute include 
subscription in advance and payables.

 For other financial liabilities, gain or losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and 
through the amortised process.

(ii) Derecognition of a financial liability 
 A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, 

the obligation specified in the contract is extinguished. 

 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(j) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a present 

legal and constructive obligation as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate.  If it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.  If the effect 
of time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as finance cost.

(k) Government Grants
 Government grants are recognised initially at their fair values 

in the statement of financial position as deferred income 
where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be 
received and all conditions attached will be complied.

 Grants related to property, plant and equipment are set 
up as deferred income and recognised as income on a 
systematic basis over the estimated lives of the assets. 
Grants that compensate the Institute for expenses incurred 
are recognised as income over the periods to match the 
cost that the grant is intended to compensate. These are 
shown as a net effect in the profit or loss.
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(l) Income Recognition
(i) Membership subscription and practising certificate fees 

are payable annually at the beginning of the financial year. 
Only subscription which is attributable to the current 
financial year is recognised as income. Subscription 
relating to periods beyond the current financial year 
is recognised as subscription in advance in deferred 
income under current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position.

(ii) Membership admission is recognised upon approval by 
Council. Membership subscription and admission fees 
for  applicants  approved  after  the  end  of  the  financial 
year but received during the financial year are taken up as 
deferred income  under  current liabilities in the statement 
of financial position.

(iii) Income from events and conferences is recognised in the 
period the services are provided. Advanced payments 
received from events and conferences are recognised as 
deferred income under current liabilities in the statement 
of financial position.

(iv) Processing fee on registration as a candidate for the 
Qualifying Examination is recognised upon receipt but 
the candidacy fee is only recognised upon approval 
by the Examination Committee. Examination fees 
are recognised twice every calendar year when the 
examination is held. Tuition fees are recognised over the 
tuition term.

(v) Income from advertisements placed in the Institute’s 
journal is recognised over the advertisement period. 
Income received for such advertisements that take place 
before the said period is taken up as deferred income. 
Sponsorship income is deferred until the activities are 
rolled out.

(vi) Deferred income on review of accreditation represents 
the initial amount agreed, to the extent that it is probable 
that they will result in revenue and can be measured 
reliably. The deferred income is recognised in profit or 
loss in proportion to the stage of completion. 

(vii) Income from sale of technical materials/publications is 
recognised when physical control of the goods passes 
to the purchasers.

(viii) Practice review income is recognised upon completion of 
field work and subsequent issuance of the draft practice 
review report to the firm.

(ix) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.

(x) Interest income is recognised based on an effective  
yield basis.

(xi) Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.

(m) Income Tax
 Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current 

and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount of 
income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the 
year and is measured using the tax rates that have been 
enacted at the reporting date.

 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences at the financial year end between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes. 

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except for the deferred tax liability 
that arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax assets to be utilised.

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax is recognised as income or expense and included in 
the statement of profit or loss for the period, except when 
it arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in 
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised 
directly in equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(n) Employee Benefits
 

(i) Short Term Employee Benefits 
 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security 

contributions are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the associated services are rendered by 
employees of the Institute. Short term accumulating 
compensated absences such as paid annual leave are 
recognised when services are rendered by employees 
that increase their entitlement to future compensated 
absences. Short term non-accumulated compensated 
absences such as sick leave are recognised when the 
absences occur.

(ii) Defined Contributions Plans 
 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit 

plans under which the Institute pays fixed contributions 
into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if 
any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employee benefits relating to employee benefits relating 
to employee services in the current and preceding 
financial years. Such contributions are recognised as 
an expense in the profit or loss in the period in which 
the related service is performed.  As required by law in 
Malaysia, such contribution is made to the Employees 
Provident Fund (“EPF”).
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(o) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Ringgit 

Malaysia, which is also the Institute functional currency at 
the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates or, 
where settlement has not yet taken place at the end of the 
financial year, at the approximate exchange rates prevailing 
at that date. All exchange gains and losses are taken up in 
the profit or loss.

2.4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS 

 There were no significant judgements made in applying 
the accounting policies of the Institute which may have 
significant effects on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

 Management makes key assumptions concerning the 
future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

 The following represents a summary of the key sources of 
estimation uncertainty:

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
Council estimates that the useful lives of the property, 
plant and equipment to be within 3 years to 50 years. 
The carrying amount of the Institute’s property, plant 
and equipment as at 30 June 2013 was RM12,380,559 
(30.6.2012: RM3,347,866; 1.7.2011: RM3,282,666). 
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological 
developments could impact the economic useful lives 
and residual values of the property, plant and equipment. 
Therefore, the future depreciation charge could be revised.

 For intangible assets, changes in the expected useful 
lives or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing 
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortisation expenses on computer software with finite 
lives are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of receivables
 The Institute makes an allowance for impairment 

losses based on an assessment of the recoverability of 
receivables. Allowances are applied to receivables where 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In assessing 
the extent of irrecoverable debts, the Council has given 
due consideration to all pertinent information relating to the 
ability of the debtors to settle debts. Where the expectation 
is different from the original estimate, such difference will 
impact the carrying value of receivables. The carrying 
amounts of the receivables and the cumulative allowance 
for impairment losses are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 8.

(iii) Income taxes and deferred tax
 Estimation is required to determine the provision for 

income taxes.  There are transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. The Institute recognises 
liabilities for tax based on estimates of assessment of 
the tax liability due. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provisions, where applicable, in the periods in 
which such determination is made.

 Deferred tax implications arising from the changes in 
corporate income tax rates are measured with reference 
to the estimated realisation and settlement of temporary 
differences in the future periods in which the tax rates 
are expected to apply, based on the tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  While 
the Institute’s estimates on the realisation and settlement 
of temporary differences are based on the available 
information at the reporting date, future operating 
performance and other factors could potentially impact 
on the actual timing and amount of temporary differences 
realised and settled.  Any difference between the actual 
amount and the estimated amount would be recognised in 
profit and loss in the period in which actual realisation and 
settlement occurs.

(iv) Stage of completion for review of accreditation
 The stage of completion for the review of accreditation 

is assessed by reference to the proportion of works 
performed as of the financial position date.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 
As at end of the financial year, the Institute has yet to receive the strata title for a leasehold shop lot in Sabah acquired in financial 
year ended 30 June 2000 with a net carrying amount of RM286,461 (30.6.2012: RM294,361; 1.7.2011: RM302,261).

Included in property, plant and equipment are fully depreciated assets which are still in use, with cost totaling RM1,983,147 
(30.6.2012: RM2,224,874; 1.7.2011: RM1,482,330).

During the financial year, depreciation expense totaling RM66,667 (2012: RM38,889) included in the income statements was related 
to assets acquired using government grant for Upgrading and Modernisation programmes. (Note 15(c))

At the date of the statement of financial position, office suite under construction with a carrying amount of RM 9,055,574 was 
pledged with a bank as collateral for an Islamic financing. (see Note 11)

Freehold
Land

RM

    
Buildings

RM

 Office 
suite under 

construction 
RM

Computer
Equipment

RM
Renovation

RM

Furniture & 
Fittings

RM

Office
Equipment

RM
Total

RM

COST

At 1 July 2012 580,160 2,426,239 - 2,105,656 1,257,573 508,644 814,834 7,693,106

Additions - - 9,055,574 170,532 289,357 61,462 23,739 9,600,664

Write-offs - - - (376,722) (50,182) (20,218) (72,216) (519,338)

At 30 June 2013 580,160 2,426,239 9,055,574 1,899,466 1,496,748 549,888 766,357 16,774,432

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 July 2012 - 935,002 - 1,596,912 933,775 360,127 519,424 4,345,240

Charge for the year 
(Note 20)

- 48,644 - 268,731 106,300 32,643 55,707 512,025

Write-offs - - - (376,627) (17,412) (10,019) (59,334) (463,392)

At 30 June 2013 - 983,646 - 1,489,016 1,022,663 382,751 515,797 4,393,873

NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT AT 30 
JUNE 2013

580,160 1,442,593 9,055,574      410,450 474,085       167,137   250,560 12,380,559 

COST

At 1 July 2011 580,160 2,426,239 - 1,678,040 1,340,418 541,296 819,605 7,385,758

Additions - - - 519,162 - 8,803 56,792 584,757

Write-offs - - - (91,546) (82,845) (41,455) (61,563) (277,409)

At 30 June 2012 580,160 2,426,239 - 2,105,656 1,257,573 508,644 814,834 7,693,106

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 July 2011 - 886,357 - 1,492,674 878,146 346,583 499,332 4,103,092

Charge for the year 
(Note 20)

- 48,645 - 195,758 84,308 29,068 56,977 414,756

Write-offs - - - (91,520) (28,679) (15,524) (36,885) (172,608)

At 30 June 2012 - 935,002 - 1,596,912 933,775 360,127 519,424 4,345,240

NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT AT  
30 JUNE 2012

580,160  1,491,237 - 508,744 323,798 148,517 295,410 3,347,866

NET CARRYING 
AMOUNT AT  
1 JULY 2011

580,160 1,539,882 - 185,366 462,272 194,713 320,273 3,282,666
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5. INVESTMENT

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011
 RM  RM  RM 

At cost:-
Investment, unquoted 7,458 7,458 7,458

The Institute has acquired 9.09% share in the issued and paid-up share capital of Ultimate Professional Centre (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. 
(“UPC”) in the financial year ended 30 June 1996. 

6. INVENTORIES

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011
 RM  RM  RM 

At cost:-
Publications, souvenirs and merchandise items 35,495              31,740 69,688

During the financial year, the amount of inventories recognised as expense was RM101,280 (2012: RM 177,195).

4. INTANGIBLE ASSET

 30.6.2013 30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

Computer software

COST
At beginning of financial year 251,157         119,000   119,000  
Addition during the financial year 10,100 132,157 -
At end of financial year 261,257 251,157  119,000 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At beginning of financial year 137,420 79,330 39,667
Amortisation for the financial year (Note 20) 44,977 58,090 39,663
At end of financial year 182,397 137,420 79,330

NET CARRYING AMOUNT AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 78,860 113,737 39,670

The computer software represents the costs of software acquired. The costs of software acquired, including all directly attributable 
costs of preparing the assets for their intended use, are amortised on the straight line basis over the estimated useful life of 3 years.
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7. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011
 RM  RM  RM 

Amount due from events and conferences participants         362,953 391,074 684,720
Sundry receivables 534,133 306,772 673,316

897,086 697,846 1,358,036

Less : Allowance for impairment losses        (28,769)  (29,544)  (31,054)

868,317 668,302 1,326,982

Prepayments 793,569          537,631 647,527 
Sundry deposits 70,533 560,834 50,084 

864,102         1,098,465  697,611

1,732,419 1,766,767 2,024,593

The credit period granted to receivables ranges from 30 days to 60 days (30.6.2012: 30 days to 60 days; 1.7.2011: 30 days to 60 days).

The ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:
 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011 

 RM  RM  RM

Neither past due nor impaired 382,332 339,470 481,395
1 to 30 days past due not impaired 244,500 132,204 279,031
31 to 60 days past due not impaired 77,775 20,249 294,789
61 to 90 days past due not impaired 75,569 69,901 66,329
More than 90 days past due but not impaired 88,141 106,478 205,438

868,317 668,302 1,326,982
Impaired 28,769 29,544 31,054

897,086 697,846 1,358,036

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Institute.  None 
of the Institute’s receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the financial year. The Institute 
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired
Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to debtors with slower repayment pattern.  Based on past experience, the 
Council of the Institute is confident to collect the debts and is of the opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary in 
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the balances are still considered fully 
recoverable.

None of the Institute’s receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the financial year. The 
Institute does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Receivables that are impaired
Receivables that are impaired at the reporting date are as follows:

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011
 RM  RM  RM

Receivables - nominal amounts 28,769           29,544 31,054
Less : Allowance for impairment losses (28,769)        (29,544) (31,054)

- - -

These receivables have been individually determined to be impaired as the Council has, based on its assessment at the reporting 
date, estimated these receivables to be irrecoverable.
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8. SUBSCRIPTIONS IN ARREARS

In accordance with the (Membership and Council) Rules 2001, Part II, para 7(1), the Council may require the Registrar to remove 
from the register the name of any member who is in arrears for 6 months or more in the payment of any fees. Members who have 
ongoing investigation and disciplinary proceedings instituted against them and who are in arrears of more than 6 months will not 
be removed from the Register of Members. An estimate is made for allowance for impairment losses based on a review of all 
subscriptions in arrears at the reporting date.  

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

Subscriptions in arrears 9,250 5,750 7,750
Less : Allowance for impairment losses (9,250) (5,750) (7,750) 

- - - 

9. INSTITUTIONAL TRUST ACCOUNT

The Institute had placed funds in an Institutional Trust Account maintained with Amanah Raya Berhad, a public limited liability 
company domiciled in Malaysia. The gross dividend rate receivable by the Institute is 4.25% per annum (30.6.2012: 4.25% per 
annum; 1.7.2011: 4.25% per annum).

10. FIXED DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
 
The effective interest rates receivable for the fixed deposits placed with licensed financial institutions range from 2.75%  to 3.80% 
(30.6.2012: 2.75%  to 3.68%; 1.7.2011: 2.25%  to 3.10%) per annum.  The maturity of the fixed deposits ranges from 3 days to 1 year 
from the date of the statement of financial position (30.6.2012: 3 days to 1 year; 1.7.2011: 30 days to 1 year).

11. ISLAMIC FINANCING

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

Repayable between two to five years 1,042,725 - -
Repayable more than five years 4,518,475 - -

5,561,200 - -

The movement of allowance for impairment losses during the financial year is as follows:
 2013  2012

RM RM

At beginning of financial year 29,544 31,054
Impairment losses recognised during the financial year 5,725 20,460
Reversal of impairment losses (6,500) (18,770)
Written off - (3,200)   
At end of financial year 28,769 29,544

The Institute obtained an Islamic financing amounting to RM18.9 million during the financial year to part finance the acquisition of 
2 units of office suite in Bangsar South. The financing is secured over the property that is currently under construction (see note 
3). The Effective Profit Rate “EPR” of the financing is at 4.2% per annum. However, the EPR should not exceed the Ceiling Profit 
Rate “CPR” of 10.75% per annum.

7. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
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12. DEFERRED TAXATION

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

Deferred tax liabilities - property, plant and equipment 129,207 130,085 49,468

At beginning of financial year 130,085 49,468 (107,163)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 21)
- property, plant and equipment (878) 80,617 35,260

- provisions - - 70,524

- tax losses - - 50,847
(878) 80,617 156,631

At end of financial year 129,207 130,085 49,468

At end of financial year
Deferred tax liabilities
- property, plant and equipment 129,207 130,085 49,468

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items at the reporting date as there is lack of a practicable 
basis for determining the probability of future realisability of the potential tax benefits generated from the particular business source.

 30.6.2013  30.6.2012  1.7.2011
 RM  RM  RM

 
Deductible temporary differences            304,616           346,223 380,742
Unabsorbed capital allowance            934,461 711,489 346,573
Unutilised tax losses        1,896,903 1,896,903 195,564

       3,135,980   2,954,615 922,879

Potential deferred tax assets not recognised at 24%           752,635   709,108 221,491

11. ISLAMIC FINANCING (continued)

The financing is given a grace period of 48 months for construction in which the profit is serviced by the developer until vacant 
possession is delivered. Thereafter the financing is repayable over 192 monthly instalments. The property is expected to be 
completed in the first half of 2016. There is no lock in period, the Institute may request for early settlement of the financing by 
giving 30 days’ notice to the Bank.

The Bank has undertaken to grant Ibra’ (rebate) of such amount if any where the EPR is less than CPR; upon early settlement of 
the facility; and/or upon receipt by the Bank of early settlement amount pursuant to occurrence of any of the Events of Default per 
facility agreement.

During the financial year, RM5,561,200 was drawn down based on progress billings from the developer.
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15. DEFERRED INCOME – GOVERNMENT GRANTS

FRSIC ICS  SSCDF  Capacity 
Building 

SMIDEC 
Training Grant

 Total 

RM RM RM  RM  RM  RM 
30.6.2013
Grants received 2,000,000 125,000 565,400 1,372,400 2,560,554 6,623,354
Deferred income 
released

(2,000,000) (90,629) (565,400) (1,133,697) (2,222,004) (6,011,730)

- 34,371 - 238,703 338,550 611,624

30.6.2012
Grants received 2,000,000 125,000 565,400 985,200 1,857,314 5,532,914
Deferred income 
released

(1,928,695) (83,820) (143,781) (303,071) (1,488,888) (3,948,255)

71,305 41,180 421,619 682,129 368,426 1,584,659

1.7.2011
Grants received 1,700,000 125,000 565,400 - 1,311,564 3,701,964
Deferred income 
released

(1,551,454) (88,956) (31,298) - (1,085,638) (2,757,346)

148,546 36,044 534,102 - 225,926 944,618

14. DEFERRED INCOME
30.6.2013 30.6.2012 1.7.2011

 RM  RM  RM 

Membership admission pending Council’s approval    243,482 292,232 285,133
Practising certificate holders pending Council’s approval 13,500        9,000 7,500
Deferred Income - Existing members      19,600      15,950 29,350
Deferred Income - Events and conferences    676,923    425,645 266,309
Deferred Income from review on accreditation of universities 118,200 - -
Deferred Income - Others    41,734      19,235 11,921

1,113,439    762,062 600,213

13. SUNDRY PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
30.6.2013 30.6.2012 1.7.2011

 RM  RM  RM 

Sundry payables 533,724   665,985 514,380
Accruals - Events and conferences expenses    639,721    569,405 737,345
Accruals - Employee benefits 2,363,135 2,343,272 1,892,434
Accruals - Education expenses 447,000 247,620 9,000
Accruals- Others 357,979 220,388 611,321
WCOA 2010’s accruals - - 2,336,487

4,341,559 4,046,670 6,100,967

The credit periods granted by sundry payables to the Institute ranges from 14 days to 60 days (30.6.2012: 14 days to 60 days; 
1.7.2011: 14 days to 60 days).
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15. DEFERRED INCOME – GOVERNMENT GRANTS (continued)

(a) FRSIC
 The Capital Market Development Fund (“CMDF”) has approved a Grant to the Institute during the financial year ended 30 June 

2008. This grant is for the establishment and operation of a dedicated secretariat to manage the implementation of Financial 
Reporting Standards Implementation Committee (“FRSIC”). It is receivable yearly over a period of 5 years from 1 October 2007 
to 30 September 2012 totaling RM2,000,000. An amount of RM 300,000 was received in the previous financial year.

 Detailed below is the movement of FRSIC account during the financial year:

30.6.2013 30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

(i) Grant received
At beginning of financial year 2,000,000  1,700,000  1,300,000 
Grant received during the financial year                -    300,000  400,000 
At end of financial year 2,000,000  2,000,000  1,700,000 

(ii) Deferred income released to compensate the related  
expenditure incurred
At beginning of financial year 1,928,695  1,551,454 1,104,602
Advisory - - 12,000
Meeting               5             603 1,471
Salaries      71,300      376,638 433,381

     71,305      377,241 446,852
At end of financial year 2,000,000  1,928,695 1,551,454

(b) ICS
 This represents grant from the Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia of RM125,000 for the Institute to develop integrated cases 

to be used by universities under a newly introduced course, namely Integrated Case Study (“ICS”).

 Detailed below is the movement of ICS account during the financial year:

30.6.2013 30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

(i) Grant received
At beginning / end of financial year  125,000  125,000  125,000 

(ii) Deferred income released to compensate the  related  
expenditure incurred
At beginning of financial year           83,820       88,956 15,902
Meeting and workshop                   -           4,000 71,523
Travelling                   -              402 1,531
Printing of ICS Books                209         8,359 -
Honorarium             6,600         6,000 -
Reimbursement from UPM                   -        (23,897) -

            6,809        (5,136) 73,054
At end of financial year           90,629       83,820 88,956



Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2013

Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     69

15
. D

E
FE

R
R

E
D

 IN
C

O
M

E
 –

 G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 (c
on

tin
ue

d
)

(c
) 

S
S

C
D

F
 

R
M

1.
13

08
 m

illi
on

 w
as

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
un

de
r 

th
e 

M
al

ay
si

an
 I

nd
us

tr
ia

l D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
A

ut
ho

rit
y 

(“
M

ID
A”

) 
S

er
vi

ce
 S

ec
to

r 
C

ap
ac

ity
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

Fu
nd

 (
“S

S
C

D
F”

) 
w

ith
 R

M
63

0,
80

0 
fo

r 
U

pg
ra

di
ng

 a
nd

 
M

od
er

ni
sa

tio
n 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

an
d 

R
M

50
0,

00
0 

fo
r 

Tr
ai

ni
ng

/O
ut

re
ac

h 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e.
 5

0%
 o

f t
he

 g
ra

nt
 a

m
ou

nt
in

g 
to

 R
M

56
5,

40
0 

w
as

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
by

 t
he

 In
st

itu
te

 in
 t

he
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r 
an

d 
th

e 
ba

la
nc

e 
w

ill 
be

 c
la

im
ab

le
 u

po
n 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 th

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

es
. 

 
A

s 
re

po
rt

ed
 la

st
 fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r 

M
ID

A
 h

as
 g

ra
nt

ed
 a

pp
ro

va
l f

or
 t

he
 e

xt
en

si
on

 o
f t

im
el

in
e 

to
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
12

 fo
r 

th
e 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 a

ll 
th

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

es
. 

A
s 

at
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

da
te

, 
th

e 
In

st
itu

te
 h

as
 

su
bm

itt
ed

 to
 M

ID
A

 th
e 

fu
ll 

re
po

rt
 o

f u
til

is
at

io
n 

an
d 

is
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 w
ai

tin
g 

fo
r 

M
ID

A’
s 

ap
pr

ov
al

 fo
r 

re
im

bu
rs

em
en

t o
f t

he
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

.

30
.6

.2
01

3
30

.6
.2

01
2

1.
7.

20
11

U
p

g
ra

d
in

g
 &

 
M

o
d

er
ni

sa
ti

o
n  

- 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 /
 

O
u

tr
ea

ch

To
ta

l
U

p
g

ra
d

in
g

 &
 

M
o

d
er

ni
sa

ti
o

n 
- 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 /
 

O
u

tr
ea

ch
To

ta
l

U
p

g
ra

d
in

g
 &

 
M

o
d

er
ni

sa
ti

o
n 

- 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t

Tr
ai

ni
ng

 /
 

O
u

tr
ea

ch
To

ta
l

R
M

R
M

R
M

 R
M

 
 R

M
 

R
M

 R
M

 
 R

M
 

R
M

(i
)

G
ra

nt
 r

ec
ei

ve
d

A
t b

eg
in

ni
ng

 /
 e

nd
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
31

5,
40

0
25

0,
00

0
56

5,
40

0
31

5,
40

0
25

0,
00

0
56

5,
40

0
31

5,
40

0
25

0,
00

0
56

5,
40

0

(ii
)

D
ef

er
re

d
 in

co
m

e 
re

le
as

ed
 

to
 c

o
m

p
en

sa
te

 t
he

  r
el

at
ed

 
ex

p
en

d
it

u
re

 in
cu

rr
ed

A
t b

eg
in

ni
ng

 o
f fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r

77
,2

44
66

,5
37

14
3,

78
1

31
,2

98
-

31
,2

98
30

,7
67

-
30

,7
67

M
ee

tin
g 

an
d 

w
or

ks
ho

p
3,

41
6

-
3,

41
6

-
-

-
53

1
-

53
1

Fa
ci

lit
at

or
 tr

ai
ni

ng
 e

xp
en

se
s

-
66

,6
70

66
,6

70
-

66
,5

37
66

,5
37

-
-

-
P

rin
tin

g 
of

 M
IA

 Q
E

 S
tu

d
y 

Te
xt

s 
 

an
d 

w
or

ks
ho

p 
m

an
ua

ls
94

,8
66

-
94

,8
66

-
-

-
-

-
-

Tr
av

el
lin

g
-

-
-

57
-

57
-

-
-

H
on

or
ar

iu
m

-
-

-
7,

00
0

-
7,

00
0

-
-

-
P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l f

ee
s

19
0,

00
0

-
19

0,
00

0
-

-
-

-
-

-
D

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

of
 a

ss
et

s 
ac

qu
ire

d 
us

in
g 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t g

ra
nt

   
(N

ot
e 

3,
 N

ot
e1

8
)

66
,6

67
-

66
,6

67
38

,8
89

-
38

,8
89

-
-

-

A
t e

nd
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
43

2,
19

3
13

3,
20

7
56

5,
40

0
77

,2
44

66
,5

37
14

3,
78

1
31

,2
98

-
31

,2
98



Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2013

70     I     Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013

(d
) 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G

M
er

g
er

 &
 

A
ffi

lia
ti

o
n

C
A

R
E

 
A

w
ar

en
es

s
C

A
R

E
 

S
o

ft
w

ar
e

S
ys

te
m

C
A

R
E

 
M

en
to

ri
ng

N
o

n
-A

ct
g

 
S

tu
d

en
t 

C
o

u
rs

e

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

A
cc

re
d

it
at

io
n

M
F

R
S

co
u

rs
es

To
ta

l

30
.6

.2
01

3
 R

M
 

 R
M

 
 R

M
 

 R
M

 
R

M
R

M
R

M
R

M
(i

)
G

ra
nt

 r
ec

ei
ve

d
A

t b
eg

in
ni

ng
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
70

,0
00

79
,0

00
15

0,
00

0
15

7,
90

0
58

,3
00

12
0,

00
0

35
0,

00
0

98
5,

20
0

G
ra

nt
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r

-
28

,2
00

50
,0

00
75

,7
00

58
,3

00
-

17
5,

00
0

38
7,

20
0

G
ra

nt
 tr

an
sf

er
 fr

om
/(

to
)

6,
30

4
40

,0
00

-
(4

6,
30

4)
    

-
-

-
-

G
ra

nt
 tr

an
sf

er
 to

 M
FR

S
 c

ou
rs

es
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

-
(1

06
,0

00
)

(6
0,

00
0

)
-

-
16

6,
00

0
-

A
t e

nd
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
76

,3
04

14
7,

20
0

94
,0

00
12

7,
29

6
11

6,
60

0
12

0,
00

0
69

1,
00

0
1,

37
2,

40
0

(ii
)

D
ef

er
re

d
 in

co
m

e 
re

le
as

ed
 t

o
 c

o
m

p
en

sa
te

 
th

e 
re

la
te

d
 e

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 in
cu

rr
ed

A
t b

eg
in

ni
ng

 o
f fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r

   
  3

3,
78

0 
86

,8
41

   
   

   
   

   
-   

   
  2

9,
45

0 
   

   
   

   
-   

   
   

   
   

   
-   

15
3,

00
0

   
30

3,
07

1 
M

er
ge

r 
&

 A
ffi

lia
tio

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
   

  4
2,

52
4 

-
   

   
   

   
   

-   
 -

              
   

   
   

   
-   

   
   

   
   

   
-   

-
   

  4
2,

52
4 

Th
e 

C
ha

rt
er

ed
 A

cc
ou

nt
an

ts
 R

el
ev

an
t 

E
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

(“
C

A
R

E
”)

 A
w

ar
en

es
s 

ex
pe

ns
es

   
   

   
   

-   
38

,0
14

-
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
-   

   
   

   
   

   
-   

-
   

  3
8,

01
4

C
A

R
E

 S
ys

te
m

-
-

   
  5

4,
40

0 
-

-
-

-
   

 5
4,

40
0 

C
A

R
E

 M
en

to
rin

g 
ex

pe
ns

es
-   

-
-   

   
 8

1,
90

1 
   

   
   

   
-   

   
   

   
   

   
-   

-
   

  8
1,

90
1

N
on

- 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
B

rid
gi

ng
 C

ou
rs

e
-

-
-

-
   

   
 4

0,
54

0 
-

-
   

  4
0,

54
0 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f a

cc
re

di
ta

tio
n

-
-

-
-

-
   

   
  3

5,
24

7 
-

   
 3

5,
24

7 
M

FR
S

 c
ou

rs
es

-
-

-
-

-
-

53
8,

00
0

53
8,

00
0

A
t e

nd
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
 7

6,
30

4 
12

4,
85

5
   

  5
4,

40
0 

   
  1

11
,3

51
 

   
   

 4
0,

54
0 

   
   

  3
5,

24
7 

69
1,

00
0

1,
13

3,
69

7 

30
.6

.2
01

2
(i

)
G

ra
nt

 r
ec

ei
ve

d
G

ra
nt

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r
   

70
,0

00
 

79
,0

00
 

   
15

0,
00

0 
   

15
7,

90
0 

   
   

 5
8,

30
0 

12
0,

00
0 

35
0,

00
0

   
98

5,
20

0 
A

t e
nd

 o
f fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r

   
70

,0
00

 
79

,0
00

 1
50

,0
00

 
   

15
7,

90
0 

   
   

58
,3

00
 

12
0,

00
0 

35
0,

00
0

 9
85

,2
00

 

(ii
)

D
ef

er
re

d
 in

co
m

e 
re

le
as

ed
 t

o
 c

o
m

p
en

sa
te

 
th

e 
re

la
te

d
 e

xp
en

d
it

u
re

 in
cu

rr
ed

M
er

ge
r 

&
 A

ffi
lia

tio
n 

ex
pe

ns
es

33
,7

80
-

-
-

-
-

-
33

,7
80

C
A

R
E

 A
w

ar
en

es
s 

ex
pe

ns
es

-
86

,8
41

-
-

-
-

-
86

,8
41

C
A

R
E

 M
en

to
rin

g 
ex

pe
ns

es
-

-
-

29
,4

50
-

-
-

29
,4

50
M

FR
S

 c
ou

rs
es

-
-

-
-

-
-

15
3,

00
0

15
3,

00
0

A
t e

nd
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
33

,7
80

86
,8

41
-

29
,4

50
-

-
15

3,
00

0
30

3,
07

1

A
pp

ro
va

l f
or

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t a

ss
is

ta
nc

e 
fo

r 
C

ap
ac

ity
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

w
as

 o
bt

ai
ne

d 
on

 1
2 

A
pr

il 
20

12
 to

 c
ar

ry
 o

ut
 th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

pr
og

ra
m

m
es

.

15
. D

E
FE

R
R

E
D

 IN
C

O
M

E
 –

 G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

 G
R

A
N

T
S

 (c
on

tin
ue

d
)



Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2013

Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     71

17. INCOME FROM AND (EXPENSES FOR) EVENTS AND CONFERENCES

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Income  15,429,432  11,547,636 
Direct expenses (8,173,180) (6,804,416)

   7,256,252    4,743,220

16. MEMBERSHIP INCOME

2013 2012
 RM  RM 

Members’ annual subscription fees 7,563,550    7,339,000 
Members’ admission fees       804,600       979,500 
Practising certificate fees       685,250       661,500 

   9,053,400    8,980,000 

15. DEFERRED INCOME – GOVERNMENT GRANTS (continued)

(e) SMIDEC Training Grant
 The Institute was offered training grant from SMECorp Malaysia (“SMIDEC”) for mandatory and skill program. Course fees for 

qualified participants will be subsidised.

30.6.2013 30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

Grant received
At beginning of financial year    1,857,314    1,311,564 347,084
Grant received during the financial year      703,240       545,750 964,480
At end of financial year    2,560,554    1,857,314 1,311,564
Grant utilised (2,222,004) (1,488,888) (1,085,638)

      338,550       368,426 225,926
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19. EMPLOYEES’ BENEFITS

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Salaries, overtime and bonus       9,386,384    8,508,705 
Contributions to EPF     1,414,553    1,369,435 
Other staff benefits        377,719       322,352 
Social security contribution          77,515         68,432 
Staff training        343,616       214,313 
Staff welfare        226,769       136,263 

11,826,556 10,619,500

20. SURPLUS BEFORE TAX

2013  2012 
Note  RM  RM 

Surplus before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Education expenses 330,845 299,187
Depreciation 3 512,025 414,756
Amortisation of intangible assets 4 44,977 58,090
Auditor's remuneration - statutory audits 14,516 14,174
Allowance of impairment of receivables 7 5,725 20,460
Reversal of impairment of receivables 7 (6,500) (18,770)
Subscriptions in arrears and receivables written off 111,320 145,300
Property, plant and equipment written off 55,946 104,801
Assets expensed off 3,167 2,134
Slow moving and obsolete inventories written off 3,159 24,774
Office rental 532,954 423,650

18. OTHER INCOME

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Education income 932,335 711,580
AT and other web advertisements 250,256 272,780
Practice review billings 239,361 199,512
Income from joint activities with other professional bodies 101,728 74,233
Amortisation of deferred income-Government grant  Note 15 (c) 66,667 38,889
Dividend from Institutional Trust Accounts 186,400 276,778
Interest on fixed deposits and current accounts 512,022 382,329
Insurance claim - 85,158
Rental income 33,600 31,200
Regional office activities 33,050 170,400
Enforcement penalty - reimbursement 13,750 40,595
Miscellaneous income 26,475 31,989

   2,395,644   2,315,443 
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21. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Income tax
 - current year 60,000                                   -   

       60,000                   -   
Deferred tax (Note 12)
- Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (878) 52,510
- Under provision of deferred tax liability in prior year 28,107

(878) 80,617
        59,122           80,617 

For tax purposes, the Institute is treated as a “Trade Association” under section 53(3) of the Income Tax Act 1967 under which its 
income is taxed at scale rates. 

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to surplus before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense at 
the effective income tax rate of the Institute is as follows:

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Surplus before tax    1,307,285       465,963 

Taxation at applicable statutory tax rate of 24% (2012: 24%)       313,748       111,831 
Tax effects of:
- expenses not deductible for tax purposes        72,751         79,182 
- unabsorbed capital allowances for the current year disregarded under  
  Addendum to Public Ruling No. 6/2005 

       28,483         60,861

- under provision of deferred tax liability in prior year                -         28,107 
- deferred tax assets not recognised        43,528       487,617 
- income not subject to tax (399,388)    (686,981)

      59,122           80,617 

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The transactions carried out with related parties during the financial year were as follows:

(a) Fees paid by Council members

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Members' annual subscription fees 7,200           7,550 
Practising certificate fees 3,500           3,500 

10,700         11,050 

(b) Key management personnel compensation
 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 

activities of the Institute either directly or indirectly.

 The key management personnel of the Institute are the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Director of 
Professional Standards and Practices and their remunerations for the financial years are as follows:

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

Salaries and bonus 681,065      507,713 
Contribution to EPF 95,928        99,208 
Social security contribution           1,033               620 

778,026       607,541 

 The year-end outstanding balance of RM14,371 (30.6.2012: RM74,596; 1.7.2011: RM135,211) in relation to compensation 
payable to key management personnel is included in payables and accruals.
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another enterprise.

(a) Categories of Financial Instruments

Available-for-
sale financial 

assets

Loans and  
receivables

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
As at 30 June 2013
Financial Assets
- Investment      7,458 -    -   7,458
- Receivables and deposits -      938,850                  -   938,850
- Fixed deposit with licensed financial institutions - 14,223,923                      -   14,223,923
- Institutional Trust Account -   3,396,342                     -   3,396,342
- Cash and bank balances - 3,622,703 - 3,622,703
Total financial assets        7,458 22,181,818 - 22,189,276

Financial Liabilities
- Islamic financing - - 5,561,200  5,561,200                     
- Payables - - 533,724 533,724
- Accruals - -      3,807,835 3,807,835
Total financial liabilities - - 9,902,759 9,902,759

As at 30 June 2012
Financial Assets
- Investment      7,458 -                      - 7,458
- Receivables and deposits - 1,229,136                      - 1,229,136
- Fixed deposit with licensed financial institutions - 14,170,753 - 14,170,753
- Institutional Trust Account -   6,243,792                      - 6,243,792
- Cash and bank balances - 4,216,230                      - 4,216,230
Total financial assets      7,458 25,859,911                      - 25,867,369

Financial Liabilities
- Payables - -         665,985      665,985 
- Accruals - -      3,380,685 3,380,685   
Total financial liabilities - -      4,046,670 4,046,670

As at 1 July 2011
Financial Assets
- Investment      7,458 -                      - 7,458
- Receivables and deposits - 1,377,066                       - 1,377,066
- Fixed deposit with licensed financial institutions - 12,548,123 - 12,548,123
- Institutional Trust Account -   6,022,671                      - 6,022,671
- Cash and bank balances - 6,675,411                      - 6,675,411
Total financial assets 7,458 26,623,271                      - 26,630,729

Financial Liabilities
- Payables - -         514,380 514,380
- Accruals - -      5,586,587 5,586,587
Total financial liabilities - -     6,100,967    6,100,967

(b) Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments

2013  2012 
 RM  RM 

 Net gain/(losses) on:
 Loans and receivables 587,877         512,117



Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2013

Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     75

(c) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
 The Institute’s financial risk management objectives are to ensure that the Institute creates value and maximises returns to the 

Institute and its members at large. The Institute’s financial risk management policies seek to ensure that adequate financial and 
non-financial resources are available for the smooth implementation of its operations. The Institute has exposure on liquidity risk 
and profit rate risk arising from Islamic financing. The Institute does not invest in quoted shares and is, therefore, not exposed to 
market risk arising from the risk of the financial instruments fluctuating due to changes in market prices.

i) Credit Risk
 Receivables and transactions with banking institutions may give rise to credit risk which requires the loss to be recognised if 

a counter party fails to perform as contracted. The counter parties are licensed financial institutions and organizations. It is 
the policy of the Institute  to monitor the financial standing  of  these counter  parties  on  an  on-going basis to ensure that 
the Institute is exposed to minimal credit risk. The Institute has also exercised strict control in removing members in arrears 
of more than 6 months as provided under the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (Membership and Council) Rules 2001.

ii) Liquidity Risk
 Liquidity or funding risk is the risk of the inability to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. The Institute 

practices prudent liquidity risk management to minimise the mismatch of financial assets and liabilities and to maintain 
sufficient levels of cash or cash equivalents to meets its requirements of working capital.    

 Maturity Analysis
 The maturity profiles of the Institute’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on undiscounted 

contractual payments are as follows:

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
profit rate

Gross 
contractual 

cash flow

 < than  
a year   

2 - 5 years 
> 5

years 

 RM   RM  RM RM  RM 
30 June 2013
Islamic financing 5,561,200 4.20% 7,646,784 - 4,874,868 2,771,916
Sundry payables and accruals 4,341,559 4,341,559 4,341,559 - -

9,902,759 11,988,343 4,341,559 4,874,868 2,771,916

30 June 2012  
Sundry payables and accruals    4,046,670 4,046,670 4,046,670    - -

4,046,670 4,046,670 4,046,670 - -

1 July 2011
Sundry payables and accruals     6,100,967        6,100,967        6,100,967    - -

6,100,967     6,100,967        6,100,967    - -

iii) Interest Rate Risk
 The  Institute  is  also  exposed  to  interest  rate  in  respect  of  its  fixed  deposits and profit rate risk in respect of Islamic 

financing  with  licensed  financial institutions and banks.

 The Institute ensures that it places fixed deposits at competitive rates under the most favourable terms and conditions.

 The Institute is exposed to interest rate risk in respect of its fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions and banks. As 
this fixed deposit is subject to fixed rate and  not  accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, a change in the market 
interest rates would not affect the financial result for the year and the fund of the Institute.

 The Institute is also exposed to profit rate risk for its Islamic financing with a licensed bank to a maximum ceiling rate of 
10.75%. The Bank will grant “Ibra” (Rebate) to the Institute where EPR is less than CPR: under early settlement of the facility 
and /or upon receipt by the licensed bank of the settlement amount pursuant to occurrence any of the Events of Default as 
set out in the facility agreement.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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(d) Fair Value
 The carrying amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities  of the Institute at  the end of the financial year approximated 

their fair values, on the following basis: -

 Short-term financial assets and financial liabilities 
 Carrying amounts approximated fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

 Long-term financial liability (Islamic financing)
 The fair value of the Islamic financing is determined by discounting the relevant cash flows using current profit rates for similar 

instruments at the end of the reporting period.

24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Institute in managing capital are:
- to safeguard the Institute’s function, which is to regulate and develop the accountancy   profession in Malaysia in line with its 

statutory obligations under  the  Accountants Act, 1967;
- to develop and enhance competency through continuous education and training to meet the challenges of the global economy; and
- to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Institute’s operational efficiency.

The Institute regularly reviews and manages its capital to ensure adequacy for both operational and capital needs. All surpluses 
are transferred to the accumulated fund for future operational needs. For the purpose of capital disclosure, the Council regards the 
accumulated fund as capital of the Institute.

26. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO MFRSs

As stated in Note 2.1, this is the first financial statements of the Institute prepared in accordance with MFRSs.

The accounting policies set out in Note 2.3 have been applied in preparing the financial statements of the Institute for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2013, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 
and in the preparation of the opening MFRS statement of financial position at 1 July 2011 (the Institute’s date of transition to MFRSs).

The transition to MFRSs does not have financial impact to the financial statements of the Institute.

25. COMMITMENTS

 30.6.2013 30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM 

(a) Capital commitments
 Property, Plant and Equipment
 Approved but not contracted for -    22,244,800     -
 Approved and contracted for 16,683,480 - -

 This relates to the acquisition of new office suite at Bangsar South.

(b) Lease of office premises 
 Leases as lessee
 Non-cancellable lease of office premises are payable as follows:

 30.6.2013 30.6.2012  1.7.2011 
 RM  RM  RM

 
 Less than one year 467,850 352,950 179,750
 Between one and five years 243,200 252,250   143,000

711,050 605,200 322,750
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Stakeholder Linkages

MIA continually engages with its stakeholders - including government, regulators, industry, academia 
and its members, among others - to promote the positive growth and development of the accountancy 
profession locally, regionally and globally. During the year under review, MIA organised a series of 
signature events to strengthen its relationships and enhance public awareness of the issues surrounding 
the accountancy profession, in order to build the Malaysian accountancy brand and promote the 
profession’s reputation for quality and excellence.

Courtesy visit by ACCA Global President to MIA 
6 July 2012 

Strategic engagement session  
with accounting students from PENERAJU 
16 October 2012

Engagement session by MIA President  
with Sarawak Region members  
4 September 2012

Study visit by delegates from Association of Accountants 
for Industry and Trade, Vietnam to MIA  
3 August 2012
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MIA Sabah Region pays courtesy call to  
Sabah Director Accountant General (AG) Office,  
Kota Kinabalu  
23 October 2012 

MIA Sabah Region pay courtesy call to  
Inland Revenue Board (IRB), Sabah

30 January 2013 

MIA Sabah Region Inter Professional Bodies Games 2012 
Closing Ceremony Networking  
7 December 2012

Strategic engagement session with professional 
accountancy bodies

4 February 2013 

Strategic engagement with recognised universities 
under Part 1 of the First Schedule of the Accountants 
Act, 1967  

5 March 2013 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nepal (ICAN) 
visits MIA  

21 January 2013 
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Courtesy call to the Treasury Secretary General  
of Malaysia

20 May 2013 

Signing of Memorandum of Understanding between 
MIA and the Institute of Chartered Accountants  
of Nepal (ICAN)

10 May 2013 

Courtesy call on IRB Sarawak State Director,  
jointly with CTIM Sarawak Branch  

15 March 2013 

Chartered Secretaries Malaysia (MAICSA)  
pay courtesy visit to MIA  

19 April 2013 

MIA Northern Region pays courtesy visit to  
IRB, Penang  

20 March 2013 

Courtesy visit from the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia (ICAA) and the  
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(NZICA)

20 March 2013 



Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     81

For the year under review, MIA organised the following events and programmes to enhance the 
competencies of professional accountants with a view to strengthening the profession’s quality and 
reputation. Importantly, these events are a platform to deliver the latest knowledge to members,  
enabling them to function effectively as essential business partners in the economic eco-system.

National Accounting Educators Symposium 2012 

Date : 16-17 July 2012 
Pax : 99 participants 
Partner : CPA Australia, ACCA, CIMA, ICAEW, IRIS,  
  UNIRAZAK and KPT

Public Practice Programme 

Date : 13-14 August 2012, 5-6 November 2012,  
  10-11 December 2012, 13-14 March 2013,  
  20-21 March 2013 and 8-9 May 2013 
Pax : 238 participants (in total)

Implementing Audit Quality Control 
Date : 5-6 September 2012, 12-13 September 2012,  
  24-25 September 2012, 8-9 November 2012  
  and 5-6 December 2012 
Pax : 102 participants (in total)

Goods and Services Tax (GST) - A Comprehensive 
Course for GST Consultants
Date : 29-30 August 2012, 7-8 September 2012,  
  14-15 September 2012, 21-22 September 2012,  
  26-27 September 2012, 18-20 October 2012  
  and 23 October 2012 (examination) 
Pax : 80 participants 
Partner : Royal Malaysian Customs Department

Enhancing Competency and Maintaining Integrity
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2013 Budget Seminar - Highlights on Tax Changes 
and its Implications on Business 

Date : October & November 2012 (18 locations) 
Pax : 2,328 participants (in total)
Partner : Malaysian Tax Association (MATA)

Event 13: Receivership - Practice, Case Law and 
Case study 

Date : 22 November 2012 
Pax : 61 participants
Partner : Insolvency Practitioners  
  Association of Malaysia (iPAM)
Support Body : Institute of Bankers Malaysia  
  (IBBM) 

Interview for Approved Company Auditor and Liquidator 

Date : 6 March 2013 
Pax : 63 participants 

MIA International Accountants Conference 2012 

Date : 27-28 November 2012 
Pax : 2,330 participants
Partner : CPA Australia, ACCA, ICAEW, CIMA,  
  ANM, Bursa Malaysia, SSM,  
  UniversitiTun Abdul Razak,  
  Malaysia Convention & Exhibition  
  Bureau, Institut Penyelidikan  
  Perhutanan Malaysia, Biztrak
Sponsors : Ambank Group, Bank Islam, Salihin,  
  CustomCodes, IRIS, ABX,  
  SAGE Official Publication:  
  The Accountant Asia,  
  The Malaysian Reserve,  
  The Malaysia SME Paper
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Limited Liabilities Partnership Act 2012 - Latest Update 
on Salient Features, Agreement and Tax Implications 
Date : 20 March 2013 
Pax : 47 participants 
Partner : Shearn Delamore & Co

Malaysian Tax Conference 2013 - Transformation  
and Tax Reform 
Date : 11-12 June 2013 
Pax : 96 participants 
Partner : Malaysian Tax Association (MATA)

National Accounting Educators Symposium (NAES) 2013 
Date : 13-14 May 2013 
Pax : 72 participants 
Partner : Kementerian Pengajian Tinggi (KPT),  
  ACCA, CIMA, CPA Australia, ICAEW, WILEY  
  and The Malaysian Reserve

CFOs and Finance Leaders Conference 2013 
Date : 17-18 May 2013 
Pax : 37 participants
Partner : IBM, The Malaysian Reserve,  
  The Malaysia SME Paper,  
  MSME News Network

Islamic Finance Conference 2013 
Date : 18 June 2013 
Pax : 72 participants  
Partner : IBFIM, WILEY, Finance Accreditation  
  Agency (FAA) and The Malaysian Reserve

National Public Sector Accountants Conference 
(NAPSAC) 2013  
Date : 13-14 June 2013 
Pax : 415 participants  
Partner : Jabatan Akauntan Negara Malaysia (JANM),  
  PERASAMA, PWC and Ernst & Young
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Corporate Social Responsibility

MIA places a priority on integrating its corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives with its strategic 
imperatives of building capacity and competency, ensuring sustainability, and creating an optimum 
environment at the workplace. Throughout the year under review, MIA focused on student outreach 
programmes to expose Generation Y students to accountancy careers, tree-planting initiatives to help 
green the environment and promote the planet’s sustainability, and enforce a healthy and safe culture 
at the workplace.

CSR IN BUSINESS

1. The National Annual Corporate Report Award 
(NACRA) 2012 Awards Ceremony  

1 November 2012
Venue : Sime Darby Convention Centre, Kuala Lumpur
Partner : Bursa Malaysia Berhad and The Malaysian  
  Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA)

2. Launch of the NACRA 2013  

16 May 2013
Venue : Bursa Malaysia Berhad 
Partner : Bursa Malaysia Berhad and The Malaysian  
  Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA)

CSR TO THE COMMUNITY 

1. Accounting Students Conference (ASC)
MIA successfully organised the fifth ASC from  
10 to 11 November 2012 at Bukit Keluang Beach Resort, 
Besut, Terengganu. ASC 2012 was jointly hosted by 
Universiti Malaysia Terengganu (UMT) and Universiti Sultan 
Zainal Abidin (UniSZA). The ASC aimed to expose students 
to the accountancy profession and educate them on the 
criteria for excelling in a professional accountancy career.  
The ASC also sought to inculcate a lifelong learning culture and 
heighten their self-confidence through participation in a major 
professional conference prior to embarking on their careers.  
In conjunction with ASC 2012, MIA honoured 13 accounting 
students from universities under Part I of the First Schedule 
of the Accountants Act 1967 for outstanding achievements in 
accounting studies.  The awards were presented by MIA Vice 
President Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid, who also officiated at 
ASC 2012.
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2. MIA  Qualifying Examination 2012  
The Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) honoured 36 
candidates on 20 December 2012 who have completed the 
2012 March and September sitting of the MIA Qualifying 
Examination (QE). 14 candidates were awarded Certificates 
of Achievement for receiving distinction in various papers. 
To-date the MIA QE has produced 207 graduates since its 
introduction in 2003.

3. MIA – Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2013   
The inaugural MIA – Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2013 
(AQ2013) was jointly organised with Sunway TES, a leading 
provider of professional accounting and financial programmes. 
The Quiz was held from 22 June 2013 until the Grand Final 
which ended on 7 September 2013 at Sunway College, 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor. This competition is open to all Form 
4 and Form 5 students in Selangor, Federal Territory of Kuala 
Lumpur and Putrajaya and involves national secondary schools 
(regular), secondary schools (fully residential), technical 
secondary schools, national religious secondary schools, 
national religious assisted secondary schools, private schools, 
Chinese independent high schools and MARA Junior Science 
Colleges. This competition is supported by the Ministry of 
Education (MOE), professional accountancy bodies and 
accountancy firms.  

4. Career and Awareness Talks   
To develop young talent and promote the profession to all 
levels, MIA conducted career and awareness talks at the 
Institutions of Higher Learning (IHLs) and schools, highlighting 
the potential of the profession and encouraging students to 
consider accountancy as a future career option. Sessions 
also focused on the route to becoming qualified accountants 
and the importance of registering as a member of MIA.  
To maximise the impact of these sessions, MIA members 
were invited to deliver talks to students in order to provide 
inspirational role models and to share their knowledge and 
experience in the accountancy profession.

5. MIA Bowling Tournament   
MIA has successfully held its 1st Bowling Tournament  
on March 9, 2013. The tournament was held at the  
Cosmic Bowl, Mid Valley Megamall, KL. Overall, 38 teams 
consisting of 3 team members competed in the tournament, 
bringing the total number of participant to 114. The friendly 
bowling competition was open to MIA members, member 
firms, their colleagues, friends and family members. The 
objective of the event was to create networking opportunity 
amongst key stakeholders and non-members.

CAREER AND AWARENESS TALKS
(JULY 2011 – JUNE 2012)

CATEGORY SESSION

Secondary schools 1

Institutions of Higher Learning (Public) 18

Institutions of Higher Learning (Private) 15

TOTAL 34
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY TO 
THE ENVIRONMENT AND OCCUPATIONAL 
SAFETY AND HEALTH (OSH) 

1. Supporting FRIM’S Green Cause
As part of its commitment towards long-term sustainability 
practices that benefit the environment, MIA continued to 
contribute additional funds in support of the Forest Research 
Institute of Malaysia (FRIM) during the year under review.  
The funds were raised through a green initiative programme 
implemented at the MIA International Accountants Conference 
2012, held from 27 to 28 November 2012. Conventional 
mementos for speakers were substituted with more meaningful 
gifts in the form of plants which were subsequently planted 
and managed by FRIM at its campus.

2. Tree Planting on the International Day of Forests
MIA participated in FRIM’s tree planting activities in 
celebration of the International Day of Forests at the Kepong 
Botanical Gardens on 23 March 2013. FRIM allocated five 
hundred trees belonging to heavy hardwood species for this 
event, which was themed “Forest for Community Livelihood.” 
Twelve (12) volunteers from MIA also participated in this event 
which aimed to raise public awareness on the importance of 
forests to mankind, flora and fauna; and to promote green 
environment eco-tourism in FRIM, which was declared as 
a National Heritage Site in 2012.  The volunteers planted 12 
cengal trees at Field 54 of Bukit Hari.

3. Promoting Occupational Safety and Health (OSH)
MIA is committed to inculcating a culture of occupational 
safety and health at the workplace through its OSH Committee 
which was formed on 1 June 2006 in accordance with the 
OSH Act, 1994 (Act 514). During the financial year under 
review, the Committee organised a briefing on fire prevention 
and a practical training session on the use of fire extinguishers. 
It also conducted an OSH Audit, revised the Good Working 
Practices, First Aid and Emergency Response Plan Handbook, 
and compiled the Safety and Health Environment Manual.



Significant Event Highlights

Malaysian Institute of Accountants     I     Annual Report 2013     I     87

REGIONAL CSR ACTIVITIES 

1. 9 September 2012 – MIA Sabah Regional Committee, 
Management staff and MIA Members participated in 
the World Suicide Prevention day, which was officiated 
by Minister of Health YB Datuk Seri Liow Tiong Lai in  
Sabah Likas Jogging Track, KK.

2. 19 Oct 2012 – MIA Johor Region held its annual event 
with MIA members and key stakeholders. The event 
was attended by over 330 participants. MIA President  
Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad was the guest of honour.

3. 12 January 2013 – Sarawak Regional Office organise the  
45th Anniversary Members’ Annual Gathering Dinner Party 
2012/2013.

4. 25 March 2013 – Northern Region hosted an educational 
visit from Politeknik Seberang Perai. The 22 diploma 
students and 3 lecturers were briefed on MIA and the 
accountancy profession. The said polytechnic expressed 
interest in appointing a member of MIA as a panel advisor 
who would give industry input on its curriculum.
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Media & Communications

MIA actively engages with the media to communicate the issues affecting the accountancy profession 
and to articulate MIA’s brand and strategic objectives of building competency, quality and reputation. 
Throughout the year under review, MIA received valuable coverage in leading broadcast and print 
media such as TheStar, Malaysian Reserve, and the News Straits Times. Outgoing MIA President 
Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad was highly sought after for business interviews in which he elaborated on 
MIA’s stance on key issues and its vision for a sustainable, mature and relevant profession.

17 August 12 
The Evolving Role of an Accountant
Source: The Malaysian Reserve

09 October 12
Independent Review on the Cards for MIA,  
says President
Source: The Malaysian Reserve

15 September 12
Accountants Challenge the Status Quo
Source: The Star - StarBiz
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10 December 12
Bridging Programme Aims to Attract Talent
Source: The Star

01 December 12
Eyes on Innovation
Source: The Star - Metrobiz

28 November 12
Debt to GDP Seen at 53%
Source: The Star – StarBiz

03 November 12
Being Open with Opinions
Source: The Star – StarBiz

13 October 12
Private Firms, GLC Leaders Told to increase Integrity Level
Source: Bernama Online

20 December 12
MIA Honours 36 QE Candidates
Source: The Malaysian Reserve
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17 May 13
Firms, Organisations Urged to Submit entries to NACRA
Source: The Star - StarBiz

27 April 13
MIA’s Response to “Who Audits the Auditors?”
Source: The Star - StarBiz

25 March 13
Versatile Profession Offers Many Opportunities
Source: The Star - Education

28 December 12
Innovative Accountants the Key to Success
Source: Malaysia SME


